






       City of 

               
 
Pol i ce  Department  phone 815 .338 .6787  

Rober t  W.  Lo wen,  Chie f o f  Po l ice  fax 815 .334 .2275  

656  Lake Avenue  po l iced ept@wood stocki l .gov  

Woodsto ck,  I l l ino is  60098  www.woodsto cki l . go v  

  

  

 

 
Woodstock is proud to have been recognized as a 2007 Distinctive Destination  

by the National Trust for Historic Preservation 

To: Mr. Roscoe C. Stelford, City Manager 

From: Robert W. Lowen, Chief of Police 

Re: Charter Presentation – Woodstock Police Explorer Post #765 

Date: July 7, 2014 

 

In 2012 the Woodstock Police Department began a Boy Scouts of America “Police Career 

Exploring Program.”  The Explorer Post was organized by Sergeant Constantino Cipolla who 

was assisted by fellow department personnel Sergeant Joshua Fourdyce, Sergeant Ray Lanz, 

Officer Jason Bernstein and Canine Officer David Dempsey.  At present twenty-four area youths 

are committed to the program which provides educational training programs for young adults on 

the purposes, mission and objectives of law enforcement.  The program provides career-

orientation experiences, leadership opportunities and community-service opportunities.  The 

primary goals of the program are to help young adults choose a career path within law 

enforcement and to challenge them to become responsible citizens in their communities. 

 

Recently, the McHenry County Community Foundation awarded the Explorer Post a grant of 

$5,000, the third such grant from the McHenry County Community Foundation, to further the 

mission of the Explorer Post.  Explorer Post members are looking forward to volunteering their 

services at a variety of Community Events including Fair Diddley; July 4
th

 Fireworks; Gavers 

Barn Dance; and a wide range of recreational events such as the Breast Cancer Run, Crop Walk 

and High School Homecoming parades. 

 

Nakisha Wilson, District Executive of the Boy Scouts of America, Blackhawk Area Council, will 

present Woodstock Police Explorer Post #765 with the Charter Certificate that officially 

recognizes this unique partnership and authorizes Woodstock Police Department to use the 

Scouting program of the Boy Scouts of America. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Robert W. Lowen 

Chief of Police 

rstelford
Approved



       City of 

               
 
Pol i ce  Department  phone 815 .338 .6787  

Rober t  W.  Lo wen,  Chie f o f  Po l ice  fax 815 .334 .2275  

656  Lake Avenue  po l iced ept@wood stocki l .gov  

Woodsto ck,  I l l ino is  60098  www.woodsto cki l . go v  

  

  

 

 
Woodstock is proud to have been recognized as a 2007 Distinctive Destination  

by the National Trust for Historic Preservation 

To: Mr. Roscoe C. Stelford, City Manager 
From: Robert W. Lowen, Chief of Police 
Date: July 7, 2014 
Re: Swearing In of Police Officer Matthew I. Prentice and Introduction of Community 

Service Officer Keith M. Lee 
 
Officer Matthew Prentice graduated from Woodstock High School in 2000 and 
immediately joined the United States Marines.  Officer Prentice was involved in the 
Global War on Terrorism and took part in Operation Iraqi Freedom.  Matthew is 
currently active as a United States Marine Reservist.  Matthew was formerly employed 
by Comcast and has college credit from the University of Pittsburgh, the University of 
Illinois and McHenry County College. Officer Prentice graduated from the Police 
Training Institute at the University of Illinois on June 26, 2014 and immediately started 
his Field Training Program. 
 
Oath of Office will be administered by Chief Robert W. Lowen and Board of Fire and 
Police Commission Chairman Ron Giordano. 
 
Community Service Officer Keith M. Lee graduated from Woodstock High School in 
2004 and joined the United States Army in 2005. Officer Lee spent 2005-2008 on active 
duty and continued until 2011 in the Army National Guard.  Officer Lee was involved in 
the Global War on Terrorism and took part in Operation Iraqi Freedom.  Keith was 
formerly employed by Blue Ribbon Millwork and has college credit from McHenry 
County College.  Officer Lee resides in Woodstock with his wife and two children. 
 
Officer Lee’s assignment will include late afternoon and evening hours with particular 
attention paid to the Woodstock Square. 
 
 
It is recommended that the City Council approve the Appointment of Police 
Officer Matthew I. Prentice and Community Service Officer Keith M. Lee. 

rstelford
Approved



MINUTES 

WOODSTOCK CITY COUNCIL 

June 17, 2014 

City Council Chambers 

 

The regular meeting of the Woodstock City Council was called to order at 7:00 PM by Mayor Brian 

Sager on Tuesday, June 17, 2014 in Council Chambers at City Hall.  He explained the consent 

calendar process and invited public participation.   

 

A roll call was taken.   

  

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Julie Dillon, Maureen Larson, Mayor Brian Sager, Mark 

Saladin, Joseph Starzynski, RB Thompson, Michael Turner 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: None 

 

STAFF PRESENT: City Manager Roscoe Stelford, City Attorney Ruth Schlossberg, Finance Director 

Paul Christensen, Director of Public Works Paul Ruscko, Dir. of Economic Development Cort Carlson, 

Grant Writer Terry Willcockson, Library Circulation Manager Pam Moorhouse, Assistant Director of 

Public Works Jeff Van Landuyt, Deputy Chief John Lieb, Recreation Director Dave Zinnen 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: City Clerk Dianne Mitchell 

 

FLOOR DISCUSSION:  

Public Comments 

No comments from the public. 

 

Council Comments 
M. Larson stated that she is recruiting for the Summer in the Park event being held July 18th -20th.  

She asked that any Council members interested in volunteering to please let her know.   

 

Mayor Sager stated that this is the initial annual celebration for the City of Woodstock who has been 

without a unique community event because we continue to be host to so many events in the County.  

He noted that we will continue to encourage organizations and events to take place on the Square and 

Emricson Park but we also wanted an identifiable event for the City of Woodstock to celebrate our 

community.  He reported that they have established the Summer in the Park celebration in concert 

with Gavers Barn Dance.  He stated that it is July 18th-20th and noted that they look forward to seeing 

a great turnout from the community. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

Motion by J. Dillon, second by M. Turner to concur with Consent Agenda Items A – D2, D4-D7. 

 

 J. Starzynski removed Item D3 

 M. Turner removed Item D8 

 M. Saladin removed Item D9 

 

A. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS:  

  June 3, 2014 Regular Meeting  

 

B. WARRANTS:  3619 3620 

 

C. MINUTES AND REPORTS  



Woodstock City Council 

6/17/14 

Page 2 of 9 

 

 Community and Economic Development Report – April 2014  

  Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes – February 10, 2014  

 Library Board Minutes – May 1, 2014 

 

D. MANAGER'S REPORT NO. 26  

 

1. Liquor Code Amendment – Approval of Ordinance 14-O-39 amending Title 3, Chapter 3, 

 Liquor Control of the Woodstock City Code, creating and authorizing issuance of a Class E-1 

 liquor license to Lone Star Enterprises LLC d/b/a Munch! 

 

2. Police Vehicle Purchase – Approval of the purchase of one Ford Utility Interceptor Police 

 SUV through the Northwest Municipal Conference Suburban Purchasing Cooperative plus 

 the purchase and installation of any necessary equipment for a total price not to exceed 

 $30,000.  

 

4. Leaf Machine Purchase – Approval of waiver of the requirement for competitive bidding 

 and the purchase of one Spartan Leaf Pro Plus from Bonnell Industries, Inc. in the amount of 

 $64,704. 

 

5. Autumn Ridge Storm Sewer Design – Approval of a professional engineering services 

 proposal from Hampton, Lenzini and Renwick, Inc. to provide preliminary and design 

 engineering services for the Autumn Ridge Overflow Improvements project for a not-to-

 exceed fee of $14,867.  

 

6. Complete Streets Policy– Approval of Ordinance 14-O-40 adopting the City of Woodstock 

 Complete Streets Policy.  

  

7. Peace Park/Labyrinth Agreement - Adoption of Resolution 14-R-14 approving an 

 agreement between the City of Woodstock, the Bull Valley Garden Club, and School District 

 200’s Challenge Corps Program for the construction, maintenance and operation of a 

 Children’s Peace Park and Labyrinth to be constructed at Dick Tracy Way Park.  

  

A roll call vote was taken. Ayes: J. Dillon, M. Larson, Mayor Sager M. Saladin, J. Starzynski, RB 

Thompson, M. Turner. Nays: None. Absentees: None. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 

Item D3 Garbage Contract Extension – Adoption of an Ordinance approving an extension of the 

City’s garbage contract with MDC Environmental. 

 

J. Starzynski stated that the seven year plan seems to him like a very significant benefit and savings 

to the residents of Woodstock.  He reported that he was a Defenders board meeting last night where 

he found out that Marengo Disposal has begun collecting polystyrene foam. He advised that throwing 

it into the landfill is to him a really bad practice.  He stated that he would like if something can be 

done to convince Marengo Disposal in this contract not to accept polystyrene foam and allow us 

someone to recycle it.  He stated that he does not want to postpone it but he wants somebody to say 

something to them about not collecting polystyrene and throwing it into a landfill. R. Stelford 

advised that Staff will work with the contractor to see what can be done. 

 

M. Larson stated that the City encourages people to pay water bills online so it seems silly to change 

the billing so that the City is sending out envelopes as part of the garbage contract.  R. Stelford stated 

that it is part of the contract but noted that it is a benefit the City can potentially give to the residents 



Woodstock City Council 

6/17/14 

Page 3 of 9 

 

because they can still pay the garbage and water bill online through the City.  He advised that the 

City can send the bill via email versus sending a paper bill.  He reported that they are still sending out 

quite a few postcards because residents have to sign up for the e-bill; noting that they have to give the 

City not only their email address but they have to approve that it is the way they want to accept it. He 

reported that MDC is just going to provide the price break if the City takes on the billing.  M. Larson 

stated that she wasn’t talking about sending the bill but sending the envelope seems silly.   

 

P. Christensen stated that as part of the agreement it is actually a separate deal and his plan is to bring 

that to Council next month.  He advised that if Council doesn’t want to go that route it doesn’t affect 

this contract.  He advised that what he was proposing in this was to move away from the postcards as 

there are a number of problems with the postcards.  He stated that he secured a proposal from a 

company that would outsource the billing for the City and basically provide a return envelope for the 

convenience of the resident for the same price what the City is paying to produce the postcards.  He 

noted that by the City taking on the garbage, he is able to secure enough funds to pay for it. He stated 

that he will go back to the vendor to see if there is a price reduction if we didn’t include an envelope. 

 

M. Saladin questioned if there has been any public input relative to Marengo Disposal Services.  R. 

Stelford advised that P. Christensen serves as the liaison now and noted that in his past experience 

with it they we received minimal complaints about MDC Services.  He stated that they do get some 

complaints but in every case MDC has always bit the bullet and sided with the resident and backed 

the City by providing good customer service which is the reason why the City doesn’t get a lot of 

complaints.  P. Christensen agreed.   

 

M. Saladin questioned if there was an analysis of other providers.  R. Stelford advised that the City 

did an RFP 4-5 years ago and noted that when MDC approached them they were able to provide a 

specific price in order to secure the extension. He advised that when Staff went out to the 

marketplace they ended up with higher costs from all the providers.  He stated that the City went 

from the bag program to the sticker program which he thinks isn’t a negative for the community.  He 

advised that they feel they have a very competitive price now in comparison to other communities.   

 

R. Stelford reported that Woodstock isn’t a perfect comparison to a lot of other communities who 

have gone to toter only.  He advised that Woodstock is committed to the sticker and toter program 

where you basically pay for the amount of garbage you produce and it would definitely have an 

impact on the senior population and those that heavily recycle if we decided to go to a toter only type 

of program.  He noted that there aren’t a lot of communities out there using our system. 

 

Mayor Sager stated that there has been a lot of discussion over the years about whether or not the 

municipality wanted to go to a toter only program but it has always come back to the idea that we 

have a number of senior citizens who do not generate enough garbage to warrant forcing them to go 

to a toter.  He stated that they tried to create a convenience relative to moving away from the printed 

identifiable bags to the use of the common sticker which seems to have been received well.   

 

Mayor Sager stated that over the course of the contract with MDC they have done a remarkable job 

in terms of their upfront service and their responsiveness to additional concerns.  He is very 

supportive of a long term contract and is incredibly pleased with the fact that the municipality is able 

to continue the toter option program.  He believes it is most appropriate, since the City bills for water 

and sewer, to add garbage on which has created a greater efficiency opportunity for the City with the 

contract.  He is pleased with the bulk item service the municipality is receiving under this program.  

He feels very positive about the program and he thinks it stacks up well with other communities in 

terms of the comparisons knowing that we want to maintain the bag option. 



Woodstock City Council 

6/17/14 

Page 4 of 9 

 

 

M. Saladin agreed and stated that it is important to let everyone know about the bulk item that will be 

provided as part of the contract.  He stated that the one thing he has a problem with is the option for 

the additional cost in exchange for the $15,000 for the toilet rentals and noted that when he is taking 

his garbage out he isn’t thinking of paying for a different type of a service.  R. Stelford advised that 

they view it as an offset in a way because Staff intends on coming to Council with the billing and 

modifying the billing.  He stated that they knew there was $0.50 there if the City were to take on 

billing so that negates the $0.10 for potential increase.   

 

P. Christensen advised that if the Council chooses not to go with an outsourcing of the billing 

process, the City can still do garbage billing in-house on postcards; they’re not contingent upon each 

other.  He stated that they are moving over the porta-potty service to the garbage bill but because the 

City is taking the billing inside.  R. Stelford stated that MDC has more economies of scale than the 

City to get much lower prices on those types of services and by pushing it to them they came in with 

a better price so ultimately the residents save in a variety of different ways.   

 

Mayor Sager stated that it is hard to communicate but noted that the savings is real and we do need to 

communicate it to the residents maybe using the City Scene or in a mailing.  M. Larson suggested 

putting it on the web site.  MDC representatives advised that they can put it on their web site as well. 

 

Motion by J. Starzynski, second by M. Turner to adopt Ordinance 14-O-41 approving an extension of 

the City’s garbage contract with MDC Environmental.  A roll call vote was taken. Ayes: J. Dillon, 

M. Larson, Mayor Sager M. Saladin, J. Starzynski, RB Thompson, M. Turner. Nays: None. 

Absentees: None. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 

Item D8 Prevailing Wage Ordinance – Approval of an Ordinance establishing prevailing wage 

requirements for the City of Woodstock. 

 

M. Turner stated that if those of Council that voted against the ordinance last time vote for it this 

time it is because they are being coerced into doing so.  He stated that it is a garbage law, it is 

inappropriate in its execution by the State, but failing to vote for it puts the City of Woodstock at 

financial and functional risk so his interest is protecting the City of Woodstock.  He believes it is the 

worst vote that he takes from a conscience perspective every single year and noted that he 

vehemently disagrees with it but he will be voting yes for it. 

 

Mayor Sager acknowledged the degree of difficulty in passing this ordinance on an annual basis 

because he thinks many of us are very concerned with the prevailing wage laws within the State of IL 

and what that forces in terms of costs upon the municipality and therefore the residents and therefore 

the increase in taxes. He expressed gratefulness for the fact that Council members were willing to 

voice their concerns.  He stated that this is beyond the scope of Council’s capacity; this is not the 

venue and noted that the venue is the State Legislature. 

 

Mayor Sager stated that the Council of Governments in McHenry County is working as a legislative 

unit to try to change the Prevailing Wage laws and invited Council members and the public to work 

with them in those strong lobbying efforts.  He stated that this is the venue for us to provide our 

distaste for the law, but Council is required by law and the oath to uphold the laws of the State of IL. 

 

M. Larson stated that this law is costing taxpayers a whole lot more.  She believes all the Council 

members would like to lower taxes if they could and this is one of the things that makes it difficult. 

She advised that the law lists wages that City has to pay for public improvement projects for different 



Woodstock City Council 

6/17/14 

Page 5 of 9 

 

professions.  She referenced the machinist example that she reviewed at the prior Council meeting.  

M. Turner stated that it is costing the City of Woodstock $400,000-$600,000 extra a year.  M. Larson 

stated that if Council doesn’t pass this law the City takes too big of a hit, but she thinks we need to 

beat the drum and spread the word because pressure has to be put on Springfield. 

 

Motion by Mayor Sager, second by J. Dillon to approve Ordinance 14-O-42 establishing prevailing 

wage requirements for the City of Woodstock. 

 

M. Saladin stated that he voted yes at the last meeting based on the reasons outlined by the Mayor, 

but noted that he understands where M. Turner and M. Larson are coming from and he 

wholeheartedly agrees that lobbying efforts has to go forward noting that if 80-90% of the 

municipalities in the State vote no maybe there would be some attention. He thinks it is a fruitless act 

for Council with possible repercussions and he thinks that Council’s hands are tied. 

 

M. Turner stated that Councils’ hands are tied but they took an oath to uphold the Constitution of the 

State of IL but also the Constitution of the United States and in his uninformed opinion he doesn’t 

believe this is the intention of the people who framed our constitution.  He is for a little act of 

defiance and advised that if he was at the end of the vote he would be happy to throw a “no” behind 

it because he thinks this law is this bad and we need to take a stand against it if you disagree with it.   

 

Mayor Sager stated that Council is required by law to pass an ordinance but he encouraged them to 

spend their time and effort lobbying in Springfield.  He stated that we have to take ourselves to 

Springfield and express our dismay in this and that is the invitation he extends. He believes that if 

Council did it as a united City Council and others started to do it there would be some action taken. 

 

J. Dillon questioned if it is a Sate of IL requirement and M. Turner advised that it is other states as 

well.  M. Larson stated that she can’t explain how the rates are arrived at and noted that she used 

Bureau of Labor statistics.  Mayor Sager advised thinking about the types of monies that we are 

requesting from Springfield to assist with the improvements to Rt.14 and Rt. 47 and look at the 

additional costs associated with those major projects due to this law. 

 

Andrew Celentano, 2116 Greenview Dr, Woodstock stated that he did research and advised that there 

are 22 states that don’t have a prevailing wage law.  He stated that the law has a foundation during 

the Civil War and it was amended in the early 30’s but these have changed since then.  He stated that 

going there alone will not happen for them in Springfield and noted that you we need to go down 

with a mob of mayors and/or council people.  He stated that Council are the stewards of my money 

and the State is saying toss it away.   

 

M. Larson stated that it isn’t just councils and mayors and M. Turner advised that it needs to be 

broader than that.  He stated that through our lobbying efforts we have been pushing and will 

continue to push but it will not get changed in this state until there is a majority of people that say 

this should not stand and force change.  He stated that he thinks it is broader but noted that they we 

will do their efforts.  A. Celentano stated that Council made a noise which is better than not making a 

noise and he congratulated M. Turner for doing that. 

 

Bill Batjes, 510 Leah Lane, Woodstock asked if they contacted Jack Franks or Pam Althoff.  Mayor 

Sager affirmed and stated that they concur that it is a challenge, but it is equally a strong challenge 

with State Legislature relative to other groups within the State of IL that are strongly supportive of 

the prevailing wage which is predominantly the labor units.  Mayor Sager advised that they are in 



Woodstock City Council 

6/17/14 

Page 6 of 9 

 

team conversations with our local representatives and senators to identify the fact that this is a 

challenge for local units of government and the state as a whole. 

 

B. Batjes questioned if they could talk to Pam or Jack about having a town meeting.  M. Sager 

advised that they have a legislative meeting tomorrow with the Council of Governments and he is 

confident that it will be raised again. 

 

A roll call vote was taken. Ayes: J. Dillon, Mayor Sager M. Saladin, J. Starzynski, RB Thompson, 

M. Turner. Nays: M. Larson. Absentees: None. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 

Item D9 Hotel/Motel Tax Funding – Authorization of disbursement of $46,500 in Hotel/Motel Tax 

Funds to various applicants as indicated.  

 

M. Saladin stated that Council is pleased to provide some funds to our local groups that help with 

tourism in the city.  He questioned the presentation which appears to be very much Staff-centric and 

stated that he is looking for a little more review relative to the applicants and what they do. 

 

Mayor Sager stated that the Hotel/Motel Tax in the City of Woodstock, which was an opportunity 

presented by the State, can only be imposed if the funds that are generated are going towards 

bringing more individuals into the community.  He stated that at the early stages of the program, the 

City was taking requests and trying to give out as much money as it could but it was problematic 

because there wasn’t any structure or points for consideration or evaluation. He advised that they 

went through the effort to establish a review opportunity so that the Council would be able to work 

with Staff to identify the impact of the various events that were requesting funding. He reviewed the 

two tiers and matrix involved with the process and noted that the matrix reviews whether the event 

has local, regional, state or national type of impact.   

 

Mayor Sager stated that he knows that sometimes the groups are requesting higher levels but we 

don’t  have the funding to go that way so many of these have peaked according to the top of range 

opportunity of the matrix.  He doesn’t recommend altering or revisiting the matrix until there is an 

increased track record of greater revenue from the hotel/motel tax.  He advised that there is an 

evaluation and noted that the organizations are required to provide a report. 

 

M. Larson stated that she would like to see the reports in their packets.  R. Stelford stated that they 

used to include it but it was a lot of paper so they changed it to say that it is available upon request.  

Mayor Sager suggested it could be something sent to Council in advance as an informational item. 

 

Mayor Sager thanked those in attendance and expressed gratefulness for the incredible investment 

they have made in the City of Woodstock and for the efforts that are significant in terms of 

commitment of time, finances and talents to make the wonderful events happens. He stated that the 

events and opportunities that we have for visitors to come to the City of Woodstock are important not 

only economically but represent a part of our character.  He thanked them for following the process 

and procedures as Council looks at the distribution of the tax funds. He stated that it is their sincere 

hope to be able to generate additional revenue from the tax and be able to appropriately distribute and 

provide them with increased opportunities. 

 

Keith Johnson, Woodstock Farmers Market, 1319 IL Rt. 47, Woodstock, expressed on behalf of the 

Woodstock Farmers Market their appreciation for the years of support. 

 



Woodstock City Council 

6/17/14 

Page 7 of 9 

 

Jaki Berggren, McHenry County Convention and Visitor’s Bureau now known as Visit McHenry 

County, 10813 Cape Cod Lane, Huntley, expressed their sincere thanks for the many years of support 

they have received from the City of Woodstock.   

 

Carol Obertubbesing, 421 W. Jackson, Woodstock expressed thanks on behalf of the Woodstock 

Folk Festival Board for their support.  She stated that they have made use of it by advertising around 

the area.  She reported that when she goes to national music conferences, Woodstock has really 

established a name for itself.  She advised that they have performers that keep asking to come back; 

they love being here and the love our community.  She stated that it is a joy to be a part of the 

community and thanked them for making it such a wonderful place for them and their performers. 

 

Mark Schiffer, 249 Valley Hill Rd, Bull Valley, stated that he is on the Woodstock Opera House 

Commission representing the Mozart Festival and thanked Council for their support.  He stated that 

they are in their 28th year and emphasized that their audience for the most part does not come from 

Woodstock so a few beds in the motels are utilized and many restaurants are utilized.  He stated that 

they hope they are recognized as part of what is fabulous about Woodstock. 

 

Rick Bellairs, 1403 Moraine Dr, Woodstock, stated that on behalf of the Woodstock Groundhog Day 

Committee, thank you for their support with the hotel/motel tax dollars but more importantly the 

overall support of the City throughout the weekend in the winter; the support of the Staff, the Police 

Department and the Woodstock Opera House. 

 

Kathryn Loprino, 668 W. South St., Woodstock, expressed thanks on behalf of the Chamber of 

Commerce for the hotel/motel tax dollars and support from the City. 

 

Mayor Sager stated that Woodstock has a really strong reputation for being a great community with 

so many different types of things and noted that Woodstock was recently recognized as the second 

most exciting city in the State of IL.  He assured them that they will continue to pledge their support 

not only in terms of funding but through the police, Public Works and community event 

coordination; continue to work together to make good things happen. 

 

Motion by M. Saladin, second by RB Thompson to authorize disbursement of $46,500 in 

Hotel/Motel Tax Funds to various applicants as indicated.  A roll call vote was taken. Ayes: J. Dillon, 

M. Larson, Mayor Sager M. Saladin, J. Starzynski, RB Thompson, M. Turner. Nays: None. 

Absentees: None. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 

DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

 

10. Quarterly Financial Reports – Transmittal of the following financial reports for the Quarter 

 ending April 30, 2014:  

 a) Fourth Quarter Revenues and Expenditures Report  

 b) Fourth Quarter Investment Report  

 

M. Turner stated that the performance noted in the document especially with the winter we had is 

exceptionally good from an expense management perspective and he congratulated Staff for keeping 

watch on the resources of the community.  He questioned where the $600,000 difference between 

revenue and expense goes and R. Stelford advised that it goes as a surplus in the fund balance.   

 

P. Christensen stated that right now they are including police pension into the report and noted that 

the $600,000 is really in the police pension fund.  He stated that the contribution that is paid to the 



Woodstock City Council 

6/17/14 

Page 8 of 9 

 

police pension fund for member contributions is done as a transfer not as an expense so it distorts the 

picture a little bit.  He advised that his idea in the future is to pull the police pension out of the 

performance reviews and present it separately to show it better. 

 

M. Turner agreed that it would be a great idea and stated that he would never be afraid in P. 

Christensen’s role to present this not only in the accounting manner but also in the layman’s version.  

He stated that he would like to know in general one year to the next, what covered the loss or where 

the extra went.  He stated that he has talked before about understanding and driving toward the 

bottom line for the organization and if he sees a $600,000 surplus personally he thinks people should 

be congratulated and rewarded which is a different discussion, but he knows that it isn’t what 

happened and noted that that is the layman’s he would like to see.  

 

11. Scheduling of Special Meeting to discuss concerns expressed by the downtown merchants. 

 

M. Turner stated that there were concerns raised by a few individuals that he felt warranted Council 

addressing and he believes there has been attention given to the areas and issues that they described 

by Roscoe, Police and Staff to help with it.  He suggested that the interaction they have with 

businesses either on the Square or elsewhere maybe a little less formal and more along the lines of a 

social gathering, a quasi social gathering, or something at Stage Left where Council is there as 

individuals but can interface one on one or in small groups with members of the business community 

to create a connect that is not as formal or rigid.  He suggested considering gauging the interest of 

folks on the Square and elsewhere in the City in having an informal social gathering that Council 

commits to attending not as body but as individual Council members. 

 

Mayor Sager stated that he is grateful to Cort, Roscoe and Joe, who have gone out, and the Police 

Department and Public Works who have made some significant efforts in response to expressed 

concerns.  He stated that we have to realize human nature and that we all like to have attention paid 

to us sometimes.  He believes there is a need to make an effort to go out and acknowledge and 

express appreciation for the investments people have made into our community and ask what they 

can do to continue to accommodate and facilitate their continued interest and needs.  

 

Mayor Sager stated that he wants to caution Council because one of the things that is a challenge is 

that things seem to be separated, there is the Square but the business community is made up more of 

the Square and our economic viability includes all of our businesses and many of them are Rt. 47 as 

well as our industrial business community so we don’t want to make an opportunity for one group.  

He concurred with having a softer, more inviting type of approach to dialog versus an established 

panel type of meeting; he believes it will be more effective. 

 

M. Larson agreed and stated that it is intimidating perhaps and maybe someone has a little issue that 

they don’t feel warrants an Opera House meeting.  She stated that if they can figure out a way around 

the Open Meetings Act to make it work she would support taking that approach. Mayor Sager stated 

that as long they post whatever they do then they are ok.  

 

M. Saladin agreed. J. Dillon agreed and stated that it is better to go to the businesses as opposed to 

making them come to Council.  J. Starzynski agreed and stated that he is on the Square but for some 

Council members it might be difficult to get out and see them individually. Mayor Sager encouraged 

Council members to go out as well but noted that perhaps they identify an informal reception 

opportunity and he asked Staff to give it some consideration toward the latter part of the summer. 

 



Woodstock City Council 

6/17/14 

Page 9 of 9 

 

M. Turner stated that it should be the broader community and noted that he doesn’t want to contact 

them one on one.  He stated that he is thinking, subject to the requirements of Open Meetings Act, 

for it to be softer, a little less formal, to where concerns big and small can be voiced individually 

either one on one or in small groups but at a given time and given venue that is posted. J. Dillon 

stated that it is similar to the visioning session they had a few years ago.  

 

Mayor Sager asked Staff to work on it and come back to the Council with a proposal. Council 

conceded.  M. Larson suggested the sooner the better. 

 

 FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

 In response to J. Dillon’s question regarding the wireless agreement, R. Stelford stated that Council 

authorized a contract for maintenance on the wireless system that maintains the wireless fire alarms 

and Staff is looking at potential vendors.   

 

 M. Saladin expressed appreciation for the tour of the dome and stated that it is eye-opening and when 

you are that close to that structure you realize why the City had to do what it had to do. 

 

 ADJOURNMENT: 

Motion by M. Larson, second by RB Thompson, to adjourn the regular meeting of the City Council 

the next Regular Meeting on July 16, 2014. Ayes: J. Dillon, M. Larson, Mayor Sager M. Saladin, J. 

Starzynski, RB Thompson, M. Turner. Nays: None. Absentees: None. Abstentions: None. Motion 

carried. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 8:12 PM. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

___________________________ 

Dianne Mitchell - City Clerk 



























DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:   1
TIME: 21:19:34                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96611  IXII TRAINING                  TRAINING                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              50.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           50.00

  96612  MONICA AMRAEN                  SENIOR SUPP LIES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS               25.17
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           25.17

  96613  ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICE        UNIFORM REN TAL SERVICES        POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              28.57
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           28.57

  96614  ASSOCIATED ELECTRICAL          LABOR AND M ATERIALS WELL #8    WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         357.29
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          357.29

  96615  TOBIN AXELSON                  PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        54.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           54.00

  96616  B & M LAWN CARE                MOWING SERV ICES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        155.00
                                        MOWING SERV ICES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        290.00
                                        MOWING SERV ICE                 GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        250.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          695.00

  96617  BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS           BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    -9.14
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   543.78
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   665.97
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,200.61

  96618  BARD INDUSTRIES                DOGGIE BAG REFILLS             PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                     1,089.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,089.00

  96619  BARCODESINC                    EQUIPMENT                      PUBLIC LIBRARY BUILDING FUND / LIBRARY BUILDING        540.59
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          540.59

  96620  BELVIDERE POLICE DEPARTMENT    RANGE RENTA L                   POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION             160.00
                                        RANGE RENTA L APRIL 2014        POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION             360.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          520.00

  96621  THE BLUE LINE                  ADVER POLIC E OFFICER ELEG LIST GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES               298.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          298.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:   2
TIME: 21:19:48                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96622  BOHN'S ACE HARDWARE            BLEACH                         WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT           9.16
                                        SUPPLIES                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT           9.98
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          11.05
                                        BATTERIES A ND FILTER           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          71.12
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          18.26
                                        OIL FOR BOI LER AT POOL         WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT           6.98
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          37.25
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                       7.84
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          171.64

  96623  JUDITH BROWN                   RECREATION INSTRUCTION         RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             146.00
                                        NOODLES FOR  WATER CLASSES      RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              25.64
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          171.64

  96624  BURGER KING                    CHALLENGE S UPPLIES             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           240.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          240.00

  96625  CABAY & COMPANY, INC           SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   273.55
                                        SUPPLIES                       AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   237.54
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / CITY H ALL                     193.80
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          704.89

  96626  CALL ONE                       PHONE CHARG ES                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT             58.68
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT            176.78
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                59.47
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D         58.68
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR        783.94
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            82.97
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             154.11
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION           4,087.90
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     228.62
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   154.11
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,904.85
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        251.77
                                        PHONE CHARG ES                  WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        808.44
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        8,810.32

  96627  JACLYN CAMARGO                 PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        74.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           74.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:   3
TIME: 21:19:54                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96628  CENTEGRA OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH   TESTING SER VICES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                50.00
                                        TESTING SER VICES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                50.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          100.00

  96629  CHICAGO COMMUNICATIONS         LABOR/MATER IALS SERVICE        POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              72.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           72.00

  96630  CLARKE ENVIRONMENTAL MOSQUITO  MOSQUITO MA NAGEMENT SERVICE    ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT FUND / ENVIRONMENTAL M      4,747.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        4,747.00

  96631  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION             209.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          209.90

  96632  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     119.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          119.90

  96633  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    79.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           79.90

  96634  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          79.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           79.90

  96635  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT            229.85
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          229.85

  96636  COMMONWEALTH EDISON            UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         71.90
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          66.57
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         46.22
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        29.80
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         63.98
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        108.74
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         50.11
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        177.59
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         52.59
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          83.36
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          40.89
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         72.84
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       549.66



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:   4
TIME: 21:19:59                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96636  COMMONWEALTH EDISON            UTILITY SER VICES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / CITY H ALL                      54.82
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,469.07

  96637  CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       9,612.10
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         956.82
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       3,713.71
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         358.02
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,203.90
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,638.91
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       17,483.46

  96638  THE COPY EXPRESS, INC.         PROGRAM-CIT Y BAND CONCERK WK 1 PERFORMING ARTS FUND / MUNICIPAL BAND                   46.80
                                        PROGRAM-CIT Y BAND CONCERT WK 2 PERFORMING ARTS FUND / MUNICIPA L BAND                   42.58
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           89.38

  96639  DELL COMPUTER                  TOUCH MONIT OR                  PUBLIC LIBRARY BUILDING FUND / LIBRARY BUILDING        192.49
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          192.49

  96640  ALAN DUNKER                    EQUIPMENT                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            70.87
                                        GATORADE - CHALLENGE ROAD RUN  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREATION DIVISION            73.30
                                        BATTERIES A ND RECHARGE UNIT    RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             120.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          265.12

  96641  ELECTRIC TIME COMPANY, INC.    RETIREMENT GIFT CLOCKS         GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES               563.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          563.00

  96642  ENVIRONMENTAL INC. -           TESTING SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        340.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          340.00

  96643  FAMILIES EMPOWERED TO CHANGE   MEMBERSHIP REFUND              RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              86.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           86.00

  96644  FIFTH THIRD BANK               BAGSTER SER VICE                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        149.00
                                        ICSC RECON 2014                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        106.40
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D         22.99
                                        SEMINAR EXP ENSE                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        712.00
                                        LETTER OPEN ER                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT            261.00
                                        REPLACEMENT  PARTS              RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              16.87



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:   5
TIME: 21:20:04                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96644  FIFTH THIRD BANK               GYM CHALK                      RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              54.04
                                        POOL PARTS                     RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              75.58
                                        EMAIL SERVI CES                 PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     672.00
                                        WEBSITE                        PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      19.99
                                        CAFE SUPPLI ES                  PERFORMING ARTS FUND / CAFE                             49.00
                                        FREEZER                        PERFORMING ARTS FUND / CAFE                          1,958.00
                                        OH TICKETS                     ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                            54.10
                                        WEBSITE REN EWAL                CAPITAL IMP. GEN. CORP. FUND / GENERAL ADMINIST         17.49
                                        WEBSITE REN EWAL                CAPITAL IMP. GEN. CORP. FUND / GENERAL ADMINIST         17.49
                                        IPAD                           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        241.49
                                        SUPPLIES                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              41.50
                                        SUPPLIES                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              51.00
                                        KEY - SQUAD  #10                POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              22.37
                                        BAGS, JANIT OR CART             POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              39.99
                                        MEMBERSHIP                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES               390.00
                                        PARK SUPERV ISOR AD             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES               200.00
                                        SHREDDER                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                26.62
                                        IEDC LUNCH                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D         10.39
                                        IEDC SEMINA R                   GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        120.36
                                        PROGRAM SUP PLIES               PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   125.78
                                        MATERIALS                      PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    43.99
                                        ALL STAFF M EETING              PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   155.00
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    34.95
                                        ACCESS                         PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    44.95
                                        WELLS RECEP TION                PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    72.20
                                        RETIREMENT                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &         44.55
                                        RETIREMENT                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &         88.05
                                        RETIREMENT                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &         80.89
                                        COMPUTER ME MORY                CAPITAL IMP. GEN. CORP. FUND / GENERAL ADMINIST        227.94
                                        COMBINE PUR CHASE FEE           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT              5.20
                                        PAINT                          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION             8.55
                                        DRIVE BELT                     AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    32.09
                                        REGISTRATIO NS                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            15.00
                                        REGISTRATIO NS                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            55.65
                                        PARTS FOR W EIGHT MACHINE       RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              83.21
                                        TAX REFUND                     AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   -18.11
                                        GAS FOR POW ER WASHER           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION             4.43
                                        SCOREBOARD                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            29.06



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:   6
TIME: 21:20:04                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96644  FIFTH THIRD BANK               GROUP FIT T RAINING             RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             134.49
                                        UNIFORMS                       AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   308.03
                                        REC CENTER STAFF               RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              20.00
                                        STAFF                          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            47.15
                                        SUBSCRIPTIO NS                  RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             219.99
                                        WWW MANAGER  MEETING            AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    80.27
                                        CABLE CONNE CTOR                CAPITAL IMP. GEN. CORP. FUND / PUBLIC FACILITIE        142.25
                                        BRAIDED WIR E                   PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      27.33
                                        COMPUTER MO USE                 CAPITAL IMP. GEN. CORP. FUND / GENERAL ADMINIST         23.99
                                        PRINTER                        POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION             375.99
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        7,842.54

  96645  JILL FLORES                    RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             240.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          240.00

  96646  ANNA FRIESEN                   RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             100.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          100.00

  96647  GARY W ANDERSON ARCHITECTS     PROFESSIONA L SERVICES          TAX INCREMENT FINANCING FUND / TAX INCREMENT FI      1,060.64
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,060.64

  96648  GAVERS ASPHALT PAVING          SAND DELIVE RED                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        321.93
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          321.93

  96649  MARILEE GEENE                  PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        18.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           18.00

  96650  GRAINGER                       GEARBELT                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          24.48
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           24.48

  96651  HAAS SERVICE SYSTEM            JANITORIAL SERVICES - MAY 2014 PUBLIC LIBRARY BUILDING FUND / LIBRARY BUILDING      2,100.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,100.00

  96652  TIMOTHY HICKS                  TWEEN NIGHT S PROGRAMS          AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   450.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          450.00

  96653  JOHN HOCKERSMITH               RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             255.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          255.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:   7
TIME: 21:20:07                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96654  DAVE JACK                      SOUND SERVI CES - JUNE 7, 2014  PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     380.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          380.00

  96655  INDEPTH GRAPHICS               2014 CHALLE NGE RD RUN MATERIAL GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREATION DIVISION         1,203.55
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,203.55

  96656  IN THE SWIM                    POOL SUPPLI ES                  AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    17.01
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           17.01

  96657  JENSEN'S PLUMBING & HEAT. INC. SERVICE                        WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        125.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          125.00

  96658  KALE UNIFORMS                  UNIFORM ITE MS                  POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              11.43
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           11.43

  96659  DON KAMPS                      RECREATION OFFICIAL            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            72.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           72.00

  96660  MARTIN KERVER                  PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        18.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           18.00

  96661  KIRCHNER FIRE EXTINGUISHER     FIRE EXTING UISHER INSPECTION   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        312.45
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          312.45

  96662  KNOW BUDDY RESOURCES           LIBRARY MAT ERIALS              PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   786.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          786.50

  96663  LAI LTD                        KAESER OIL                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        550.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          550.00

  96664  AMY LANGTON                    R.O.W.325 R IDGELAND            ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           100.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          100.00

  96665  MARY LYNN LISK                 RACE SUPPLI ES                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           107.28
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          107.28

  96666  LUNA TECH INC                  PYROPAK CIR CUIT CONTROLER      ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           250.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          250.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:   8
TIME: 21:20:09                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96667  STEVE MAJOR                    OFFICIAL'S SERVICES            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            48.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           48.00

  96668  MC ALLISTER EQUIPMENT COMPANY  NEW SEAT FO R LOADER            WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT      1,716.92
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,716.92

  96669  MCHENRY ANALYTICAL WATER       SAMPLE TEST ING                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         437.50
                                        SAMPLE TEST ING                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        412.50
                                        SAMPLE TEST ING                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          66.00
                                        SAMPLE TEST ING                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         30.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          946.00

  96670  MC HENRY COUNTY COUNCIL OF     DINNER MEET ING EXPENSE         GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT            148.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          148.00

  96671  MC HENRY COUNTY SPECIALTIES    20 YR ANNI PLAQUE              PERFORMING ARTS FUND / MUNICIPA L BAND                   20.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           20.00

  96672  MENARDS                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      94.02
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      43.27
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      25.94
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           TAX INCREMENT FINANCING FUND / TAX INCREMENT FI         44.65
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / CITY H ALL                      34.21
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          242.09

  96673  MIDWEST TAPE                   LIBRARY MAT ERIALS              PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   576.79
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          576.79

  96674  MULTI-BANK SERVICES, LTD.      FEES                           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                       498.68
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          498.68

  96675  MUNICIPAL ELECTRONICS          RADAR REPAI R                   POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              77.89
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           77.89

  96676  NORTH AMERICAN SALT COMPANY    SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,006.32
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,021.95
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,039.23
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,092.69



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:   9
TIME: 21:20:16                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96676  NORTH AMERICAN SALT COMPANY    SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,028.53
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,893.63
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,969.30
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,966.01
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,957.79
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,929.00
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,115.73
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,896.92
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,048.27
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       25,965.37

  96677  NICOR                          UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        215.87
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          28.53
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         197.82
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        189.06
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        726.93
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         988.54
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         67.72
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,414.47

  96678  NORTHERN KEY & LOCK, INC.      CYLINDERS R EKEYED TO MASTER    PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     105.00
                                        CYLINDERS A ND KEYS             PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     805.00
                                        CYLINDERS R EKEYED AND KEYS CUT PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HOUSE                     129.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,039.00

  96679  PACIFIC TELEMANAGEMENT         PAY PHONE F EE                  PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    33.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           33.00

  96680  MARY PITZ                      PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        74.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           74.00

  96681  PORT-A-JOHN                    RENTAL SERV ICES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS               20.00
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS              100.00
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       104.00
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       208.00
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       104.00
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       624.00
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       520.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  10
TIME: 21:20:21                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96681  PORT-A-JOHN                    RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       104.00
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       104.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,888.00

  96682  PYROAM INC                     SHIPPING AN D HANDLING LUNA INV ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                            40.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           40.00

  96683  QUILL CORPORATION              SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    17.16
                                        WALL CLOCK                     PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   101.97
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    76.72
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    20.99
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   128.40
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          345.24

  96684  RANDOM HOUSE INC               BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    20.25
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    30.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           50.25

  96685  RECORDED BOOKS, LLC            BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   943.40
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          943.40

  96686  RESEARCH TECHNOLOGY            SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   304.15
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          304.15

  96687  RICCA CHEMICAL COMPANY         LAB SUPPLIE S                   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         386.14
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          386.14

  96688  ANGELA RUIZ                    RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             120.00
                                        RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             100.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          220.00

  96689  PAUL RUSCKO                    VARIOUS SUP PLIES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR        215.19
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          215.19

  96690  S&S GARDEN CENTER, INC.        INSIDE GARD EN SOIL             WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        152.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          152.00

  96691  SAMS CLUB                      SUPPLIES                       PERFORMING ARTS FUND / CAFE                            132.27
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          132.27



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  11
TIME: 21:20:26                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96692  KARL SCHMELZER                 RECREATION INSTRUCTION         GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            24.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           24.00

  96693  SCHULHOF COMPANY               BATHROOM FA UCETS AND PARTS     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / CITY H ALL                      16.67
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           16.67

  96694  BECKY VIDALES                  SUPPLIES FO R WWW PROGRAMS      AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    35.94
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           35.94

  96695  SHAW MEDIA                     LEGAL                          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT            241.90
                                        LEGAL                          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT             54.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          295.90

  96696  SHELL ENGINEERING INC          ANCHOR KIT                     AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    33.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           33.00

  96697  ELIZABETH RYAN                 MEETING EXP ENSE                PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    88.30
                                        POSTAGE                        PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                     5.09
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    20.67
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          114.06

  96698  SIGN-A-RAMA, USA               PROGRAM SUP PLIES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            20.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           20.00

  96699  SMITH ECOLOGICAL SYSTEMS INC.  MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,477.73
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         892.00
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         376.45
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         110.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,856.18

  96700  STAN'S OFFICE TECHNOLOGIES, IN SERVICE                        POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION             460.38
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          460.38

  96701  HARRIS COMPUTER SYSTEMS        ICONNECT FE ES                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT            476.59
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          476.59

  96702  TRANS UNION RISK & ALTERNATIVE PERSON SEAR CH CHARGES          POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION               6.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL            6.50



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  12
TIME: 21:20:30                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96703  TRUPS DISTRIBUTING INC         MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         474.24
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          474.24

  96704  U. S. A. BLUE BOOK             SUPPLIES                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         34.94
                                        LAB SUPPLIE S                   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        350.99
                                        LAB SUPPLIE S                   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        351.51
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          737.44

  96705  UNIQUE MANAGEMENT SERVICES,INC SERVICES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    69.65
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           69.65

  96706  UNITED LABORATORIES            MATERIALS                      PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       598.32
                                        MATERIALS                      PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                     1,122.03
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,720.35

  96707  UPSTART                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   173.16
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          173.16

  96708  VIKING CHEMICAL COMPANY        CHEMICALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,242.00
                                        CHEMICALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,784.00
                                        CHEMICALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT        -135.00
                                        CHEMICALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,325.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        5,216.00

  96709  WAL-MART COMMUNITY             SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            99.29
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS               13.12
                                        SUPPLIES                       RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             178.58
                                        MATERIALS                      AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    57.64
                                        SUPPLIES                       AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   134.86
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          483.49

  96710  WATER SOLUTIONS UNLIMITED      PHOSPHATE                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       3,820.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        3,820.00

  96711  WILL ENTERPRISES               2014 CHALLE NGE ROAD RACE       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION         4,600.85
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        4,600.85

  96712  PDC LABORATORIES, INC.         OUTSIDE TES TING                WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         48.23
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           48.23



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  13
TIME: 21:20:34                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96713  CITY OF WOODSTOCK              WATER/SEWER                     POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION             278.85
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          278.85

  96714  WOODSTOCK COMMUNITY SCHOOL     GASOLINE US AGE - MAY 2014      POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION           7,641.65
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        7,641.65

  96715  WOODSTOCK POWER EQUIPMENT, INC MOWER PARTS                    PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       327.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          327.00

  96716  JOSE M. ZAMORANO               SERVICE                        RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             185.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          185.00

  96717  ZUKOWSKI, ROGERS, FLOOD &      LEGAL FEES                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT          1,200.00
                                        LEGAL FEES                     CAPITAL IMP. GEN. CORP. FUND / STREETS/SIDEWALK         75.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,275.00

  96718  AFLAC                          INSURANCE P REMIUM-AFLAC        GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                     2,554.36
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,554.36

  96719  AIRGAS                         WELDING                        WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         69.40
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           69.40

  96720  MONICA AMRAEN                  SENIORS FOO D                   GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS               35.80
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           35.80

  96721  APPLE CREEK FLOWERS            LISA KELLY                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                63.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           63.50

  96722  ARAMARK                        UNIFORMS                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              25.57
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           25.57

  96723  ARARMARK                       UNIFORMS                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              569.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          569.95

  96724  BOHN'S ACE HARDWARE            SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               34.94
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               24.88
                                        HOSE COUPLE RS                  WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT          6.99
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            61.92
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          128.73



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  14
TIME: 21:20:49                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96725  JIM BRIMM & ASSOCIATES         WOODSTOCK C HALLENGE 2014       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION         1,000.00
                                        WOODSTOCK C HALLENGE 2014       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           785.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,785.00

  96726  DICK BROUILLETTE               REFUND CANC LED STAGE LEFT BKNG PERFORMING ARTS FUND / CAFE                            100.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          100.00

  96727  JUDITH BROWN                   RECREATION INSTRUCTION         RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             128.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          128.00

  96728  BURRIS EQUIPMENT COMPANY       RAKES                          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              158.74
                                        MATERIALS                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              113.85
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          272.59

  96729  CABAY & COMPANY, INC           PAPER TOWEL S                   GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / CITY H ALL                     174.03
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          174.03

  96730  CALIFORNIA CONTRACTORS         SAFETY GLAS SES                 PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        99.00
                                        SAFETY GLAS SES                 GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               99.00
                                        SAFETY GLAS SES                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         99.00
                                        SAFETY GLAS SES                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         99.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          396.00

  96731  CENTEGRA OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH   DRUG SCREEN ING                 GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                50.00
                                        W/C- TIETZ                     LIABILITY INSURANCE FUND / LIAB ILITY INSURANCE          91.44
                                        DRUG SCREEN ING                 GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                25.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          166.44

  96732  CHICAGO COFFEE ROASTERY, INC.  CAFE SUPPLI ES                  PERFORMING ARTS FUND / CAFE                             87.70
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           87.70

  96733  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   134.85
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          134.85

  96734  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          79.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           79.90

  96735  COMCAST CABLE                  XFINITY TV                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION             2.13
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL            2.13



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  15
TIME: 21:20:53                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96736  COMMONWEALTH EDISON            UTILITY SER VICES               TAX INCREMENT FINANCING FUND / TAX INCREMENT FI        688.43
                                        UTILITY SER VICES- STREET LIGHT GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               82.30
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                 3,954.34
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        172.65
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        81.84
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / CITY H ALL                     465.33
                                        UTILITY SER VICES- STREET LIGHT GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               41.10
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        5,485.99

  96737  COMMONWEALTH EDISON            UTILITY SVC S- STREET LIGHTING  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION            2,481.97
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,481.97

  96738  CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER           2,518.93
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,518.93

  96739  COUNTRY DONUTS                 CHALLENGE R UN SUPPLIES         GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           140.65
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          140.65

  96740  CURRAN MATERIALS COMPANY       PAVING MATE RIALS               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION            2,949.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,949.00

  96741  DAHM TRUCKING, INC             WASTE DISPO SAL                 ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT FUND /  ENVIRONMENTAL M      9,600.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        9,600.00

  96742  DIAMOND-TUFF CORP.             SPRAY 9' UT ILITY BODY          PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       900.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          900.00

  96743  DIRECT ENERGY BUSINESS         STREET LIGH TING                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION            4,253.32
                                        STREET LIGH TING                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               33.41
                                        STREET LIGH TING                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              112.43
                                        STREET LIGH TING                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              259.87
                                        STREET LIGH TING                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              224.45
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        4,883.48

  96744  ED'S AUTOMOTIVE                TESTING SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         26.00
                                        TESTING SER VICES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               52.00
                                        TESTING SER VICES               PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        26.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          104.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  16
TIME: 21:21:00                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96745  FASTENAL COMPANY               MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        147.79
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          147.79

  96746  NICK FENTON                    RECREATION OFFICIAL            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            48.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           48.00

  96747  FIRST PLACE PROMOTIONS         AWARDS- WOO DSTOCK CHALLENGE    GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREATION DIVISION           839.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          839.00

  96748  FOX VALLEY FIRE & SAFETY CO.   MONTHLY FEE                     WIRELESS ALARM MONITORING / WIR ELESS ALARM MONI      1,741.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,741.50

  96749  HAAS SERVICE SYSTEM            JANITORIAL SERVICES- MAY, 2014 PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                   1,550.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,550.00

  96750  JACLYN HANSHAW                 RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              40.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           40.00

  96751  HARRISON PTO                   PTO CALENDE R 2014-2015 AD      AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    75.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           75.00

  96752  HAWKINS, INC.                  CHEMICALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        380.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          380.50

  96753  HD SUPPLY                      ASHPALT 6.0  SUPERSACK          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION            2,320.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,320.00

  96754  CHAS. HERDRICH & SON, INC.     SUPPLIES                       PERFORMING ARTS FUND / CAFE                             37.60
                                        SUPPLIES                       PERFORMING ARTS FUND / CAFE                            121.60
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          159.20

  96755  TIM HICKS                      SUMMER IN T HE PARK             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS              300.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          300.00

  96756  ICE MOUNTAIN DIRECT            LAB MATERIA LS                  WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         43.12
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           43.12

  96757  IMPERIAL SUPPLIES, LLC         BOLTS- FITT INGS                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              146.25
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          146.25



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  17
TIME: 21:21:04                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96758  INDEPTH GRAPHICS               CED FLIER                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D      1,035.00
                                        OFF. SHARP                     POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              53.75
                                        JOE N AND C ORT C               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        107.52
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,196.27

  96759  DON KAMPS                      RECREATION OFFICIAL            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           144.00
                                        RECREATION OFFICIAL            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            48.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          192.00

  96760  JANET KAYSER                   RECREATION INSTRUCTION         RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             297.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          297.00

  96761  L & V DISTRIBUTORS             STAGE LEFT CAFE SUPPLIES       PERFORMING ARTS FUND / CAFE                             82.70
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           82.70

  96762  PETER LAYER                    ADULT TENNI S REFUND            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        55.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           55.00

  96763  STEVE MAJOR                    OFFICIAL'S SERVICES            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            48.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           48.00

  96764  MDC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES     TRASH STICK ERS                 ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                         3,870.00
                                        YARD WASTE STICKERS            ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                         3,600.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        7,470.00

  96765  JOE MC CORMACK                 EXPENSE REI MBURSEMENT          PERFORMING ARTS FUND / MUNICIPA L BAND                   12.79
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           12.79

  96766  MCHENRY COUNTY EDC             EDC INVESTM ENT SUPPORT         GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        900.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          900.00

  96767  MENARDS                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               18.95
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         41.96
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               71.28
                                        BAGS TOURNA MENT                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        94.68
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              467.04
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               32.94
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               31.91



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  18
TIME: 21:21:09                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96767  MENARDS                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         91.62
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA          2.80
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               99.89
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          953.07

  96768  OUTDOOR RECREATION, INC.       MATERIALS                      POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              99.98
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           99.98

  96769  QUILL CORPORATION              CDR SPINDLE                     POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              48.47
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            73.73
                                        SUPPLIES                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &        181.80
                                        POST ITS                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              22.49
                                        USB FLASH D RIVE                POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              83.88
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          410.37

  96770  MICHELLE RICHMEIER             RECREATION REFUND              GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        50.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           50.00

  96771  REVCORE RADIATOR, INC.         RECHARGE AI R CONDITIONER DYE   GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREATION DIVISION           347.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          347.90

  96772  S&S GARDEN CENTER, INC.        LANDSCAPE M ATERIALS            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              323.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          323.00

  96773  MICHELLE SADLER                PLAYGROUND PROGRAM REFUND      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERAL                        85.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           85.00

  96774  KARL SCHMELZER                 RECREATION INSTRUCTION         GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            96.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           96.00

  96775  SCHOLASTIC BOOK FAIRS          SCHOLASTIC BOOK FAIR REIMB     ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           920.12
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          920.12

  96776  SHOP OUTFITTERS                UNIVERSAL B ENDER               PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                   1,810.74
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,810.74

  96777  SHERMAN MECHANICAL, INC.       CHECK BOILE R                   AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   154.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          154.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  19
TIME: 21:21:14                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96778  SIKICH LLP                     ANNUAL AUDI T                   MUNICIPAL AUDIT FUND / MUNICIPA L AUDIT               3,500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        3,500.00

  96779  SIGN A RAMA                    SIGN SERVIC ES                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            53.88
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           53.88

  96780  A. D. STARR                    REPLICA  JE RSEYS               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           317.40
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          317.40

  96781  SUBWAY                         WOODSTOCK C HALLENGE            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           360.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          360.00

  96782  JUDITH SVALANDER               CINDERELLA  & GYPSEY FIRE      ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                         8,502.85
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        8,502.85

  96783  TELCOM INNOVATIONS GROUP       PHONE                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   850.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          850.50

  96784  TOPS VETERINARY REHABILITATION GLYCO FLEX TABLETS             POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              80.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           80.00

  96785  TODAY'S UNIFORMS               UNIFORMS                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              28.95
                                        UNIFORMS                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              49.95
                                        UNIFORMS                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              45.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          124.85

  96786  UNITED LABORATORIES            BUG DEETERE R/ SWAMP WIPE       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION            1,065.35
                                        CARBO CLEAN  SOLAR SOLVENT      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        523.41
                                        GRUNGE GRIP PERS                WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        233.40
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,822.16

  96787  UNITED ANALYTICAL SERVICES, IN OPERA HOUSE  CEILING DIFFUSERS  PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                   1,246.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,246.50

  96788  VERIZON WIRELESS               CM                             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT             38.05
                                        FN                             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT             71.28
                                        PO                             POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              99.12
                                        CD                             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        396.93



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  20
TIME: 21:21:17                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96788  VERIZON WIRELESS               PW ADMIN                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR         97.02
                                        BLD/EQU                        GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR         21.64
                                        PK                             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR        166.24
                                        ST                             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR        157.87
                                        REC                            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            72.11
                                        WC                             WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        110.82
                                        WT                             WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          68.52
                                        WWT                            WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        130.11
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,429.71

  96789  VERMEER MIDWEST                ROPE TO REP LACE OLD ROPE       PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       142.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          142.95

  96790  WAL-MART COMMUNITY             PUBLIC WORK S WEEK              GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR        145.89
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          145.89

  96791  WENDY WESOLEK                  RECREATION REFUND              GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                       150.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          150.00

  96792  WESTSIDE MECHANICAL SERVICES   DECTRON SYS TEM REPAIR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             834.00
                                        DECTRON SYS TEM REPAIR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             204.09
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,038.09

  96793  ERIKA WHILE                    REC CENTER POOL REFUND         RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              75.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           75.00

  96794  WILSON BOHANNAN PADLOCK        LOCK/KEYS                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              227.21
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          227.21

  96795  WOODSTOCK HICKSGAS, INC.       LP GAS SUPP LY                  WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        239.03
                                        LP GAS SUPP LY                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              239.03
                                        LP GAS SUPP LY                  PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       239.02
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          717.08

  96796  WOODSTOCK INDEPENDENT          LEGAL NOTIC E                   PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    83.75
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           83.75

  96797  WOODSTOCK LUMBER COMPANY       CONCRETE MI X                   CAPITAL IMP. GEN. CORP. FUND / STREETS/SIDEWALK        232.90



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  21
TIME: 21:21:19                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96797  WOODSTOCK LUMBER COMPANY       48" WOOD LA TH 509              GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               32.85
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          265.75

  96798  WOODSTOCK POWER EQUIPMENT, INC FLYWHEEL KE Y                   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         10.31
                                        IMPELLER                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         85.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           95.31

  96799  WORLD SECURITY & CONTROL,INC.  FIRE ALARM PANEL BATTERIES     RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             150.00
                                        FIRE ALARM PANEL BATTERIES     RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             125.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          275.00

  96800  JOSE M. ZAMORANO               CLEANING SE RVICE               RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             170.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          170.00

  96801  MATT ZINNEN                    CLEANUP                        GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            20.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           20.00

  96802  RYAN ZINNEN                    CHALLENGE C LEAN-UP             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            20.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           20.00

  96803  ZUKOWSKI, ROGERS, FLOOD &      LEGAL FEES-  WALMART VEHICULAR  POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              37.50
                                        LEGAL FEES-  PUB WKS            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR      2,175.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,212.50

  96804  AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS          MEMBERSHIP                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &         79.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           79.00

  96805  AMERICAN QUALITY MFG, INC.     EQUIPMENT                      RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             467.94
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          467.94

  96806  AQUA FLOW PLUMBING INC         R.O.W. 410 DACY ST             ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           100.00
                                        R.O.W. 850 N MADISON ST        ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           100.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          200.00

  96807  ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICE        UNIFORM REN TAL SERVICES        POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              25.57
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           25.57

  96808  B & M LAWN CARE                MOWING SERV ICES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        190.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  22
TIME: 21:21:29                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96808  B & M LAWN CARE                MOWING SERV ICES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        300.00
                                        MOWING SERV ICES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        300.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          790.00

  96809  BOHN'S ACE HARDWARE            SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               88.97
                                        KEYS                           AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    14.94
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    22.47
                                        BATTERIES                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         32.36
                                        MATERIALS S ESQ FOUNTAIN        PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        50.39
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      20.49
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          40.97
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / CITY H ALL                      48.44
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          319.03

  96810  JUDITH BROWN                   RECREATION INSTRUCTION         RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             146.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          146.00

  96811  JOHN P. BYARD                  KARATE SERV ICES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           540.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          540.00

  96812  CABAY & COMPANY, INC           SUPPLIES                       PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     135.65
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          135.65

  96813  MELISSA CANTO                  SWIM LESSON  MTG                AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    29.52
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           29.52

  96814  CENTEGRA OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH   TESTING SER VICES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                25.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           25.00

  96815  CHALLENGER LEARNING CENTER     HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISTRIBUTIONS  HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                6,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        6,000.00

  96816  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   394.85
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          394.85

  96817  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         79.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           79.90



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  23
TIME: 21:21:40                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96818  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR        119.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          119.90

  96819  COMCAST CABLE                  COMMUNICATI ONS                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         79.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           79.90

  96820  COMMONWEALTH EDISON            UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        121.95
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         81.63
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        104.93
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         49.29
                                        UTILITY SER VICES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        106.92
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          464.72

  96821  CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT     14,375.73
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT      8,260.36
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        340.08
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        428.72
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         321.72
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        911.13
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        392.06
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         43.35
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       25,073.15

  96822  COCA COLA REFRESHMENTS         SUPPLIES                       RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             254.45
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          254.45

  96823  CHRIS LYNK                     CDL REIMBUR SEMENT              GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR         60.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           60.00

  96824  DISPLAY SALES                  BRACKETS, B ANNERS              PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       655.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          655.00

  96825  JULIE DOERR                    RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              80.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           80.00

  96826  TAMMY DUNN                     RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             645.78
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          645.78



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  24
TIME: 21:21:48                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96827  ALAN DUNKER                    TENNIS BALL S FOR PROGRAM       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            60.94
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           60.94

  96828  ASHLEY ESUNIS                  RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             105.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          105.00

  96829  CLARISSA FIORE                 RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              20.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           20.00

  96830  JILL FLORES                    RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             156.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          156.00

  96831  DAN GAYDOSH                    INTRO TO WO RD                  PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    72.50
                                        INTER WORD                     PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    72.50
                                        COMPUTER BA SICS I              PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    72.50
                                        COMPUTER BA SICS II             PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    72.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          290.00

  96832  HACH COMPANY                   RETURN OF E QUIPMENT            WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT       -309.60
                                        LAB SUPPLIE S & CHEMICALS       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        479.12
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          169.52

  96833  CRYSTAL HARMON                 PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        65.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           65.00

  96834  HD SUPPLY                      RETURN                         WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA       -163.97
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         77.16
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        144.97
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           58.16

  96835  TIM HICKS                      RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             210.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          210.00

  96836  JOHN HOCKERSMITH               RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             210.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          210.00

  96837  ILLINOIS LIQUOR CONTROL        OPERA HOUSE  LIQUOR LICENSE     PERFORMING ARTS FUND / CAFE                            500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          500.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  25
TIME: 21:21:50                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96838  JAZZ ON THE SQUARE             HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISBURSEMENT   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                2,500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,500.00

  96839  ANITA JOHNSON                  RECREATION INSTRUCTION         RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             420.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          420.00

  96840  RC JUGGLES                     ENTERTAINME NT                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS              150.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          150.00

  96841  DON KAMPS                      RECREATION OFFICIAL            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           144.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          144.00

  96842  TINA KASHMIER                  PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        25.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           25.00

  96843  KISHWAUKEE TRAIL CHAPTER NSDAR AD IN YEAR BOOK                PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      15.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           15.00

  96844  THOMAS LA BELLE                R.O.W. 627 PARK ST             ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           100.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          100.00

  96845  LA FONTAINE ENTERPRISES        STAIR REPAI R                   TAX INCREMENT FINANCING FUND / TAX INCREMENT FI        350.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          350.00

  96846  MARY LYNN LISK                 VOLUNTEER D ONUTS/CHALLENGE     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREATION DIVISION            46.96
                                        SUPPLIES                       RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              38.53
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           85.49

  96847  KATE LYNN LISK                 CHALLENGE P HOTOS               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            65.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           65.00

  96848  NEVA E. LISS                   RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             216.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          216.00

  96849  LLOYD'S PAINT AND PAPER, INC.  MATERIALS                      TAX INCREMENT FINANCING FUND / TAX INCREMENT FI         44.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           44.95

  96850  STEVE MAJOR                    OFFICIAL'S SERVICES            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            48.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           48.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  26
TIME: 21:21:53                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96851  PAMELA MCDONALD                RECREATION INSTRUCTION         RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             606.25
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          606.25

  96852  MC HENRY COUNTY CONVENTION     HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISBURSEMENT   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES               10,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       10,000.00

  96853  MCHENRY COUNTY HEATWAVE        HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISBURSEMENT   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                2,500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,500.00

  96854  MENARDS                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      52.93
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      48.60
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      33.94
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         27.43
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      26.46
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      39.94
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / MUNICIPA L BAND                   39.98
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                       9.97
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                     4.99
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              39.41
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE              76.61
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              84.65
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          484.91

  96855  MENTAL HEALTH RESOURCE LEAGUE  HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISBURSEMENT   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                1,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,000.00

  96856  METRO PROFESSIONAL PRODUCTS, I SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE             105.52
                                        SUPPLIES                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT          50.43
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          155.95

  96857  MID AMERICAN WATER OF WAUCONDA TOOLS                          WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        462.11
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          462.11

  96858  MAILFINANCE                    POSTAGE MAC HINE                PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    62.96
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           62.96

  96859  NICOR                          UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         92.31
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           92.31



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  27
TIME: 21:22:01                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96860  MOLLY O'CONNOR                 RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             600.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          600.00

  96861  OFF SQUARE MUSIC               HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISBURSEMENT   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                  500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          500.00

  96862  OFFICE DEPOT                   SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               12.78
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           12.78

  96863  JOSEFINA PALA                  RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             949.75
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          949.75

  96864  DONALD RAY PARNELL             RECREATION OFFICIAL            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            72.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           72.00

  96865  PORT-A-JOHN                    RENTAL SERV ICES                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS              300.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          300.00

  96866  ANGELA RUIZ                    RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              60.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           60.00

  96867  KARL SCHMELZER                 RECREATION INSTRUCTION         GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            72.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           72.00

  96868  STAN'S OFFICE TECHNOLOGIES, IN INK CARTRID GE                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           225.10
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          225.10

  96869  HARRIS COMPUTER SYSTEMS        INSTALLATIO N AND SETUP         CAPITAL IMP. GEN. CORP. FUND / GENERAL ADMINIST      1,275.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,275.00

  96870  SUMMER IN THE PARK             HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISTRIBUTION   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                  500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          500.00

  96871  MICHAEL SWEENEY                GUEST CONDU CTOR FEE            PERFORMING ARTS FUND / MUNICIPA L BAND                4,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        4,000.00

  96872  MICHAEL SWEENEY                GUEST CONDU CTOR EXPENSES       PERFORMING ARTS FUND / MUNICIPA L BAND                  150.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          150.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  28
TIME: 21:22:04                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96873  TODAY'S UNIFORMS               UNIFORMS                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              12.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           12.95

  96874  TOWNSQUARE PLAYERS             HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISTRIBUTION   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                2,500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,500.00

  96875  ULTRA STROBE COMMUNICATIONS    VEHICLE UPG RADES               CAPITAL IMP. GEN. CORP. FUND / PUBLIC SAFETY         1,079.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,079.00

  96876  U. S. A. BLUE BOOK             MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        -21.37
                                        LAB SUPPLIE S                   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        422.53
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          401.16

  96877  U. S. POST OFFICE              WATER/SEWER  POSTAGE            WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &        950.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          950.00

  96878  UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS - GAR   TRAINING FE E                   POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION             150.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          150.00

  96879  THOMSON REUTERS - WEST         SUBSCRIPTIO N                   POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION             156.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          156.00

  96880  WOODSTOCK CELEBRATES, INC      HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISTRIBUTION   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                2,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,000.00

  96881  WOODSTOCK CHAMBER OF COMMERCE  MISS WOODSTOCK PAGEANT         ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           606.65
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          606.65

  96882  WOODSTOCK CHAMBER OF COMMERCE  HOTEL/MOTEL TAX DISTRIBUTION   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES               10,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       10,000.00

  96883  WOODSTOCK FARMER'S MARKET      HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISTRIBUTION   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                3,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        3,000.00

  96884  WOODSTOCK FOLK FESTIVAL, INC.  HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISTRIBUTION   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                  500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          500.00

  96885  WOODSTOCK GROUNDHOG DAYS       HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISTRIBUTION   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                3,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        3,000.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  29
TIME: 21:22:07                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96886  WOODSTOCK MOZART FESTIVAL      HOTEL/MOTEL  TAX DISTRIBUTION   HOTEL MOTEL TAXES / HOTEL/MOTEL  TAXES                2,500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,500.00

  96887  JOSE M. ZAMORANO               SERVICE                        RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             170.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          170.00

  96888  ZEE MEDICAL SERVICES           MEDICAL SUP PLIES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         80.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           80.50

  96889  KATHLEEN ZANK                  RECREATION INSTRUCTION         RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             162.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          162.00

  96890  MARIA CAMPBELL                 RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             300.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          300.00

  96891  A AMERICAN ARBORIST            EMERGENCY T REE WORK            PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       400.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          400.00

  96892  CONSERV FS                     DIESEL FUEL                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        334.27
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          334.27

  96893  AIRGAS                         SERVICE                        GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE             158.47
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          158.47

  96894  ALLDATA                        SUBSCRIPTIO N                   GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE           1,500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,500.00

  96895  AMAZON                         LIBRARY MAT ERIALS              PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   571.11
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          571.11

  96896  SUSAN ANDERSON                 MEMBERSHIP REFUND              RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              70.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           70.00

  96897  ARSENAULT ASSOCIATES           ANNUAL SOFT WARE MAINTENANCE    GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE             514.11
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          514.11

  96898  ASSOCIATED ELECTRICAL          LIGHTPOLE R ECEPTACLE REPLACE   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT      1,540.00
                                                                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        243.58
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,783.58



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  30
TIME: 21:22:12                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96899  BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS           BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   234.63
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   102.27
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   463.17
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   513.66
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   480.83
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   789.51
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   812.13
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   941.36
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        4,337.56

  96900  BAKER & TAYLOR CONTINUATION    BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    45.04
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   140.76
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          185.80

  96901  BAXTER & WOODMAN, INC.         BWCSI WATER  SUPPORT SVCS       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,657.68
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,657.68

  96902  B & Z ELECTRICAL CONTRACTORS,  LEARNING AR E POWER & DATA      PUBLIC LIBRARY BUILDING FUND / LIBRARY BUILDING      5,181.00
                                        WEST PARK L OT LIGHT POLES      PUBLIC LIBRARY BUILDING FUND / LIBRARY BUILDING        550.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        5,731.00

  96903  BOHN'S ACE HARDWARE            SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                         3.79
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        23.42
                                        SUPPLIES/MA TERIALS             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            10.98
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           38.19

  96904  CHARIS BRADLEY                 MEMBERSHIP REFUND              RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              25.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           25.00

  96905  KATHERINE BRADLEY              MEMBERSHIP REFUND              RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              35.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           35.00

  96906  BYRON REITESEL                 REPAIRS                        AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   510.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          510.00

  96907  CDW GOVERNMENT, INC.           6FT DISPLAY PORT CAB W LATCH    PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    28.61
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           28.61



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  31
TIME: 21:22:26                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96908  CABAY & COMPANY, INC           SUPPLIES                       RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER           1,294.42
                                        SUPPLIES                       RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             925.86
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,220.28

  96909  CALL ONE                       CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT             58.56
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT            182.02
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                62.12
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR        786.61
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            89.32
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             156.74
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION           4,120.46
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     236.68
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   156.74
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       1,913.41
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        274.79
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        870.24
                                        CELLPHONE # 1010-9345-0000      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D         58.55
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        8,966.24

  96910  CENTEGRA OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH   TESTING SER VICES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                75.00
                                        TESTING SER VICES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                25.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          100.00

  96911  CHICAGO METROPOLITAN AGENCY    SUBSCRIPTIO N                   GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT            237.12
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          237.12

  96912  CITY ELECTRIC SUPPLY           BALLAST                        PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    83.08
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           83.08

  96913  CL GRAPHICS                    DATA PROCES SING                PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     810.04
                                        SUMMER 2014  EVENT SELF MAILER  PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                   1,418.00
                                        SUMMER 2014  MAILER LAYOUT      PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     425.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,653.04

  96914  COMMUNITY PLUMBING & HEATING   SERVICE                        AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   327.00
                                        MATERIALS                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE             215.79
                                        DRINKING FO UNTAIN FAUCET       PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        70.90
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          613.69



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  32
TIME: 21:22:32                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96915  COMMONWEALTH EDISON            UTILITY SER VICES               PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        19.29
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           19.29

  96916  CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        125.43
                                        ELECTRIC SE RVICE               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        221.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          347.38

  96917  CONTROL SERVICE INC            REPLACEMENT  FLOW METER         WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT      5,685.16
                                        REPLACEMENT  FLOW METER         WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT      5,749.58
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       11,434.74

  96918  THE COPY EXPRESS, INC.         PROGRAM - C ITY BAND CONCERT    PERFORMING ARTS FUND / MUNICIPA L BAND                   42.58
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           42.58

  96919  COCA COLA REFRESHMENTS         SUPPLIES                       RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             349.71
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          349.71

  96920  CROWN RESTROOMS                RENTAL SERV ICES- SULLIVAN      PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       121.50
                                        MERRYMAN PA RK MATERIALS        PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       146.50
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES- BATES PK      PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       170.00
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       156.50
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       364.50
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES- MERRYMAN      PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       421.21
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       230.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,610.21

  96921  CURRAN MATERIALS COMPANY       MATERIALS                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION            3,096.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        3,096.00

  96922  DEMCO                          SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   256.90
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   383.93
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          640.83

  96923  DIRECT ENERGY BUSINESS         STREET LIGH TING                GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION           15,909.46
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       15,909.46

  96924  DOOR SERVICES, INC             EXTERIOR DO OR HAD ISSEUS       PUBLIC LIBRARY BUILDING FUND / LIBRARY BUILDING        721.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          721.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  33
TIME: 21:22:36                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96925  DORNER COMPANY                 6" VALVE                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT      1,498.62
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,498.62

  96926  DAVID G. ETERNO                PROFESSIONA L SERVICES          ADMINISTRATIVE ADJUDICATION / A DMINISTRATIVE AD        562.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          562.50

  96927  FASTENAL COMPANY               MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         20.82
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           20.82

  96928  NICK FENTON                    RECREATION OFFICIAL            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            72.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           72.00

  96929  RYAN FREEMAN                   ENTERTAINME NT                  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS            1,700.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,700.00

  96930  GALE                           BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   335.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          335.00

  96931  DAN GAYDOSH                    EXCEL                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   145.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          145.00

  96932  GRAINGER                       MATERIALS                      PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                       5.58
                                        MATERIALS                      PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      18.37
                                        DISPOSABLE GLOVES              WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        198.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          221.95

  96933  HD SUPPLY                      MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        268.56
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         21.37
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          289.93

  96934  HOME STATE BANK                EMPLOYEE HE ALTH CONTRIBUTION   GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERAL                    50,086.28
                                        EMPLOYEE HE ALTH CONTRIBUTION   POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION          54,214.12
                                        EMPLOYEE HE ALTH CONTRIBUTION   AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   752.57
                                        EMPLOYEE HE ALTH CONTRIBUTION   RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             752.57
                                        EMPLOYEE HE ALTH CONTRIBUTION   PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                     9,556.63
                                        EMPLOYEE HE ALTH CONTRIBUTION   PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                   4,515.39
                                        EMPLOYEE HE ALTH CONTRIBUTION   PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                 9,846.77
                                        EMPLOYEE HE ALTH CONTRIBUTION   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER & SEWER        21,887.80
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL      151,612.13



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  34
TIME: 21:22:41                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96935  ID EDGE                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           768.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          768.50

  96936  JACK DOHENY COMPANIES          MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         79.23
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           79.23

  96937  ILLINOIS EPA FISCAL SERVICES   DOMESTIC SE WAGE                WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &     17,500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       17,500.00

  96938  ILLINOIS EPA FISCAL SERVICES   DOMESTIC SE WAGE                WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &     15,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       15,000.00

  96939  ILLINOIS EPA FISCAL SERVICES   STORMWATER                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &        500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          500.00

  96940  ILLINOIS EPA FISCAL SERVICES   STORMWATER                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / ADMINISTRATION &        500.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          500.00

  96941  ILLINOIS EPA FISCAL SERVICES   IEPA MS4 PE RMIT FEE            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR      1,000.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,000.00

  96942  IMPERIAL SUPPLIES, LLC         MATERIALS                      PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       281.70
                                        MATERIALS                      PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       281.70
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        281.70
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        281.69
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         281.70
                                        SERVICE                        GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION              102.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,510.49

  96943  INTERIORS FOR BUSINESS         STEELCASE P RODUCT OFFICE 123   GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC D      8,263.36
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        8,263.36

  96944  NAVIANT                        KONICA MINO LTA                 PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                 1,200.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,200.00

  96945  JRM DISTRIBUTION LLC           NUTS & BOLT S                   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        124.64
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         67.15
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          191.79



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  35
TIME: 21:22:41                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96946  DON KAMPS                      RECREATION OFFICIAL            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            48.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           48.00

  96947  L & S ELECTRIC                 MOTOR REPAI R                   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        920.00
                                        MOTOR REPAI R                   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        920.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,840.00

  96948  LA FONTAINE ENTERPRISES        PROFESSIONA L SERVICES          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / CITY H ALL                   6,700.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        6,700.00

  96949  LEE JENSEN SALES CO            MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        200.61
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          200.61

  96950  THE LEGENDAIRES LLC            ELVIS/ORBIS ON 6/28/14          ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                         9,872.05
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        9,872.05

  96951  LION HEART ENGINEERING P C     BATTERY                        PUBLIC LIBRARY BUILDING FUND / LIBRARY BUILDING        276.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          276.00

  96952  LLOYD'S PAINT AND PAPER, INC.  REC CTR PLA YROOM SUPPLIES      RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             113.96
                                        MATERIALS                      AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                   639.50
                                        MATERIALS                      AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    72.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          826.41

  96953  MARIA LYONS                    PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        80.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           80.00

  96954  MDC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES     YARD WASTE STICKERS            ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                         3,600.00
                                        YARD WASTE STICKERS            ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                         3,870.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        7,470.00

  96955  MCHENRY ANALYTICAL WATER       SAMPLE TEST ING                 WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         450.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          450.00

  96956  MC HENRY COUNTY DIVISION OF    PACE SERVIC ES- MARCH 2014      PARATRANSIT FUND / PARATRANSIT                       2,029.94
                                        PACE SERVIC ES- APRIL, 2014     PARATRANSIT FUND / PARATRANSIT                       2,182.71
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        4,212.65



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  36
TIME: 21:22:45                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96957  MCMRMA                         2014/2015 P OOL                 LIABILITY INSURANCE FUND / LIAB ILITY INSURANCE      74,392.80
                                        2014/2015 P OOL                 LIABILITY INSURANCE FUND / LIAB ILITY INSURANCE     235,577.20
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL      309,970.00

  96958  MENARDS                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         41.88
                                        MATERIALS &  SUPPLIES           PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        70.39
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          112.27

  96959  METRO PROFESSIONAL PRODUCTS, I SUPPLIES                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         68.59
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           68.59

  96960  METROPOLITAN INDUSTRIES, INC.  LIFT STATIO N WELL #2 SERVICE   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA      2,600.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,600.00

  96961  MIDWEST TAPE                   LIBRARY MAT ERIALS              PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   258.07
                                        LIBRARY MAT ERIALS              PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   191.89
                                        LIBRARY MAT ERIALS              PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   533.00
                                        LIBRARY MAT ERIALS              PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   557.80
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,540.76

  96962  MARK MINDRUM                   MAIL BOX RE PLACEMENT           GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               75.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           75.00

  96963  TIMBER WORKS INC               MULCH                          WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        320.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          320.00

  96964  MUZAK LLC                      SERVICES                       RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              97.87
                                        SERVICES                       AQUATIC CENTER FUND / AQUATIC C ENTER                    32.09
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          129.96

  96965  NCPERS - IL IMRF               INSURANCE                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                       409.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          409.00

  96966  NORTH AMERICAN SALT COMPANY    SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,001.39
                                        SALT                           WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT       2,052.39
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        4,053.78

  96967  NICOR                          UTILITY-GAS                     RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             621.46



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  37
TIME: 21:22:53                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96967  NICOR                          UTILITY-GAS                     PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        40.42
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         36.69
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         29.91
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         82.51
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         30.86
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         28.92
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         31.83
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         38.61
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         27.98
                                        UTILITY-GAS                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         40.45
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,009.64

  96968  NORTHERN KEY & LOCK, INC.      MATERIALS                      PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                     183.00
                                        MATERIALS                      PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                      28.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          211.00

  96969  NOTARY PUBLIC ASSOCIATION OF   RENEWAL- LI MBAUGH AND KASTNER  GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC D        113.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          113.00

  96970  OFFICE DEPOT                   CHAIR                          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT             99.99
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           99.99

  96971  ORIENTAL TRADING CO., INC.     SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY EVENTS              332.30
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          332.30

  96972  OVERDRIVE                      ELECTRONIC BOOKS               PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   293.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          293.95

  96973  STANDARD EQUIPMENT COMPANY     SERVICE                        GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               60.59
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           60.59

  96974  POLICE PENSION FUND            TRANSFER                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION         119,698.50
                                        PROPERTY TA XES-07-03-14 DIST   POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION           5,157.48
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL      124,855.98

  96975  PORT-A-JOHN                    RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        52.00
                                        RENTAL SERV ICES                PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       104.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          156.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  38
TIME: 21:22:58                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96976  PRODUCERS CHEMICAL COMPANY     CHEMICALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT      1,566.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,566.00

  96977  PYROAM INC                     SUPPLIES                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                            18.50
                                        SUPPLIES                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                            48.00
                                        SUPPLIES                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           165.00
                                        SUPPLIES                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           104.00
                                        SUPPLIES                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           251.10
                                        SUPPLIES                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           226.80
                                        SUPPLIES                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                            37.00
                                        SUPPLIES                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           271.20
                                        SUPPLIES                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                            30.00
                                        SHIPPING                       ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                            58.41
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,210.01

  96978  QUILL CORPORATION              SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    84.95
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    34.98
                                        PLASTIC CLI PBOARDS             PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    31.96
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   130.93
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION            41.38
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    51.96
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR        115.18
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    19.95
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   163.78
                                        SUPPLIES                       POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION              52.48
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT              5.84
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT              5.84
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / HUMAN RESOURCES                 5.84
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D          5.84
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR         41.39
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION             5.84
                                        SUPPLIES                       PERFORMING ARTS FUND / OPERA HO USE                       5.85
                                        SUPPLIES                       GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR         70.76
                                        POSTER BOAR D                   PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    54.99
                                        SUPPLIES                       PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    -1.98
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          927.76

  96979  R3 ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT    DISPOSAL ST REET SWEEPINGS      ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT FUND /  ENVIRONMENTAL M     25,866.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       25,866.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  39
TIME: 21:23:01                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96980  RANDOM HOUSE INC               BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    41.25
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    21.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           62.25

  96981  RECORDED BOOKS, LLC            BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    41.60
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    55.60
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   198.00
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   161.20
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    99.00
                                        BOOKS                          PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   574.80
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,130.20

  96982  S&S GARDEN CENTER, INC.        LANDSCAPE M ATERIALS            WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         76.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           76.00

  96983  LAURA SABROWSKIE               PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                        23.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           23.00

  96984  COURTNEY SLINKO                RECREATION INSTRUCTOR          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           500.00
                                        RECREATINO INSTRUCTOR          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           350.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          850.00

  96985  SONITROL CHICAGO NORTH         SERVICE                        GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT            229.93
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          229.93

  96986  A. D. STARR                    SUMMER SOFT BALLS               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / RECREA TION DIVISION           878.18
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          878.18

  96987  STATELINE DOOR                 DOOR REPAIR                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE             150.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          150.00

  96988  HARRIS COMPUTER SYSTEMS        ICONNECT MO NTHLY FEES          GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT            478.22
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          478.22

  96989  BELINDA STREBEL                PROGRAM FEE  REFUND             GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L                       100.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          100.00

  96990  T & H FARMS, LTD               MATERIALS                      RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER              32.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           32.00



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  40
TIME: 21:23:03                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  96991  THELEN MATERIALS LLC           BASEBALL MI X                   PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       539.67
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          539.67

  96992  THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPECTION   INSPECTION SERVICES            GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D        656.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          656.00

  96993  TICKET RETURN SOFTWARE         ONLINE SING LE TICKET SALES FEE DEBT SERVICE FUND / DEBT SERVIC E                     1,268.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,268.00

  96994  TNEMEC COMPANY, INC.           MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        642.91
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         72.09
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          715.00

  96995  TRUGREEN PROCESSING CENTER     WEED CONTRO L                   PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                     1,378.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,378.00

  96996  U. S. A. BLUE BOOK             MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT        136.21
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          136.21

  96997  UNITED LABORATORIES            MATERIALS                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE             264.87
                                        UNITED 755 BIO-SYSTEMS DEGREAS WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA      4,836.00
                                        SHIPPING                       WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA        168.35
                                        MATERIALS                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE             247.91
                                        MATERIALS                      GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE             233.34
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        5,750.47

  96998  UNITED PARCEL SERVICE          SHIPPING SE RVICES              WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         34.49
                                        SHIPPING SE RVICES              GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D         10.62
                                        SHIPPING SE RVICES              GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / PUBLIC  WORKS ADMINISTR          7.35
                                        SHIPPING SE RVICES              GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT            168.82
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          221.28

  96999  VALUE LINE PUBLISHING, INC.    SUBSCRIPTIO N                   PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                   289.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          289.00

  97000  WASTE MANAGEMENT               SERVICE                        ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT FUND /  ENVIRONMENTAL M      2,370.86
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        2,370.86



DATE: 07/08/14                                           CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                                 PAGE:  41
TIME: 21:23:07                                         WARRANT NUMBER 003622
ID: AP490000.WOW

                                               FROM  CHECK #  96611 TO CHECK #  97006

CHECK #  VENDOR NAME                    TRANSACTION  DESCRIPTION        FUND / DEPARTMENT CHARGED                              AMOUNT
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
  97001  WILIUG                         MEMBERSHIP                     PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    40.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           40.00

  97002  THOMSON REUTERS - WEST         SUBSCRIPTIO N PRODUCT           PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND / PUBLIC LI BRARY                    78.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL           78.00

  97003  WOODSTOCK POWER EQUIPMENT, INC BOLT STRING , FUEL CAP          PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        68.40
                                        MATERIALS                      WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT         163.00
                                        AIR FILTER                     WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / WATER TREATMENT           5.88
                                        EDGER BLADE S                   WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWAGE TREATMENT         23.00
                                        TRIMMER LOO P HANDLES           PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       683.92
                                        BACKPACK SP RAYER               PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                       119.95
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL        1,064.15

  97004  JOSE M. ZAMORANO               SERVICE                        RECREATION CENTER FUND / RECREA TION CENTER             170.00
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          170.00

  97005  ZEE MEDICAL SERVICES           MEDICAL SUP PLIES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FLEET MAINTENANCE              26.32
                                        MEDICAL SUP PLIES               GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / STREET S DIVISION               26.32
                                        MEDICAL SUP PLIES               PUBLIC PARKS FUND / PUBLIC PARK S                        26.32
                                        MEDICAL SUP PLIES               WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND / SEWER & WATER MA         26.33
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL          105.29

  97006  ZUKOWSKI, ROGERS, FLOOD &      LEGAL FEES                     ESCROW FUND / ESCROW ACCOUNT                           870.00
                                        LEGAL FEES                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT             82.50
                                        LEGAL FEES                     ADMINISTRATIVE ADJUDICATION / A DMINISTRATIVE AD      1,072.50
                                        LEGAL FEES                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / FINANC E DEPARTMENT            247.50
                                        LEGAL FEES                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT          1,815.00
                                        LEGAL FEES                     POLICE PROTECTION FUND / POLICE  PROTECTION           8,252.22
                                        LEGAL FEES                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / GENERA L GOVERNMENT             82.50
                                        LEGAL FEES                     GENERAL CORPORATE FUND / COMMUN ITY & ECONOMIC D         82.50
                                                                                                         CHECK TOTAL       12,504.72

                                                                                                       WARRANT TOTAL    1,113,902.01



City of Woodstock

Credit Card Activity (Fifth/Third Bank)

Closing Date 4-21-14

ACCOUNT VENDOR DESCRIPTION Amount Fiscal Year

Kastner

01-05-5-523 Waste Managesment Bagst Bagster Service 149.00$      13-14

Lowen

03-00-6-606 FranklinCovey Products calendar refill 41.50$        14-15

03-00-6-606 FranklinCovey Products calendar refill 51.00$        14-15

03-00-5-553 Reichert Chevy Key - Squad #10 22.37$        14-15

Lieb

03-00-6-606 Amazon Marketplace bag janitor cart 39.99$        14-15

Schober

01-04-4-454 PublicSalary annual membership 390.00$      14-15

01-04-5-536 IPRA Park Supervisor Ad 200.00$      14-15

01-04-6-606 WM Supercenter shredder 26.62$        14-15

Carlson

01-05-5-515 Treasure Island Hotel ICSC-Recon 2014 106.40$      13-14

01-05-6-606 Office Depot supplies 22.99$        13-14

01-05-5-515 Southwest seminar expense 712.00$      13-14

01-05-5-515 Casa Da Lara lunch IEDC 10.39$        14-15

01-05-5-515 Inn on the Park IEDC seminar 120.36$      14-15

Weber

08-00-6-606 WM Supercenter Program Supplies 125.78$      14-15

08-00-7-740 Netflix.com Materials 43.99$        14-15

08-00-6-606 Jimmy Johns All Staff Meeting 155.00$      14-15

08-00-6-606 Col-Rite Cooler supplies 34.95$        14-15

08-00-5-517 Yahoo Flickr Pro electronic access 44.95$        14-15

08-00-6-606 Jewel Wells Reception 72.20$        14-15

Ruscko

60-53-6-606 Swiss Maid Bakery retirement 44.55$        14-15

60-53-6-606 Swiss Maid Bakery retirement 88.05$        14-15

60-53-6-606 Swiss Maid Bakery retirement 80.89$        14-15

Christensen

01-03-7-720 Amazon letter opener 261.00$      13-14

82-01-7-704 NewEgg computer memory 227.94$      14-15

01-03-6-606 combine purchase fee 5.20$          14-15



City of Woodstock

Credit Card Activity (Fifth/Third Bank)

Closing Date 4-21-14

ACCOUNT VENDOR DESCRIPTION Amount Fiscal Year

Zinnen

05-00-6-621 A1PoolParts replacement parts 16.87$        13-14

05-00-6-612 Sportsmith gym chalk 54.04$        13-14

05-00-6-612 A1PoolParts pool parts 75.58$        13-14

01-09-6-612 Farm & Fleet paint 8.55$          14-15

04-00-6-621 Farm & Fleet drive belt 32.09$        14-15

01-09-6-606 Plug n Play registrations 15.00$        14-15

01-09-6-606 Plug n Play registrations 55.65$        14-15

05-00-6-612 Johnson Health parts for weight mach 83.21$        14-15

04-00-4-453 Kohls tax refund (18.11)$      14-15

01-09-9-602 Montrose Gas gas for power wash 4.43$          14-15

01-09-6-612 RadioShack scoreboard 29.06$        14-15

05-00-3-431 Aquatic Exercise Group Fit Training 134.49$      14-15

04-00-4-453 Kohls uniforms 308.03$      14-15

05-00-6-612 Jimmy Johns Rec Cent Staff 20.00$        14-15

01-09-6-612 El Niagra staff 47.15$        14-15

05-00-6-612 AMPUBSVC subscriptions 219.99$      14-15

04-00-6-612 Off the Rails www manager mtg 80.27$        14-15

Scharres

07-11-5-526 CTC ConstantContact email services 672.00$      13-14

07-11-5-501 EIG Homestead Website 19.99$        13-14

07-13-6-606 Shopkeep.com Inc Café Supplies 49.00$        13-14

82-02-7-708 Parts Express Cable Connector 142.25$      14-15

07-11-6-606 Framing Supplies braided wire 27.33$        14-15

Stelford

07-13-7-720 Atlanta Fixture freezer 1,958.00$  13-14

72-00-0-215 Payflow/paypal OH tickets 54.10$        13-14

82-01-7-704 EIG Dotster website renewal 17.49$        13-14

82-01-7-704 EIG Dotster website renewal 17.49$        13-14

01-05-5-515 Amazon Ipad 241.49$      13-14

82-01-7-704 B & H Photo computer mouse 23.99$        14-15

03-00-7-715 Amazon printer 375.99$      14-15

Total 7,842.54$  







































































 

 
       City of    

               
Department of  Community & Economic Development                     phone 815.338.4305  
121 W. Calhoun Street                                               fax  815.334.2267 
Woodstock, I l l ino is 60098                                                commdevdept@woodstocki l .com 

      www.woodstocki l .gov  
                                        

MEMORANDUM 

 

Date  July 7, 2014 

 

To:  Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

 

From:  Nancy Baker, City Planner 

 

 

RE: CHANGE ORDERS 007 AND 008 FOR THE OLD COURTHOUSE CUPOLA 

RESTORATION 

 

Significant progress has been made on the Old Courthouse cupola restoration; however, the 

combination of bad weather and much more extensive deterioration than originally anticipated 

has necessitated the extension of the completion date of the project from June 30, 2014 to 

September 30, 2014.    

 

A change order is also required for additional framing reinforcement around the louver openings 

and to reinforce the framing at the base of the louvers.  Framing has rotted and does not provide 

an adequate structure for securing the new louvered panels.  New flashing is also required at the 

base of the louvers.  

 

 
 

 View of interior of 

louvers 

mamraen
Typewritten Text

mamraen
Typewritten Text
July 15, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 27a



 
 

 

 

The revised completion date and additional work has been reviewed and recommended by Gary 

W. Anderson, Architects and is included in Change Orders 007 and 008.  The cost of the 

additional work totals $15,536.  The revisions were not anticipated at the time of the award of 

the contract and are for work that will be completed within the original scope of the contract.  

The additional items are necessary for the completion of the projects and it is in the best interest 

of the City to approve the Change Order documents. 

  

Therefore, it is recommended that the attached Resolution identified as Document No. 

____________, authorizing Change Order 007 resulting in a completion date of September 

30, 2014 and Change Order 008 resulting in an increase to the contract of $15,536, be 

approved. 

 

View of rusted flashing and need for 

new framing below louvered panels 

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
1



 

RESOLUTION NO. ________ 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CHANGE ORDERS 007 AND 008 IN THE CONTRACT FOR THE 

OLD COURTHOUSE CUPOLA AND ROOF RESTORATION 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Woodstock, McHenry County, Illinois, on October 

15, 2013  authorized the Mayor and Clerk to enter into a contract (the “Contract”) with Renaissance 

Restoration, Inc. (the “Contractor”) that exceeded $10,000, and  

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Contract, the Contractor agreed to provide all labor, 

equipment, materials, supplies, and related items for the restoration of the Old Courthouse cupola, dome 

and roof; and 

 WHEREAS, since the Contract was approved by the City Council, the scope of services to be 

provided by the Contractor needs to be revised, necessitating change orders in the Contract; and 

 WHEREAS, the Contractor is to make the changes requested by the City; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to 720ILCS 5/33E-9, Change Orders, the City Council finds (1) the 

circumstances said to necessitate the change in performance were not reasonably foreseeable at the time 

the Agreement was entered; and (2) the change is germane to the original Agreement as signed, and (3) 

the change order is in the best interest of the City; and 

 WHEREAS, 720 ILCS 5/33E-9, requires that any change order be made in writing. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Woodstock, 

McHenry County, Illinois as follows: 

 That the provisions outlined in the attached Change Orders No. 007 and 008 are hereby approved 

and the City Manager is authorized to execute the Change Orders incorporating said proposals. 

 Passed this _____ day of _______________, 2014 

Ayes: 

Nays: 

Abstentions: 

Absentees: 

        ______________________________ 

         Brian Sager, Ph.D., Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

______________________________ 

City Clerk 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
Doc.1







 

       City of    

               
Department of  Communi ty  and Economic Devel opment                                   phone  815 .338 .4305  
121  W. Calhoun St r ee t                                                        f ax  815 .334 .2267  
Woods tock ,  I l l ino i s  60098                                                                          nbake r@wood stock i l .gov  
                                                        www.woodstock i l .gov  

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
  
 

June 23, 2014 

TO:  Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

FROM:  Nancy Baker, City Planner 

 

ZONING VARATION AT 303 PLEASANT STREET 

Tyler Smith and Kathleen Kash will appear before the City Council seeking approval of a 

variation of Section 7A.3.C Bulk and Area Standards, of the Woodstock Unified Development 

Ordinance, to allow the construction of a deck within 12.2 feet of a yard abutting a street lot line. 

The Zoning Board of Appeals conducted a public hearing on the proposed variations on June 9, 

2014.  There were no objectors present.  Testimony at the hearing emphasized that the deck will 

not extend any further into the side yard abutting a street setback than the existing residence.  

The steps will be oriented toward the garage (to the west) and will not extend any further into the 

yard abutting a street setback than the deck. 

 

After the conclusion of the hearing and the completion of a findings of fact, a motion to 

recommend approval of the zoning variation passed (vote of 4 yes; 0 no; 2 absent). 

 

A copy of the applicant’s petition and exhibits, along with a copy of the Community 

Development Report prepared for this request is attached.  A copy of the minutes from the 

Zoning Board of Appeals meeting is also attached. 

 

Based on the action of the Zoning Board of Appeals and the evidence presented during the 

public hearing, it is recommended that the City Council approve Document Number 

_______________, consisting of an Ordinance varying Section 7A.3.C Bulk and Area 

Standards, of the Unified Development Ordinance to allow the construction of a deck 

within 12.2 feet of a yard abutting a street lot line as shown on Exhibit 1.  

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
July 15, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 27b

mamraen
Typewritten Text
2





















   WOODSTOCK ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REPORT: ZBA-06-01-14 

June 9, 2014 
 
PROJECT NAME: 303 Pleasant Street 
  
 

GENERAL BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
  
 
Owner: Kathleen Kash 
  303 Pleasant Street 
  Woodstock, IL 60098 
 
Applicant: Tyler Smith 
  303 Pleasant Street 
  Woodstock, IL 60098 
        
REQUEST:  This appeal is requested from provisions of the Woodstock Unified Development   
Ordinance, Section 7A.3., Bulk and Area Requirements to allow the construction of a deck within 
12.2 feet of a yard abutting a street lot line. 
  
EXISTING ZONING AND LAND USE OF SUBJECT PARCEL:  The property in question is 
zoned R-PUD, Single Family Residential, Planned Unit Development.  The approved PUD allows 
smaller lot sizes than the 7200 SF minimum in the R district and allows single family detached   
residences.  
 
ADJACENT  ZONING AND LAND USE:  The property is surrounded by R zoning with single 
family detached residential uses on all sides. 
 
ANALYSIS:   The property in question is a corner lot, approximately 7450 square  feet in area, and 
is improved with a single family residence with detached garage.     The house is located 12.2 feet 
from the yard abutting a street lot line on the Quinlan Lane side of the property.  The proposed deck 
will extend no further into the setback than the existing house. 
 
The Unified Development Ordinance requires that decks in a front yard or yard abutting a street must 
meet the same setback as the principal structure.  The minimum yard abutting a street setback in the 
R zoning district is 25 feet. 
  
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE GUIDANCE:  Section 4.5.7 states that zoning 
variations may be approved after a finding that the following approval criteria have been addressed.   
 
A. The extent to which particular physical surroundings, shape, or topography of the subject 

property results in practical difficulty or hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a 
mere inconvenience if the strict letter of the zoning regulations are carried out. 

 
B. The extent that the alleged difficulty or hardship is caused by the application of these zoning 



regulations and has not been created by any person having an interest in the property. 
 
C. The extent to which conditions upon which the zoning variation request is based are unique 

to the subject property and would not be applicable to other property within the same zoning 
classification. 

 
D. Whether the variation is based exclusively on a desire to increase the value of the property, 

the monetary gain to be realized from the property, or the ability to alleviate financial 
difficulty experienced by the petitioner when attempting to comply with the City’s zoning 
regulations.  

 
E. The detrimental impact, if any, to the public welfare, to other property, or to improvements in 

the immediate neighborhood which may result if the zoning variation is granted. 
 
F. Whether or not the proposed zoning variation will impair the adequate supply of light and air 

to adjacent property, or substantially increase congestion in public streets, or endanger the 
public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values in the neighborhood; and  

 
G. That the zoning variation will not confer on the applicant any special privilege that is denied 

by these regulations to other lands, structures or buildings of the same zoning classification. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: If the Zoning Board of Appeals agrees that the criteria are met, a 
motion should be made recommending variations of Section 7A.3,  Bulk and Area 
Requirements,      of  the  Woodstock  Unified Development Ordinance to allow construction of 
a 16.2’ by 8.2’ deck within 12.2 feet of a yard abutting a street lot line. 
 
 



 
 
 

303 PLEASANT STREET 
 

  ZONING AND LOCATION MAP 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Subject site 
 



2012 AERIAL MAP   
 

 

Subject site 
 





MINUTES 
CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
June 9, 2014 

City Council Chambers 
 
The regular meeting of the City of Woodstock Zoning Board of Appeals was called to order at 
7:00 PM by Patrick Shea on Monday, June 9, 2014 in the Council Chambers of Woodstock City 
Hall, 121 West Calhoun Street, Woodstock.  A roll call was taken. 
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT: Lawrence Winters, Patrick Shea, Timothy Huffar, 
Howard Rigsby 
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT:  Chairman John Schuh, Thomas Tierney 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  City Planner Nancy Baker  
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  City Clerk Dianne Mitchell 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   
Motion by L. Winters, second by T. Huffar to approve the Minutes of the February 10, 2014 
Woodstock Zoning Board of Appeals meeting as presented. Ayes: P. Shea, L. Winters, T. 
Huffar, H. Rigsby. Nays: None. Absentees: Chairman Schuh, T. Tierney. Abstentions: None. 
Motion carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
P. Shea opened the Public Hearing at 7:03 PM. 
 
A. 303 Pleasant Street—Variation to construct a deck within 12 feet of a yard abutting a street 
lot line. 
 
P. Shea swore in petitioner Tyler Smith, 303 Pleasant St., Woodstock.  T. Smith stated that he is 
looking for a zoning variance to encroach into the setback of his side yard, which runs street side 
of Quinlan Ave., to build a deck.  He advised that the existing problem is the concrete steps 
which are crumbling, the run on them is short making them dangerous and there are no railings.  
He reported that instead of replacing the steps and putting in a railing they thought it would nice 
to have an improvement on the house to add a wooden deck to the side door.   
 
P. Shea questioned what the problem is and T. Smith stated that his setback is 25 feet on the 
street side and the door is 23 feet from the property line so in order to build the deck they would 
need to encroach into the setback. 
 
H. Rigsby questioned how close it will come to the sidewalk and T. Smith advised that it will be 
12.2 feet from their property line and the sidewalk is 2.5 – 3 feet from there.  He stated that it is 
not going to cut out any further than the actual house does. He advised that they aren’t looking to 
go out any deeper than the house is built already. H. Rigsby questioned if the two trees will be 
affected and T. Smith advised that they will not.  
 
L. Winters questioned if it is the back entrance of the house and T. Smith affirmed.  P. Shea 
asked T. Smith to point out where the deck will be on the drawing that was provided.  T. Smith 



Woodstock Zoning Board of Appeals 
6/9/14 

 Page 2 of 2 

reviewed the location of the proposed deck and advised that the stairs will be going towards the 
garage.  He reiterated that the deck won’t go out any further than the house.   
 
P. Shea asked if all of the neighbors had been contacted and N. Baker advised that they had and 
noted that the City did not receive any responses. 
 
P. Shea closed the Public Hearing at 7:11 PM.  
 
The Findings of Fact were completed by the Zoning Board of Appeals and are attached to these 
minutes. 
 
Motion by L. Winters, second by T. Huffar to approve the variations of Section 7A.3, Bulk and 
Area Requirements of the Unified Ordinance to allow construction of a 16.2’ by 8.2’ deck within 
12.2 feet of a yard abutting a street lot line.  A roll call vote was taken. Ayes: P. Shea, L. 
Winters, T. Huffar, H. Rigsby. Nays: None. Absentees: Chairman Schuh, T. Tierney. 
Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
Motion by T. Huffar, second by L. Winters to adjourn the June 9, 2014 Zoning Board of Appeals 
meeting at 7:15 PM. Ayes: P. Shea, L. Winters, T. Huffar, H. Rigsby. Nays: None. Absentees: 
Chairman Schuh, T. Tierney. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
_____________________________ 
Dianne Mitchell 
City Clerk 



Zoning Board of Appeals:  303 Pleasant Street 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals shall complete the enclosed form, which will be included with the Findings 
of Fact Report submitted to the City Council. 
 
Request: Variation from the provisions of the Woodstock Unified Development Ordinance, Section 
7A.3.C, Bulk and Area Requirements, to construct a deck 12.2 feet from a yard abutting a street lot line. 

  
Section 7.3.5 states that the Board may determine and 
recommend to the City Council a variation of the 
regulations of Ordinance when it finds: 

 
Yes 
or  
No 

 
 

Comments 

 
1.  The particular surroundings, shape or topographical 
condition of the specific property involved would result in a 
particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a 
mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was 
carried out; 

 
  

All voted yes 

 
 

 
2.  The conditions upon which the petition for a variation 
are based are unique to the property for which the variation 
is sought and are not applicable, generally to the other 
property with the same zoning classification;  

 
  

 All voted yes 

 
 

 
3.  The purpose of the variation is not based exclusively 
upon a desire to increase the monetary gain realized from 
the property or to alleviate financial difficulty experienced 
by the petitioner in the attempt to comply with the 
provisions of this Ordinance;  

 
 

All voted yes 

 
 

 
4.  The alleged difficulty or hardship is caused by the 
application of this Ordinance and has not been created by 
any person presently having an interest in the property;  

 
All voted yes  

 
 

 
5.  That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental 
to the public welfare or injurious to other property or 
improvements in the neighborhoods in which the property is 
located;  

 
  

All voted yes 

 
 

 
6.  That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate 
supply of light and air to adjacent property, or substantially 
increase the congestion in the public streets or increase the 
danger of fire, or endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or  impair property values with the adjacent 
neighborhood;  

 
 

All voted yes 

 
 

 
7.  That the granting of the variation requested will not 
confer on the applicant any special privilege that is denied 
by the Ordinance to other lands, structures or buildings of 
the same district. 

 

All voted yes 

 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 14-O-_____________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE VARYING PROVISIONS OF 

 THE WOODSTOCK UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE  

FOR PROPERTY AT 303 PLEASANT 

  

Be it ordained by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Woodstock, McHenry County, 

Illinois, as follows: 

 

Section One.   That, Section 7A.3.C, Bulk and Area Standards, of the Woodstock Unified 

Development Ordinance is varied to allow the construction of a 16.2’ x 8.2’ deck within 12.2 

feet of a yard abutting a street lot line. 

  

That part of Lot 111 of the Assessor’s Plat of Section 6 (and other sections) in Township 

44 North, Range 7 East of the Third Principal Meridian, according to the plat thereof 

recorded in Book 3 of Plats,  page 17, described as follows, to-wit:  beginning on the west 

line of North Hoy Avenue (now Pleasant Street) in the City of Woodstock at the 

southeast corner of said Lot 111, and running thence north along said west line of North 

Hoy Avenue (now Pleasant Street) 50 feet: thence west parallel with the south line of said 

Lot 111, 150 feet, more or less, to the northeast corner of Lot 3of Block 3 in John 

Becking’s  First Addition to the City of Woodstock; thence South along the east line of 

said Lot 3, 50 feet to the southeast corner of said Lot 3; thence east along the south line of 

said Lot 111, 150 feet, more or less, to the Place of Beginning; said lot being located in 

the West Half of the Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of said Section 6, in 

McHenry County, Illinois. 

 

 

Section Two.  That the Zoning Board of Appeals on June 9, 2014 conducted a required public 

hearing on said variation and recommended to the City Council that it be approved. 

 

Section Three.  That this ordinance shall be known as Ordinance Number 14-O-_________ and 

shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval as provided by law. 

 

 

 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
Doc.2



Section Four.  Any ordinances or parts thereof or any regulations in conflict with this ordinance 

are hereby repealed. 

 

 

APPROVED AND PASSED by the City Council of the City of Woodstock, McHenry County, 

Illinois, this __________ day of ____________________, 2014. 

 

 

 

 

              

       ______________________________ 

                                          Mayor Brian Sager, Ph.D. 

Ayes: 

Nays: 

Abstentions: 

Absentees: 

 

Attest: 

 

 

________________________________  

City Clerk Dianne Mitchell 

 



 

Memo 
To: Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

From: Paul N. Christensen, Finance Director 

Date: July 3, 2014 

Re: Local Debt Recovery Amendment 

On May 15, 2012, the City passed a Resolution authorizing an agreement between the City of 

Woodstock and the Illinois Office of the Comptroller allowing the State to deduct debt due to 

the City of Woodstock from State payments due to individuals and businesses.  Unfortunately, 

the City at that time faced difficulties in implementing the program.  Much of the difficulties 

resulted from the program being new and the State not allocating proper personnel in the 

Comptroller’s Office to assist the City, specifically related to the uploading of the debt data 

files. 

Since that time, the Comptroller’s Office has allocated additional personnel to this program 

and the City of Woodstock has been assigned a dedicated program manager.  Therefore, 

working with our dedicated program manager, City Staff is in the process of resurrecting the 

program with the goal of having it up and running before December 31, 2014.  This date is 

important since a great deal of debt is recovered during the period of January through April, 

when the State intercepts income tax refunds from individuals and businesses that owe money 

to local municipalities participating in the program. 

Some of the specifics of the program are the debt cannot be more than 7-years old and must be 

more than $9.99.  The debtor will pay a fee of either $15 or $20 on the recovered amount, 

depending on whether an outside agency was used in the matching of the records. 

The City is planning on sending the following uncollected debt to the Comptroller’s Office: 

 Parking Tickets 

 Ordinance Violations 

 Water & Sewer Bills 

 Wireless Alarms Fees 

 Lawn Mowing 

 Damage to City Property 

 Clean Up Costs 

 Billed Services (Snow Removal, Elevator Inspections, Police Special Detail, etc.) 

Finance Department  
       City of   

                

 

121 W. Calhoun Street  
Woodstock, I l l inois   60098  
815/338-4300 
Fax 815/334-2269 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
July 15, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 27c



 

 

Since the City passed the original Resolution, the Comptroller’s Legal Department has 

identified some changes that need to be made to the original agreement.  Therefore, they have 

prepared an amendment that will need to be approved before the City can proceed. 

In order to help in the understanding of the procedures that take place in recovering debt, 

attached is documentation that was prepared by the Comptroller’s Office.  In addition, 

attached is a sample notice that a debtor would receive when a debt is withheld from a State of 

Illinois payment. 

If there should be any further questions, I would be happy to answer them. 

It is recommended that the City Council adopt the attached Resolution identified as 

Document Number _________ a “Resolution Authorizing the Execution of an 

Amendment to the Intergovernmental Agreement with the Illinois Office of the 

Comptroller and the City of Woodstock Regarding Access to the Comptroller’s Local 

Debt Recovery Program.” 

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
3











 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 14 – R - ______ 

 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL 

AGREEMENT WITH THE ILLINOIS OFFICE OF THE 

COMPTROLLER AND THE CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

REGARDING ACCESS TO THE COMPTROLLER’S 

LOCAL DEBT RECOVERY PROGRAM 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

THIS 15
TH

 DAY OF JULY, 2014 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Published in pamphlet form 

By the authority of the Mayor 

And City Council of the 

City of Woodstock 

McHenry County, Illinois 

This ___ day of ________________, 2014 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
Doc.3



 

RESOLUTION NO. 14 – R - ____ 

 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN 

AMENDMENT TO THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH 

THE ILLINOIS OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER AND THE CITY OF 

WOODSTOCK REGARDING ACCESS TO THE COMPTROLLER’S 

LOCAL DEBT RECOVERY PROGRAM 

 

WHEREAS, both the State of Illinois and the City of Woodstock have a responsibility to 

collect debts owed to its respective public bodies; and 

WHEREAS, Illinois Office of the Comptroller operates a system, known as the 

Comptroller’s Offset System (hereinafter, “the System”), for collection of debt owed the State by 

persons receiving payments from the State; and 

WHEREAS, the Illinois General Assembly specifically provided for the ability of the 

City of Woodstock to utilize the System when it amended Section 10.05 and added Section 

10.05d to the State Comptroller Act [P.A. 97-632; 15 ILCS 405/10.05 and 10.05d]; and 

WHEREAS, Illinois Office of the Comptroller and the City of Woodstock are 

empowered under the Illinois Constitution [Ill. Const., Art. VII, Sec. 10], Section 3 of the 

Intergovernmental Cooperation Act [5 ILCS 220/3], and Section 10.05d of the State Comptroller 

Act (hereinafter, “the Act”) [15 ILCS 405/10.05d] to contract with each other in any manner not 

prohibited by law; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Woodstock authorized entering into an intergovernmental 

agreement with the Illinois Office of the Comptroller to participate in the Local Debt Recovery 

Program on May 15, 2012;  



WHEREAS, amendments to the agreement may be required from time to time to address 

program modifications, procedures and other factors. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 

CITY OF WOODSTOCK, McHenry County, Illinois as follows: 

SECTION 1. The attached agreement between the CITY OF WOODSTOCK and the 

Illinois Office of the Comptroller identified as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference, is 

hereby approved and that the Mayor and City Clerk are thereby authorized to execute said 

agreement on behalf of the CITY OF WOODSTOCK; 

SECTION 2: If any section, paragraph, subdivision, clause, sentence or provision of this 

Resolution shall be adjudged by any Court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment 

shall not affect, impair, invalidate or nullify the remainder thereof, which remainder shall remain 

and continue in full force and effect; and 

SECTION 3: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage by a 

majority vote of the corporate authorities.  Publication in pamphlet form is hereby authorized, as 

provided by law. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WOODSTOCK this 15
th

 day of 

July, 2014.  

       CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

 

       APPROVED: 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Dr. Brian Sager, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Dianne Mitchell, City Clerk 



C E R T I F I C A T I O N 

I, Dianne Mitchell, certify that I am the duly appointed City Clerk of the City of 

Woodstock, McHenry County, Illinois 

I further certify that on July 15
th

, 2014 the Corporate Authorities of such City passed and 

approved a RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN AMENDMENT TO 

THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH THE ILLINOIS OFFICE OF THE 

COMPTROLLER AND THE CITY OF WOODSTOCK REGARDING ACCESS TO THE 

COMPTROLLER’S LOCAL DEBT RECOVERY PROGRAM, which provided by its terms that 

it should be published in pamphlet form. 

A copy of this Resolution is also available for public inspection upon request in the office 

of the City Clerk. 

Dated at Woodstock, Illinois, this ___ day of ____________, 2014. 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Dianne Mitchell, City Clerk 

 

(CITY SEAL) 

 



1 

 

AMENDMENT NUMBER ONE TO 

THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

THE ILLINOIS OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER 

AND 

THE CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

 

The parties hereby agree to amend the Intergovernmental Agreement (hereinafter, “the 

Agreement”) between the Illinois Office of the Comptroller and the City of Woodstock, 

(hereinafter referred to as the “local unit”), effective upon execution, as follows: 

 

Article III, Section A, Subsection 1 is amended by inserting the following new Parts (c) and (d): 

 

(c) No debt which has resulted in the issuance of a warrant for the arrest of the debtor 

may be placed or remain on the System so long as that warrant for arrest is active. 

 

(d) No debt which has resulted in the attachment of a lien on any personal property or 

other personal interest of the debtor shall be  placed or remain on the System so 

long as that lien is attached to that property or interest.  

 

Article III, Section A, Subsection 3, Part (a) is amended by deleting that Part and replacing it 

with the following: 

 

 (a) The chief officer of the local unit shall, at the time the debt is referred, certify that 

  the debt is past due and legally enforceable in the amount stated, and that there is  

  no legal bar to collection by State payment offset.   

 

Article III, Section A, Subsection 3, Part (d) is amended by deleting that Part and replacing it 

with the following: 

 

 (d) This delegation of authority shall be made on either electronic or paper based  

  forms provided by the Comptroller.   

 

Article III, Section A, Subsection 3 is amended by inserting the following new Part (f): 

    

 (f) The chief officer hereby acknowledges and agrees that he/she will ensure that  

  the login information into any electronic system provided by the Office of the  

  Comptroller will remain confidential, that only active employees of the local unit  

  may be granted the delegation of authority provided for in Part (c) of this   

  Subsection, and that under no circumstances is a vendor, agent, consultant,  

  collector or any other third-party representative of the local unit authorized to  

  submit or certify debt to IOC on behalf of the local unit.  

 

Article III, Section A is amended by inserting the following new Subsection 5 at the end of the 

Section: 

 

 5. Notification of Change in the Chief Officer 

rstelford
Typewritten Text

rstelford
Typewritten Text

rstelford
Typewritten Text
Exhibit A

rstelford
Typewritten Text



2 

 

 

  (a) The local unit shall be responsible for notifying IOC as soon as is   

   practicable in the event the chief officer named in the Agreement is no  

   longer an officer or employee of the local unit or is otherwise unable to  

   perform the certification process provided for in Subsection 3 of this  

   Section. 

 

  (b) Upon obtaining knowledge that the chief officer is no longer an officer or  

   employee of the local unit or is otherwise unable to  perform the   

   certification process provided for in Subsection 3 of this Section, whether  

   through notification by the local unit or by any other means, IOC shall  

   suspend the authority for the chief officer and any of his or her designees  

   to certify debt to IOC. 

 

  (c) The local unit shall be responsible for updating records with IOC in the  

   event of a change in the chief officer in order to reestablish certification  

   authority and resume collection by State payment offset. 

 

The Article III, Section B header is amended by deleting that header and replacing it with the 

following: 

 

 B.  Operational Requirements  

 

Article III, Section B, Subsection 1 is amended by deleting that subsection and replacing it with 

the following: 

 

 1.  Technical Requirements.  IOC agrees to work with the local unit to facilitate  

  information and data procedures as provided for in this Agreement.  The local unit 

  agrees to adhere to the standards and practices of IOC when transmitting and  

  receiving data.  The chief officer shall assume the responsibility of providing  

  updates to the debtor records on file with IOC in order to ensure an equitable  

  resolution of the debts owed to the local unit. 

 

Article III, Section B, Subsection 2 is amended by deleting that subsection and replacing it with 

the following: 

 

 2. Fee.  A fee may be charged to the debtor and shall be no more than $20 per  

  payment transaction.  The fee will be deducted from the payment to be offset  

  prior to issuance to the local unit. 

 

Article III, Section B, Subsection 4 is amended by deleting that subsection and replacing it with 

the following: 

 

 4. IOC Protest Process.  If a protest is received, IOC will determine the amount due  

  and payable to the local unit.  This determination will be made by a Hearing  

  Officer and will be made in light of all information relating to the transaction in  



3 

 

  the possession of IOC and any other information IOC may request and obtain  

  from the local unit and the debtor subject to the offset.  If IOC requests   

  information from the local unit relating to the offset, the local unit will respond  

  within sixty (60) days of IOC’s request. IOC may grant the local unit an   

  additional sixty (60) day extension for time to respond.  The local unit shall  

  complete an adjudication review with IOC in order to evaluate the local unit and  

  the protest process prior to the offset of any State payments. 

 

Article III, Section B, Subsection 7 is amended by deleting that subsection and replacing it with 

the following: 

 

 7. Debt Priorities.  If a debtor has more than one local unit debt, the debt with the  

  oldest date of entry on the System shall be offset first.    

 

Article III, Section B, Subsection 10 is amended by deleting that subsection and replacing it with 

the following: 

 

 10.   Local Unit Refunds. The local unit is responsible for refunding monies to the  

  debtor, including any and all administrative fees collected by IOC, if an offset  

  occurred due to inaccurate debt information or over collection, and the local unit  

  has already received payment from IOC.  IOC will only refund monies in the  

  event that a payment has not yet been made to the local unit.   

 

Article III, Section B, is amended by inserting the following new Subsection 11 at the end of that 

Section:  

 

 11. Third-Party Matching Services.  IOC may utilize the services of a third-party  

  vendor to assist in the identification of individual debtors.  The local unit   

  shall review and add any valid matches which result from the assistance of the  

  third-party vendor within 30 days of receipt of the updated records.  If the local  

  unit is unable to add the valid matches within 30 days of receipt of the updated  

  records, the chief officer must notify IOC as to the reason the local unit is not able 

  to add the records in addition to a time frame for adding the records in the future. 

 

All other terms and conditions of the Agreement thereto shall remain in full force and effect.  

This amendment contains all of the revised terms and conditions agreed upon by the named 

parties. 

 

[Signatures Page Follows] 



4 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Illinois Office of the Comptroller and the City of Woodstock by 

the following officials sign their names and agree to the terms and conditions of the above 

referenced amendments. 

 

 

ILLINOIS OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER 

 

 

By:  _____________________________________  Date:  ______________________ 

 

Name: Judy Baar Topinka 

 

Title: Comptroller 

 

 

CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

 

 

By:  ______________________________________  Date: _______________________ 

 

Name: Brian Sager Ph.D. 

 

Title: Mayor           



 

Memo 
To: Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

From: Paul N. Christensen, Finance Director 

Date: July 2, 2014 

Re: Outsourcing of Utility Bills 

The City is currently utilizing postcards for the mailing of its water and sewer bills.  While this 

billing method has been used for several years, the City is experiencing problems with the 

Post Office’s automated machinery pulling away portions of the top layer of the postcard, 

which removes the account number and/or the amount due.  This causes the resident to have to 

call City Hall to determine the missing information.  In addition, there is some concern that the 

current postcards do not comply with the Federal Red Flag rules, which are written to prevent 

unintended access to personal information including utility billing information.  Finally, 

postcards are such an old-style bill that many software vendors are phasing out their support of 

this billing method.  In fact, MSI, our current financial software vendor, will not offer 

postcards as a printing option in their upgraded product. 

As a result of the problems experienced with postcard billing, the City Administration 

investigated full-page billing and subsequently received a quote from Third Millennium 

Associates to replace the postcard with a full-page bill.  As part of the quote, Third 

Millennium will be responsible for the full assembly of the bills along with mailing them on 

behalf of the City.  Third Millennium has extensive experience in providing this service for 

numerous other municipalities in the Chicagoland area.   

While moving to a full-page bill will alleviate the aforementioned problems currently 

experienced with postcard billing, other advantages include a more professional look over the 

current postcard; a significantly larger area on the bill for the City to send messages to 

residents of upcoming events, etc.; and the ability to include other notices in the water bill, 

such as a flyer.  The addition of a flyer would cost $.03 per item, plus the cost to have the item 

produced. 

Third Millennium will also include a return envelope for the residents to use to mail back their 

payments.  This envelope will not be included for residents who have signed up for direct 

deposit.  When questioned about the possibility of not including a return envelope and how 

this would affect pricing, Third Millennium stated that since they buy all their supplies in bulk, 

there would be very little savings, only ½ cent per bill.  Based on this small savings, it doesn’t 

Finance Department  
       City of   

                

 

121 W. Calhoun Street  
Woodstock, I l l inois   60098  
815/338-4300 
Fax 815/334-2269 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
July 15, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 27d



 

justify eliminating the inclusion of an envelope.  Providing a return envelope is a nice service 

to residents and makes it much more convenient for them to mail in their payment. 

The City’s current cost of printing and mailing postcards, including late notices, is estimated 

to be $5,500.  While Third Millennium printing fees are actually less than the printing cost of 

the postcards, higher postage rates for a full-size envelope will offset any of these savings.   

If the City takes on the billing of garbage tote service from MDC, the City will receive a $0.50 

a month savings per tote.  The City Administration is proposing to use $0.30 of this savings to 

pay for the additional postage cost, with the remaining $0.20 being given back to the resident 

to offset the increase in cost due to MDC providing port-a-potty service to the City parks. 

Attached to this memo is a cost analysis, indicating that the City could potentially receive an 

additional $7,800 a year after the increased postage fee to offset administrative costs.  While it 

is not the intent to bill for tote service to make a profit, the City should still retain this amount, 

at least in the first year, in order to cover any potential delinquencies.  Attached is also a 

sample of a bill from the Village of Cary that will be used as a template for the City’s bill if 

this proposal is approved. 

Based on the problems the City is having with the postcards peeling, potential Red Flag issues, 

and indications that future software versions will not support postcard printing, the City should 

consider outsourcing its bill printing to a full-page bill using Third Millennium.   

It is recommended that the City Council approve a motion to allow the City Manager to 

execute the attached agreement, identified as Document No. ___, with Third Millennium 

to provide utility billing. 

If there should be any further questions or concerns, I would be happy to answer them. 

 

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
4



Cost Analysis of Outsourcing Bills

Water Bills Reminder 3rd Notice Total Cost

Total Water Accounts 8,400              

Monthly Reminder Notices 450                         300                         

Outsourcing Cost

Set up Cost 25.00$                   25.00$                   

Cost of Printing 0.109$            0.109$                   0.109$                   

Cost of mailing 0.381$            0.381$                   0.381$                   

Total Cost per Item 0.490$            0.490$                   0.490$                   

Outsourcing Cost per Year 16,464$          2,946$                   2,064$                   21,474$        

Current Postcard Cost

Cost of Postcards 0.08$              0.08$                      0.08$                      

Printing Cost 0.01$              0.01$                      0.01$                      

Cost of Mailing 0.28$              0.28$                      0.34$                      

Total Cost per Item 0.37$              0.37$                      0.43$                      

Current Cost per Year 12,432$          1,998$                   1,548$                   15,978$        

Increase (Decrease) In Cost 4,032$            948$                       516$                       5,496$          

Revenue from Billing Waste

Tote System # of Accounts 3,700              

Price Deduction given by MDC 0.50$              

Reduction Returned to Resident (0.20)$             

Difference 0.30$              

Revenue Generated Per Year 13,320$          13,320$        

Additional Revenues to Offset Administrative Costs 7,824$          



Village Survey - visit www.caryillinois to complete a survey, your feedback is appreciated.

Advanced Disposal Yard Waste Collection runs through November 28 on your regular collection day.

May 1, 2014 3% Water, Sewer And User Fee Rate Increases
New rates will be reflected on your August 2014 water & sewer billing.

May-October 2014 Village Curbside Brush Pick Up Collection
N.E. of the railroad tracks along Rte 14 begins Monday wk of June 2nd / wk of July 7th
S.W. of the railroad tracks along Rte 14 begins Monday wk of June 16th / wk of July 21st

NAME:
SERVICE ADDRESS:

BILL DATE: 06/02/2014

ACCOUNT NUMBER:

METER INFORMATION:
CURRENT READING .............................................
PREVIOUS READING ............................................
USAGE 7.........................................................................

BILLING INFORMATION:
CURRENT READING DATE 04/25/2014........................
PREVIOUS READING DATE 02/26/2014.......................
TYPE OF READING ACTUAL.........................................

PAST DUE BALANCE $0.00.................................................................................................................

CURRENT CHARGES:
WATER $26.67........................................................
SEWER $21.84........................................................
USER FEE $4.28.....................................................

TOTAL CURRENT CHARGES $52.79

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE BY 06/30/2014 $52.79

TOTAL DUE IF PAID AFTER DUE DATE $58.07

SERVICE ADDRESS:
ACCOUNT NUMBER:

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE
BY 06/30/2014

$52.79

AMOUNT PAID

000001010262700300052798

AADFAADADFDDDTFFFATFTTATFTFTTFDDATDFTFATTTADAAATADTFDTDAAAFFAAFTT
***********************SCH 5-DIGIT 60013 14 1 (0003561)

26-XXX-03



  Utility Billing Production Agreement 
Third Millennium Associates, Inc. 

and the City of Woodstock  
                   
This agreement, which is of three years duration, will automatically renew after the original three-year 
period and on a month to month basis thereafter. This production agreement, which is entered into 
this______day of______________2014 by and between Third Millennium Associates, Inc. (hereinafter 
referred to as “TMA”) and the City of Woodstock, (hereinafter referred to as “CITY”).  For 
consideration of payment, TMA will provide to CITY, Information technology services, laser imaging 
and mailing services for the purpose of rendering Utility billing invoices and other items as detailed on 
the attached Schedule “A”.   
 
1. Pre-agreement Confidentiality 
 
Confidentiality and non-disclosure are defined by mutual agreement between TMA and CITY per the 
attached agreement document dated and signed on the _____ day of _______________, 2014 by TMA 
and CITY.  Also refer to paragraph 10 of this agreement. 
 
2. Pricing Structure 
 
The prices on which products and services will be provided by TMA to CITY are set forth on the 
attached Schedule B. 
 
3. Postage Cost 
 
Postage costs are not included in the attached listed prices and will be paid by CITY directly to the 
USPS via C.A.P.S. (Centralized Account Processing System). The City will be required to open and 
maintain a C.A.P.S. account. TMA will provide the 3602 document for your review, with the monthly 
postage required for your Utility bills and / or other TMA imaged mailing on behalf of CITY.  CITY 
will pay the estimated monthly postage directly to the USPS, via the C.A.P.S. system.  The USPS will 
report directly to CITY all amounts charged to the CITY postal account. In addition, TMA will open a 
first class Pre-Sort Permit on your behalf, the cost of which will be billed to the City via Invoice. 
 
4. Payment Terms 
 
Products and services provided by TMA shall be cumulatively billed on a monthly basis.  The TMA 
Invoice format shall detail each individual mailing and the dates of the provided service.  All correctly 
rendered TMA monthly invoices shall be paid by CITY in accordance with the Illinois Prompt 
Payment Act. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. TMA Quality Commitment 
 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
Doc.4



TMA guarantees that it will maintain consistent standards of quality workmanship and warrants the 
accurate and timely processing, printing and mailing of the document as outlined in paragraph seven 
(7) and that its products and services will be free from defect in materials and workmanship. TMA 
does not warrant that the document contents are fit, legally or otherwise, for their intended purpose or 
use. 
 
6. Limits of Liability 
 
TMA agrees to use all reasonable efforts to provide timely services, but will not be held liable for 
errors of omission resulting from inaccuracies or defects in any CITY billing data file, or for errors, 
omissions or delays resulting from improper input and output data controls and procedures used by 
CITY or given to TMA by CITY. 
 
TMA shall not be held responsible for any loss or delay or any default caused by acts of God or any 
other circumstances outside TMA’s control which includes but is not limited to fire, flood, or labor 
from usual sources of supply, government restrictions, or electrical, mechanical or computer software 
failure that is unavoidable or beyond reasonable control of TMA.  TMA agrees to use all reasonable 
efforts to provide timely production services at an alternate site in the event that their production site is 
unusable due to the aforementioned acts of God or any circumstances outside TMA’s control. 
 
TMA’S maximum liability for any and all claims arising from the performance of its obligations shall 
not exceed the purchase price of the services provided. 
 
7. Division of Responsibilities 
 
 7A. TMA Responsibilities 
 

7A-1. To write the software required to convert the CITY Utility billing file to the 
required laser image format. 

   
 7A-2. To write software that will allow CITY’S Utility billing files to be processed 

through Postal software for the purpose of reducing CITY’S postage to the 
minimum allowable postage piece rate. 
 

 7A-3. To procure all materials required to produce and to mail the Utility bills.  This 
includes the Utility billing invoice, the No.10 window envelope and the No.9 
courtesy reply envelope.  TMA will not guarantee the performance of materials 
not produced by TMA. 

 
7A-4. TMA will notify CITY of the availability of record count and control totals for 

the Utility billing file no later than four (4) hours after receipt of the file. 
 

7A-5 TMA will laser image and mail all CITY Utility bills within forty-eight (48) post 
office operating hours after receipt of CITY control total / record count sign off.  
Failing to do so will cause TMA a monetary penalty.  The penalty is calculated 
by multiplying the late billing file’s dollar value, times CITY’S Bank daily 
earnings credit rate, times the number of day(s) late.   

 
7A-6. TMA will provide our employees the training to ensure the confidentiality of 

CITY information.       
 



7A-7. TMA will maintain effective and timely communications with CITY in all  
 matters pertaining to the responsibilities listed herein. 

 
 7B. CITY Responsibilities 
 

   7B-1. To provide TMA, at the project initiation, with consistently populated Utility 
billing files with all the applicable billing business rules and all of the Utility 
billing variations and exceptions for the purpose of laser imaging Utility bills.   
Any subsequent billing file changes, billing business rules changes or additional 
changes and or variations will be billed to client at the prevailing programming 
rates. CITY ERP Utility Billing software upgrades, CITY ERP Utility Billing 
Software conversions or CITY ERP Utility Billing file layout changes, or 
corrupt data from the CITY ERP Utility Billing Software causing TMA to 
change programming to accept these modified or corrupt files, troubleshoot 
these corrupt files or fix these files will be billed to the CITY at the prevailing 
programing rates. 

 
7B-2. To provide to TMA a three (3) hour response via the TMA Gateway verifying 

the record count and control totals as stated in 7A-4. 
 
  7B-3. To maintain a C.A.P.S. postal account. 
 

7B-4. To pay all correctly rendered TMA invoices in accordance with the Illinois  
Prompt Payment Act.      

8. Price Changes 
 
The prices listed on Schedule B shall be subject to review each year on the anniversary date of this 
agreement.  That review shall determine if there were any increases or decreases in the cost of paper, 
production, transportation or any other cost component of the herein contained products and/or 
services.  Prices may also be reviewed if the agreement quantity as stated in SCHEDULE “B” varies by 
more than ten percent.  
 
TMA must provide third-party documentation of cost increases to CITY.  That documentation shall 
consist of letters of price increase or decrease from paper mills, articles from the Wall Street Journal or 
any other legitimate and universally accepted source.  In the absence of the above documentation, the 
(J.P. Morgan-Chase Chicago area consumer price index CPI) will be used as the source of price 
increase or decrease. Any price increase above CPI will allow the city the option of terminating the 
agreement within 30 days of receipt of the notice from TMA. 
 
9. Renegotiations and Cancellation 
 
In the event either party is in breach of any of the terms contained herein, the non-breaching party shall 
give written notice of said breach to the breaching party.  The breaching party shall have ten (10) days 
to cure the breach.  In the event said breach is not cured within ten (10) days of notice, the non-
breaching party may then give thirty (30) days written notice of cancellation of this Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
10. Post-agreement Confidentiality  
 
In the event of cancellation or expiration of this agreement, TMA shall return to CITY all materials and 
information pertaining to the performance of this agreement.  These materials shall include, but are not 
limited to, all electronic media, all printed material, all notes, memos or other sources of CITY 
confidential information. 
 
In no instance, prior to, during, or after the conclusion of this agreement, shall TMA offer for sale or in 
any other manner disclose to any third party the CITY document file or any other such CITY files, 
whether written or in electronic media format. 
 
11. Materials Production 
 
Prior to materials production runs, TMA will notify CITY in writing of the items to be produced, 
production quantities planned and the estimated period of materials consumption.  TMA will base its 
materials production quantities on projections using current semi-annualized Utility billing volume. 
 
Any materials (i.e., non imaged forms, envelopes, etc.) that have been produced specifically and 
exclusively for CITY’S use will be paid for by CITY and at CITY’S written request will be returned by 
TMA to CITY upon cancellation or expiration of this agreement. 
 
12. Other Provisions 
 
This agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter 
hereof and supersedes all prior agreements.  No amendment, supplement, modification, waiver or 
termination of this agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party to be bound 
thereby.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a 
waiver of any other provision of this agreement, whether or not similar, nor shall such waiver 
constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
This agreement shall be construed and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Illinois. 
 
If any provision, clause or part of this agreement, or the application thereof under certain circumstances 
is held illegal or unenforceable, the remainder of this agreement, or the application of such provision, 
clause or part under certain circumstances, shall not be affected thereby. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the duly authorized representatives of the parties have executed the 
Agreement effective as of the date last written below.  
 
 
 
AUTHORIZATION 
 
THIRD MILLENNIUM ASSOCIATES, INC.        
 

Signature:    
 
Name:   Lance Leader    
 
Title:   President     
 
Date:   June 4, 2014    
 
 
 
CITY OF WOODSTOCK                                             
 
Signature:         
 
Name:          
 
Title:          
 
Date:          



 
Schedule A 
 
Materials to be provided by TMA: 
 

 
M1. 8 1/2 X 11” Utility bill printed two colors on the face and one color on the back.  Paper is 20lb. 

MOCR  bond, with a cross perforation to create the remittance portion of the document. 
 
M2.      No.10 window envelope printed one color on the face.  Paper is 24 lb. white-wove. 
 
M3. No.9 courtesy reply envelope printed one (1) color on the face.  Paper is 24 lb. white-wove. 
 

                  M4. With mutual agreement, CITY may authorize TMA to provide certain materials for new 
projects or variations of the billing project.  These material descriptions may be attached to, 
and become a part of Schedule “A”. 

 
 M5. Reminder and 3rd notices to be printed two colors on the face and one color on the back.  Paper 

is 20lb. MOCR  bond, with a cross perforation to create the remittance portion of the 
document. 

 
 
Services to be provided by TMA: 
 
S1. To write CITY Utility billing file conversion software that will allow the laser imaging of 

CITY Utility bills per the charges stated in Schedule “B”. 
 
S2. To write the required software that will allow CITY’S billing file to be processed by TMA 

postal software. 
 
S3. To process the CITY data file using TMA postal sort application software to reduce the CITY’S 

postage rate to the minimum automation rate amount allowed by the USPS. 
 
S4. To laser image CITY Utility bills in quantities and frequencies as stated in schedule “B” of this 

agreement. 
 
S5. To insert, seal, tray, sleeve, band, label, palletize and prepare USPS form 3602 and deliver to 

the US Post office all pieces laser imaged with respect to item S4.  
 
S6. To insert additional pieces into the outgoing No.10 billing envelope as directed by CITY per the 

conditions and charges as stated in Schedule “B” of this agreement. 
    

S7. With mutual written agreement, CITY may authorize TMA to provide additional services and / 
or products for new projects or variations of this billing project. These service descriptions may 
be attached to, and become a part of Schedule “A”. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
SCHEDULE B - Pricing 
 
The prices contained herein are based on an average annual usage of 30,000 Utility bills.  Any variance 
in the above quantities in excess of ten (10) percent per agreement year will be cause for a price review.  
There will be no more than one production run per month for the above stated item.  Each Utility 
billing unit shall consist of the components described in Schedule A.   
 
1B. CITY Utility bills will be laser imaged and mailed at a cost of 10.9 cents per Utility bill 

(excluding postage).  Prices are based on a quarterly billing cycle.  Each month TMA will bill 
2,000 utility accounts in one production run.  There is a one-time billing system set up charge 
of $2,695 in accordance with section 7B-1. This set up fee is waived per Lance Leader. This 
Utility bill set-up fee pays for a complete pre-production test of all systems and components.  
Included are all Schedule “A” items and printed matter proofs.  Also included are the consulting 
services to coordinate MSI software, Bank and TMA software during the implementation.  
Extensive software tests to insure data input and output integrity.  TMA, MSI and CITY shall 
develop an edit process to verify all record counts and various control totals.  The above 
procedures will allow each party to comply with their responsibilities as stated in Paragraph 
seven (7).  There will be a $25.00 fee per production run if you chose to laser image late notices 
and / or shut-off notices as an additional and separate run each month. Should CITY require 
changes to the Regular utility bills, or require the addition of past-due or shut-off notices to be 
designed and implemented and a later time than initial implementation, these set-ups will be 
quoted at the time of work and our prevailing programming rates. TMA will also include 
conversion to Smart Fusion should the City in the future, switch to Smart Fusion, at no 
additional cost. 

 
2B. There will be a minimum charge of $100 per month on items that do not total this in a single 

month. 
                                                                                             
3B. The TMA PDF electronic utility bill archival/Adobe Acrobat retrieval system will be provided 

at no cost. 
 
4B. A separate insertion charge will be applied for any additional item inserted into the out-going 

billing envelope.  Insertion items must physically qualify for use on our insertion equipment.      
The insertion charge is 3.5 cents per item.  This charge does not include the cost of supplying 
the additional item(s) to be inserted.  

 
5B. Should CITY choose to provide the printed item to be inserted, there will be a $95 flat handling 

charge added to the insertion cost of the item being provided. The insertion cost of a CITY 
provided insert will be 3.0 cents per item. The cartons should be properly labeled on the outside 
showing full product description and quantity contained therein. Each shipment must also 
contain a packing list with product description and quantity contained in each carton, total 
cartons and total weight. The item must be properly packaged, folded and oriented for use on a 
high speed multi-station inserter. 

 
                   6B. With mutual written agreement, CITY may authorize TMA to provide certain products and 

services for new or revised projects.  The TMA pricing structure for these projects may be 
attached to, and become a part of, Schedule “B”. 



 

Memo 
To: Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

From: Paul Christensen, Finance Director 

Date: June 30, 2014 

Re: Proposed Ordinance Revising portions of the City’s Water and Sewer Code 

With the recent approval of the MDC contract, the City now has the opportunity to include a 

resident’s garbage charge on their Water and Sewer bill.  In order to effectuate this change, a 

modification to the City Code is required.  The proposed Ordinance would prioritize the order in 

which payments will be applied with a payment first being used to pay the garbage rates then the 

sewer rates and lastly, the water rates.  This change will allow the City a better opportunity to collect 

past due amounts as the amount remaining on the utility bill will always include a water 

component, which may be collected using the City’s shut-off and lien procedures. 

Since a change was needed to address the billing of garbage, a review of the entire code related to 

water billing was conducted.  After this review a few other revisions were identified for 

modification.  The City Administration feels these modifications will allow for better operations 

and in certain areas allow for a small additional amount of revenue to be generated while continuing 

the goal of providing customers the best possible level of service at a reasonable price.   

Listed below is a detailed description of the changes being proposed by section number as it is 

presented in the proposed Ordinance.   

Section 1: Amends City Code Section: 6.4C.2, Installation of Meters: 

This section replaces the set meter price schedule, which becomes out of date quickly as prices 

change, with the new wording, the price is based on the City’s costs plus a 10% administrative fee. 

Wording is removed that the water meters are to be “maintained, and replaced by the property 

owner.”  This is to reflect the City’s new meter testing program.  The City Administration is 

concerned that the rate payer will be willing to replace a defective meter that has failed the meter 

testing.  In addition, the impacted company will likely face an additional burden since the company 

will already face a significantly higher water bill in the future.  Residents and businesses will still be 

responsible for the original meter cost. 

Finance Department  
       City of   

                

 

121 W. Calhoun Street  
Woodstock, I l l inois   60098  
815/338-4300 
Fax 815/334-2269 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
July 15, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 27e



Section 2: Amends City Code paragraph A in Section: 6.4D.9, Utility Service Procedures: 

A change is made that defines a user as each unit or dwelling when connected to a single meter for 

minimum usage purposes.  This change will bring the City’s Ordinances into uniformity with 

current practices.  For example, a 10-unit apartment complex receives a base quarterly minimum 

charge of $223.50 and is not billed the additional amount of $5.07 per 100 cubic feet, the standard 

over the minimum charge, until that base amount is reached.  This billing process is based on the 

limitations in the City’s utility billing software for calculating minimum bills.  Again this change 

will not increase a customer’s bill but bring the Code into compliance with current practices. 

Section 3: Amends City Code paragraph G in Section: 6.4D.9, Liens: 

The current fee contained in the City Code does not represent the current fee being charged by the 

City as the County Recorder has raised their filing fees.  Instead of needing to constantly change the 

Ordinance when the County raises its fees, the section is rewritten where the charge would be 

calculated using the current County recording fee plus a $50 administrative fee.  

This Section is also proposed to be modified so that it would be the responsibility of the owner to 

file the release of lien.  The current procedure is that after an owner pays the amount due for a lien, a 

release of lien is completed and an employee of the City travels to the County building to record the 

document.  The problem is that often these payments are paid just before a closing and the owner 

needs them to be filed immediately.  This often causes a staffing issue since an employee will need 

to leave the Finance Department regardless of any other projects that may be in the process of being 

completed.  The proposed change would solve this staffing issue along with saving a significant 

amount of City manpower.  It is important to remember that these liens are placed as a last resort of 

collecting past due balances after a significant amount of labor has been spent trying to collect the 

debt using other methods such as numerous notices. 

Section 4: Amends City Code paragraph L in Section: 6.4D.9, Reinstatement of Service: 

The first change in this section is to add a $25.00 fee to customers who wait until a Public Works 

employee is at their premises and then requests that the City not shut-off their water in exchange for 

paying their bill immediately at City Hall.  While the City appreciates that they are paying their bill 

and does not want to discourage this conduct, there is a cost to the utility system by providing this 

manpower.  In addition, it is often the same customers who use this technique as a method of 

delaying payment until the last moment.    

Currently when a customer has their water turned off, the Finance Department stops billing for any 

amount.  Language has been added to continue to bill customers the minimum for water and sewer 

after their water has been shut-off.  The minimum bill is in place to pay a portion of the 

infrastructure of the water and sewer system that is needed to meet the anticipated use.  Although a 

customer’s water is turned off, they should still be required to pay this fee since the infrastructure is 

still required to be in place and maintained for when their water is turned back on.   

The language was also modified to remove the Community Development Department’s 

requirement of red tagging buildings, as it was determined to not be needed and could potentially 

cause disputes with shut-off customers. 



Section 5: Amends City Code paragraph M in Section: 6.4D.9, Deposit: 

A paragraph was added allowing for a deposit to be collected from tenants at the landlord’s request.  

If the City begins billing for garbage service, landlords will ultimately be responsible for the entire 

bill including garbage.  The City Administration has been contacted by one landlord who is 

concerned with this added liability.  In order to mitigate some of this liability, a request was made to 

allow the City to collect a deposit for this service. 

Current plans are to bill for quarterly garbage totes after the service is provided.  This decision was 

reached since water and sewer is billed after the fact and our system will not allow for some 

services to be pre-billed and some post-billed.  MDC currently pre-bills for garbage service.  

Therefore requiring a deposit from some customers at the request of the landlord would not be 

much different than the current MDC practice of pre-billing for service. 

Section 6: Amends City Code paragraph O in Section: 6.4D.9, Final Bills: 

Changes were made to strengthen the language requiring that Utility customers notify the City of 

the sale of real estate property in order to receive a final bill and requires that this bill be paid at or 

prior to closing.  Lastly, the new proposed language reiterates that the new owner will be 

responsible for the prior owner’s bill if this City Code section is not followed related to having the 

final water and sewer bill paid at or by the time of closing. 

Section 7: Adds To City Code Section: 6.4D.15, Payment Application Order: 

As was described in the introduction, if the City begins billing for garbage, a change is required to 

specify the order in which payments are applied.  With garbage being applied first, the City will 

have a better opportunity to collect past due amounts as the amount remaining on the utility bill will 

always have a water component, which will allow the City to proceed with water shut-off 

procedures. 

Section 8: Adds to City Code Section 6.4.D.16, Monthly Tote Garbage Charges: 

This proposed change adds a section for the billing of quarterly tote garbage charges along with 

collection procedures.  The first paragraph recites the Illinois Compiled Statue that gives the City 

the authorization for the billing of refuse while the second paragraph sets the price.  The prices 

recited is the amount the City will pay MDC for monthly tote service minus $0.20, which is a 

portion of the $0.50 concession the City is receiving for processing the monthly garbage tote billing 

on the City’s water and sewer bills.  This rate of $23.00 per month is same amount that current 

residents are paying now.  The remaining $0.30 is being retained by the City to pay for the 

outsourcing of billing and moving away from postcards along with covering uncollectable quarterly 

tote charges.  A clause has also been added to this section for future increases that the MDC contract 

contains so that Council will not need to amend this section for the next 7 years. 

Section 9: Adds to City Code Section 6.4.C.9, Inspections, Access to Premises: 

This proposed change adds a section to better document the City’s authority to enter a customer’s 

premises to inspect, maintain, and or replace water meters.  This section also adds a fine for those 

who refuse to allow the City access along with a formal procedure for terminating water service for 



those that refuse access.  The proposed change also mandates that customers have a right to appeal 

termination of service to the City Manager. 

Notification: 

As has been the City’s practice in the past, the City Administration will utilize a three-prong 

approach to properly notify the public of the proposed billing procedure changes.  Press releases 

will be sent by the City Administration with copies of this report and the attached Ordinance to the 

local newspapers.  In addition, an article will be included in the City Scenes, which will explain the 

proposed modifications to the City’s billing procedures.  Finally, this report and the Ordinance will 

be included on the website and a message will be included on future water bills notifying the public 

of its availability. 

Conclusion: 

The proposed modification to the City Code will allow the City to operate in a more efficient 

manner.  While some of the proposed changes will increase charges for a small number of the 

City’s customers, these increases are impacting those who are not paying their utility bills on a 

timely basis.  It should be known that it takes a tremendous amount of time and resources to attempt 

to collect this debt and it is only fair that they pay an increased amount to compensate the City for 

this time. 

Recommendation: 

It is recommended that the City Council adopt the attached Ordinance identified as 

Document # ______, “An Ordinance Amending Portions of Articles 4C and 4D of Chapter 4, 

Municipal Water and Sewer, of Title 6, Public Ways and Property, of the Woodstock City Code 

Regarding Water and Sewer Utility Service.” 

 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions. 

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
5



 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 14-O-____ 
 

An Ordinance Amending Portions of Articles 4C and 4D of Chapter 4, Municipal 

Water and Sewer, of Title 6, Public Ways and Property, of the Woodstock 

City Code Regarding Water and Sewer Utility Service 
 

BE IT ORDAINED by the CITY COUNCIL of the CITY OF WOODSTOCK, McHenry County, Illinois, 

as follows: 

 

SECTION 1: That Section 6.4C.2, Installation of Meters, of the Woodstock City Code shall be amended 

to read as follows: 

 

In addition to any and all other charges for water service, tapping fees, service connection 

fees, and all other charges, there is hereby imposed the following fees to provide and 

install a water meter upon a premises that is connected to the city water supply system.  

All water meters, one and one-half inches (1 ½”) in size or less, shall be installed by the 

Department of Public Works.  The fee to residents shall be the cost to the City of the 

meter and installation of the meter plus a 10% administrative fee. 

 

Meters in excess of one and one-half inches (1 ½") in size shall be purchased and 

installed by the property owner, solely at the property owner's expense. Such meters must 

record in standard units of one hundred (100) cubic feet and shall be inspected and 

approved by the Department of Public Works within five (5) business days of the time of 

installation. Such meters shall be immediately replaced by the property owner upon 

receipt of written notice from the Department of Public Works if not properly installed, if 

the equipment does not meet the city standards or if the meter is found at any time to not 

be accurately recording the water being used on the premises.  

 

SECTION 2: That paragraph A in Section 6.4D.9, Utility Service Procedures, of the Woodstock City 

Code shall be amended to read as follows: 

 

A. Definitions: 

1. For purposes of this Article, business day shall mean Monday through 

Friday unless one of those days fall on a legal holiday. 

2. User is any consumer of the water system whether commercial, industrial, 

or residential.  Each dwelling unit of a residential building having two (2) 

or more dwelling units shall be considered a separate and individual user 

for base fee purposes.  Each separate commercial or industrial unit in a 

commercial or industrial building shall also be considered a separate and 

individual user for base fee purposes whether or not they have a separate 

water meter. 

 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
Doc.5



 

SECTION 3: That Paragraph G in Section 6.4D.9, Liens, of the Woodstock City Code shall be 

amended to read as follows:  

 

G.  Liens: Delinquent charges may constitute a lien upon the real estate upon or for 

which utility service is supplied.  Prior to the recording of a lien, the City will 

send to the owner or owners of record of the real estate, as referenced by the 

taxpayer’s identification number, 1) a copy of each delinquency notice sent to the 

person who is delinquent in paying the charges or other notice sufficient to 

inform the owner or owners of record that the charges have become delinquent 

and 2) a notice that unpaid charges may create a lien on the real estate pursuant to 

65 ILCS 5/11-139-8.  At the discretion of the Finance Director, the City will file 

a lien in the office of recorder of deeds in McHenry County for delinquent water 

charges. After filing the lien, the Finance Director, or designee, shall send a copy 

of the lien to the owner of record that is on file with the City. This notice shall 

state: 1) a description of such real estate sufficient for its identification, 2) the 

amount of money due for such service, and 3) the date when such amount 

became delinquent. The City shall send a copy of the lien to the owner or owners 

of record of the real estate whose name or names are on file with the City. The 

Finance Director is authorized to release any lien recorded for delinquent water 

and sewer service charges and penalties plus the cost of placing the lien on the 

property and an additional fifty dollar ($50.00) administrative fee.  Owner of the 

property will be responsible for the filing of the release of lien including any fees 

associated with this release.  Remaining balances of customers who default in 

defined payment plans are subject to this subsection.   

 

SECTION 4: That Paragraph L in Section 6.4D.9, Reinstatement of Service, of the Woodstock 

City Code shall be amended to read as follows:  

 

L.  Reinstatement Of Service: Upon payment to the Finance Director of the full 

delinquency, including a fifty dollar ($50.00) reinstatement fee and, when 

applicable, a twenty five dollar ($25.00) posting fee, the City will reinstate the 

utility service.  In the event reinstatement does not take place during regular 

business hours, the charges for the reinstatement fee will be increased by fifty 

percent (50%).  Upon payment of the fees and reinstatement of utility service, the 

building shall, so far as the City is concerned, be again "fit for human 

occupancy” in this regard only.  

 

Should a City Employee be sent to a property to turn off the water after proper 

notices and the water is left on because a payment arrangement is made at this 

point, a $25.00 dispatch fee will be charged.  This fee will be in addition to the 

$25.00 posting fee, if applicable, but will be in lieu of the $50.00 reinstatement 

fee. 

 

Termination of service for any reason including nonpayment will not eliminate 

customer obligation from being charged as defined in section 6.4D.3. 

 

SECTION 5: That Paragraph M in Section 6.4D.9, Deposit, of the Woodstock City Code shall be 

amended to read as follows:  

 

M.  Deposit:  At the discretion of the Finance Director, delinquent customers may be 



required to place on deposit with the City an amount equal to the estimated user 

charges for three (3) billing periods.  The user shall continue to pay the charges 

assessed hereunder by the City thereafter as billed, and after eight (8) billing 

periods of prompt payment of such charges with no delinquency in excess of 

thirty (30) days, the deposit shall be refunded to the person having made such 

deposit. 

 

At the request of a landlord, a deposit can be collected from their tenants in an 

amount up to the estimated user charges for a (3) month billing period including 

monthly Tote service, if applicable.  Funds will be returned to the tenant, minus 

any outstanding charges, when either the tenant moves out of the premises or the 

City determines that a deposit is no longer necessary.  Refunds will be processed 

within 30 days of such event. 

 

All refunds of deposits will not include interest. 

 

SECTION 6: That Paragraph O in Section 6.4D.9, Final Bills, of the Woodstock City Code shall 

be amended to read as follows: 

 

O.  Final Bills:  No transfer of real property within the corporate limits of the City 

may be completed unless the City’s Finance Department has been notified of the 

impending transfer and has given a final bill related to charges for water, sewer, 

and garbage service to the property to be paid at the time of closing or before. In 

the event that property is acquired without payment made for water, sewer, and 

garbage service due at the time of acquisition, then the person or entity acquiring 

the property shall be responsible for payment of the charges due at the time of 

acquisition. 

 

SECTION 7: That Section 6.4D.15, Payment Application Order, of the Woodstock City Code 

shall be added to read as follows:  

 

  Payments received by the City shall be applied to outstanding charges in the following 

order: 

1. Garbage/Refuse Charges 

2. Sewer Charges 

3. Water Charges 

 

SECTION 8: That Section 6.4D.16, Monthly Tote Garbage Charges, of the Woodstock City Code shall be 

added to read as follows: 

 

A. Service Charge Established: 

 

1. Pursuant to 65 Illinois Compiled Statutes 5/11-19-4 and 5/11-19-5, the corporate 

authorities of this City are authorized to finance the establishment and maintenance 

of systems or plants, by contract or by direct provision, for the collection and 

disposal, treatment or recycling of garbage, refuse and ashes by service charges to 

be collected from persons receiving service, and are further authorized to provide 

for an exclusive method for the disposition of garbage, refuse and ashes within the 

village. 

2. In order to establish service charges which can reasonably be expected to yield 



revenues not in excess of contract obligations and the associated administrative 

costs of operation for those customers utilizing the weekly Tote Service for the 

collection and disposal of garbage the charge shall be twenty-three dollars ($23.00) 

per month for each tote service.  On January 1, 2017 and each successive January 

1st thereafter until December 31, 2021, the monthly tote rate will increase by a 

percentage equal to the percentage increase over the prior twelve (12) month period 

reflected by the Consumer Price Index – Midwest - All Urban Consumers (“CPI”).  

In no event will the new rate be less than the rate then currently in effect. 

3. Payment Of Bills; Delinquencies: All persons receiving service for the collection 

and disposal of garbage through the monthly tote service shall pay a monthly 

charge to the City which shall be billed along with the water and sewer bills on a 

quarterly basis. 

4. Such bills shall be deemed delinquent if not paid at the end of the month in which it 

was billed and an additional ten percent (10%) shall be added to such delinquent 

balance.  

5. If, after written notice from the City that a charge is delinquent, a user fails to make 

payment of such charge and delinquency charge within thirty (30) days thereafter, 

the corporate authorities may undertake such legal proceedings as are required to 

enforce collection, in which event such user shall also reimburse the City for all 

costs, sheriff fees, attorney fees and other expenses as are incurred to enforce 

collection as aforesaid.  In addition, after the bill has been past due for 45 days, the 

City reserves the right to terminate the customer’s monthly tote service until full 

payment is made.  Said payment shall include the delinquency as well as all costs, 

sheriff fees, attorney fees and other expenses as are incurred to enforce collection.  

SECTION 9: That Section 6.4C9, Inspections, Access to Premises, of the Woodstock City Code shall be 

added to read as follows: 

 

A.  Public Works or its designee shall have the right of access to any premises within the 

City for purposes of reasonable inspection to ascertain whether such premises are 

connected to the City water system, to inspect the plumbing within the building and the 

number and type of water connections, and to inspect the water meter on the premises. 

Any person refusing the right of the sewer and water department or its designee to access 

and inspect their premises shall be subject to a penalty of fifty dollars ($50.00) each day 

such refusal continues to exist starting fifteen (15) days after first notice is sent. 

 

B.  Access for inspection or reading of water meters shall be allowed at least six (6) times per 

year. 

 

C.  In addition to any other penalties provided herein, the City shall have the power to 

physically disconnect the water service to a building.  The procedure to be followed in 

any such disconnection shall be as follows: 

 

1.  If access to a building cannot be obtained voluntarily, a first notice shall be served 

personally or sent by certified or registered mail to the owner or the occupant of the 

building (if his name be known) informing them of the need for the City to gain 

access to the water meter. 

 

2.  If inspection cannot be reasonably made within fifteen (15) days of the first mailing 

or posting, then a second termination notice shall be mailed and posted giving the 



owner or the occupant of the building an additional fifteen (15) days to allow the 

City access to the water meter before water service is disconnected.  Notice shall 

give owner or the occupant the opportunity to request a hearing.  

 

3.  If a hearing is requested, it shall be conducted by the City Manager or his designee. 

If said hearing officer determines the water should be disconnected, then the date of 

such disconnection shall be furnished to the person requesting the hearing in 

person, if he attends the hearing, or by mail if he fails to attend the hearing, and the 

City shall disconnect the water service on or after that date. 

 

4.  Once water service has been disconnected, the reinstatement fee specified in 

6.4D.9L shall apply and be paid prior to reconnection. 

 

SECTION 10:  If any section, paragraph, subdivision, clause, sentence or provision of this Ordinance 

shall be adjudged by any Court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect, 

impair, invalidate or nullify the remainder thereof, which remainder shall remain and continue in full 

force and effect. 

 

SECTION 11:  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent 

of such conflict. 

 

SECTION 12:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage, approval, and publication 

in pamphlet form (which publication is hereby authorized) as provided by law. 

 

 

 

Ayes:  

 

Nays:  

 

Abstentions:  

 

Absentees:  

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

     

Brian Sager, Ph.D. 

      Mayor 

 

(SEAL) 

ATTEST:      

    Dianne Mitchell, City Clerk 

 

Passed:      

 

Approved:      

 

Published:       



C E R T I F I C A T I O N 

 

 I, Dianne Mitchell, do hereby certify that I am the duly appointed, acting and qualified Clerk of 

the City of Woodstock, McHenry County, Illinois, and that as such Clerk, I am the keeper of the records 

and minutes and proceedings of the Mayor and Councilmen of said City. 

 

 I do hereby further certify that at a regular meeting of the Woodstock City Council, held on the   

day of     , 2014, the foregoing Ordinance entitled An Ordinance Amending 

Portions of Articles 4C and 4D of Chapter 4, Municipal Water and Sewer, of Title 6, Public Ways and 

Property, of the Woodstock City Code Regarding Water and Sewer Utility Service was duly passed by 

said City Council. 

 

 The pamphlet form of Ordinance No. 14-O-____, including the Ordinance and a cover sheet 

thereof, was prepared, and a copy of such Ordinance was posted in the City Hall, commencing on the  

  day of     , 2014, and continuing for at least 10 days thereafter. Copies of 

such Ordinance were also available for public inspection upon request in the office of the City Clerk. 

 

 I do further certify that the original, of which the attached is a true and correct copy, is entrusted 

to me as the Clerk of said City for safekeeping, and that I am the lawful custodian and keeper of the same. 

 

 Given under my hand and corporate seal of the City of Woodstock this  day of   , 2014. 

 

 

     

Dianne Mitchell, Clerk 

City of Woodstock, 

McHenry County, Illinois 

(SEAL) 
 



 

Memo 
To: Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

From: Paul N. Christensen, Finance Director 

Date: July 7, 2014 

Re: Wireless Monitoring Network Agreement 

At the May 19, 2009 meeting, the City Council awarded a contract to Fox Valley Fire & 

Safety Company to provide maintenance to the City’s wireless alarm network.  The wireless 

alarm network provides a system in which local businesses’ fire and security alarms are 

directly connected to both the Woodstock Police Department Dispatch Center and the 

Woodstock Fire Protection District.  When the system was put in service in 2009, it was 

estimated that each end-user’s realized savings would be between $6 and $9 each month. 

The agreement entered into on May 19, 2009 was for five years and therefore is set to expire.  

After conferring with our wireless consultant, who helped draft the original agreement, it was 

recommended that the City attempt to extend the current agreement.  This conclusion was 

reached since Fox Valley has provided the City with good service for the past five years along 

with there being no significant changes in the alarm market business during this time that 

would cause the City to believe that a lower price could be secured.  Based on this 

information, City staff met with Fox Valley who agreed to maintain their current prices for the 

next five years and a renewal agreement was created. 

As part of the renewal, two additional items have been added to the contract.  The first deals 

with the current wireless networking computer at the Police Department that processes signals 

from the wireless monitoring radios and is using a Windows XP operating system.  Windows 

XP has been phased out by Microsoft and updates are no longer offered.  This creates an 

opportunity for hackers to hack into the machine since Microsoft will no longer be producing 

fixes to close these windows of opportunity.  Therefore, included in the suggested contract is a 

proposal to upgrade the wireless monitoring computer to a Windows 7, UL-certified machine 

at a cost of $17,616.  The high price of this machine is primarily attributed to the proprietary 

nature of the software and Keltron’s extensive testing of the equipment, including securing the 

UL-certification.  If the City was to purchase a less costly machine and place the software on 

it, Keltron has instructed us that they will not support it.  

When the monitoring units were originally installed, tamper switches, which all the radios 

contain, were not programed to be activated.  Reprogramming the tamper switch will allow 

Finance Department  
       City of   

                

 

121 W. Calhoun Street  
Woodstock, I l l inois   60098  
815/338-4300 
Fax 815/334-2269 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
July 15, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 27f



 

the City and Fire Department to be aware of when an unauthorized party is tampering with the 

radio.  During the five years that the City has operated the current wireless network, there have 

been a few instances in which the City has become aware of individuals tampering with the 

monitoring system and therefore the Police and Fire Departments have requested that this 

reprograming be done.   

Fox Valley has offered to reprogram each radio at a cost of $45 per unit.  While performing 

this function, Fox Valley would also inspect each unit.  This inspection would serve as 

preventive maintenance for the radio network, which will reduce the number of emergency 

repairs and false alarms.  In addition, some of the older monitoring units on the wireless 

system are five years old.  This is the point at which the batteries start to fail. As part of the 

inspection, Fox Valley would replace the battery in each unit.  The replacing of the batteries 

would be at no additional cost to the City as this expense would be paid by Fox Valley.  The 

cost of $45 per unit would be paid by the City and would come from the reserves being held in 

the Wireless Alarm Fund. 

The City Administration is recommending that the City renew with Fox Valley for an 

additional five years at the current cost.  In addition, it is recommended that the XP monitoring 

machine be upgraded and that Fox Valley be paid $45 per unit to activate the tamper switch 

along with inspecting and replacing the battery in each unit. 

If there should be any further questions, I would be happy to answer them. 

It is recommended that the City Council approve and authorize the City Manager to 

execute the attached Fire Alarm Monitoring Network Agreement with Fox Valley Fire 

and Safey, identified as Document No. ____. 

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
6



 1 

  
ONE COMPANY DOES IT ALL 

Fire Alarm • 24-Hour Monitoring • Fire and Safety Pr oducts • Security • Engineered Fire Suppression • Sprinkler Service 

2730 Pinnacle Drive • Elgin, IL  60124-7943 • 847-695-5990 • Fax 847-695-3699 • www.foxvalleyfire.com 
 

Fire Alarm Monitoring Network Agreement 
 
This agreement made this 1st day of September 2014 ending the 31st day of August 2019,  by 
and between the CITY OF WOODSTOCK, an Illinois municipal corporation located at 121 W 
Calhoun St in WOODSTOCK, Illinois 60098, and Fox Valley Fire and Safety Co. (hereinafter 
“FVFS”), an Illinois corporation located at 2730 Pinnacle Drive in Elgin, Illinois 60124. 
 
Recitals 
Whereas, it is the CITY OF WOODSTOCK’s goal to provide optimal life safety and reliability 
through the direct monitoring of fire alarm systems in use throughout the CITY’s Emergency 
Dispatch System; and 
 
Whereas, FVFS will provide the services and equipment for direct monitoring of fire alarm 
systems within the CITY OF WOODSTOCK in accordance with the specifications set forth in 
the proposal dated 30th day of April 2009, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and 
the terms of which are incorporated herein and made a part of this Agreement; and 
 
Whereas, FVFS will continue to maintain the head end receiving equipment and subscriber 
radios in the field in accordance with the specifications as set forth in Exhibit “A”.  There will be 
no increase in the maintenance fees as set in Exhibit “A” for the duration of this Agreement and 
 
Whereas, FVFS will upgrade the existing LS7000 hardware and software from Windows XP to 
Windows 7 as set in Exhibit “B” and 
 
Whereas, FVFS will provide an inspection for each subscriber radio as set forth in Exhibit “C”.  
If the CITY OF WOODSTOCK chooses to have the inspection completed more than once before 
the end date of this Agreement, an additional charge will apply as set in Exhibit “C” for each 
additional inspection. 
 
Now therefore, in consideration of the premise and mutual responses contained herein, the 
parties agree that: 
 
Section 1: General Conditions 

1. The forgoing recitals are incorporated herein by reference. 
2. Except as amended by this Agreement, the terms and conditions outlined in Exhibit A 

shall apply to both parties. 
3. FVFS shall be responsible for all labor required to repair equipment that has become 

defective by virtue of a flaw or defect in the equipment or through normal wear and 
usage.  Where any repairs are rendered necessary as a result of alteration or repair to 
premises, fire, water, vandalism, terrorism, riots, acts of God or extraneous causes which 
necessitates damage to components or rewiring any part of the alarm system on or at the 
CITY OF WOODSTOCK or at any of the CITY OF WOODSTOCK subscriber premises, 
said costs shall be paid to CITY OF WOODSTOCK.  Repairs shall be made promptly by 



 2 
FVFS upon notification by CITY OF WOODSTOCK of the need for repairs.  In the 
event of a major system failure, FVFS shall initiate repairs within two (2) hours of being 
notified, and FVFS shall commit all available resources to repair the major system failure 
as soon as possible.  A major system failure shall be defined as a failure of the system to 
transmit or receive alarm signals.  In the event of a minor system failure, FVFS shall 
initiate repairs within twenty-four (24) hours of being notified, and FVFS shall commit 
all available resources to repair the minor system failure as soon as possible.  A 
minor system failure shall be defined as a failure of a system component that does not 
interfere with the ability of the system to transmit or receive alarm signals. 

4.    Terms 
A. This Agreement shall be for a five (5) year term commencing September 1, 2014 until 
August 31, 2019.   
B. After such five (5) year period, the Agreement shall continue on an ongoing one 
hundred eighty days (180) term basis (the “Renewal Period” or “Renewal Periods”).  
Prior to the commencement of any Renewal Period, either party may terminate the 
Agreement by providing the other party written notice of termination no less than one 
hundred eighty  (180) calendar days prior to the commencement of each renewal period.   
C.  Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section, the City may terminate this 
Agreement at any time during the term of the Agreement or any Renewal Period without 
penalty by giving FVFS sixty (60) days written notice of termination in the event the 
City’s authority to enter into this Agreement or the Agreement itself is challenged by a 
third party under federal law. 
D. The provisions of Section 18 on page 39 of 42 of Exhibit A shall not apply to this 
Agreement.  

5. An inoperative system due to failure of the CITY OF WOODSTOCK to notify FVFS by 
registered mail, fax, or phone contact of the need of repairs does not constitute a breach 
of this agreement on the part of FVFS or the CITY OF WOODSTOCK.  This does not 
waive FVFS right to the payments due under this agreement or the terms set forth in 
Exhibit “A”. 

6. With the exception of negligence or other misconduct, FVFS is not liable for failure or 
defects in the system, its design or the servicing thereof, for delays, interruptions, or 
cessation of installation of service or inability to perform hereunder caused by strikes, 
terrorism, riots, acts of God, and any causes whatsoever beyond its control, or destruction 
of it’s equipment, connections, lines, or installations, and in the event thereof FVFS shall 
have a reasonable time to provide means to render service hereunder.   

7. This agreement is not binding unless approved in writing by an authorized agent of FVFS 
and the CITY OF WOODSTOCK.  The CITY OF WOODSTOCK and FVFS 
acknowledge that there are no covenants, promises, agreements, conditions, or 
understandings between the parties, either oral or written, other than those contained in 
the agreement.  In the event of non-approval, the only liability of FVFS shall be to return 
to the CITY OF WOODSTOCK the amount, if any, paid to FVFS by the CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK upon the signing of this agreement.  This agreement sets forth all of the 
covenants, conditions and promises between the parties.  This agreement shall not be 
modified, revised or altered hereafter unless expressly acknowledged in writing signed by 
the CITY OF WOODSTOCK and FVFS. 

8. The CITY OF WOODSTOCK and FVFS both desire to connect wireless radios into the 
system with little or no impact on the customer.  The CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall 
advise subscribers of the following connection requirements or such other devices and 
conditions as required for proper activation and operation of the equipment: 

a. The subscribers alarm system must be in good working order before the radio 
transmitter can be installed. 



 3 
b. The subscriber’s alarm company must supply one of the following activation 

devices: 
i. A reverse polarity module (12vdc to 24vdc) wired to an approved terminal 

strip type junction box located outside the alarm control panel. 
ii. Two (2) dry contact outputs: one for alarm and one for trouble activation.  

Dry contacts must be wired to an approved terminal strip type junction 
box located outside the alarm control panel.  An additional dry contact for 
supervisory shall be supplied if the building has a sprinkler system. 

iii.  The point of connection wires or terminals must be clearly tagged. 
c. If the subscriber’s alarm company wishes to be present at the time of connections, 

they must contact the Municipal Coordinator at FVFS to secure an appointment. 
d. In the event FVFS is unable to perform the installation as requested by the CITY 

OF WOODSTOCK, due to circumstances beyond their control and a return visit 
is necessary, an additional return trip/service call charge will be invoiced to the 
CITY OF WOODSTOCK.  The return/trip service call will be charged at the then 
current rate and the hourly rate as detailed in Exhibit “A”. 

9. FVFS and the CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall perform all requirements of this 
Agreement to each-others satisfaction. 

10. FVFS shall comply with all of the requirements of all municipal, county, state, federal 
and all other applicable government authorities including but not limited to applicable 
building and fire codes, now in force or which may be hereafter be in force, with respect 
to the performance of this Agreement and to the provision of alarm monitoring services.   

11. All connections and disconnections to be performed during normal working business 
hours. 

12. The City shall pay for the equipment described in Exhibit B and FVFS shall install at the 
City’s expense of $17,616.00 such equipment no later than 60 days after the signed 
agreement is received by FVFS. 

13. FVFS will provide an inspection for each subscriber radio as set forth in Exhibit C at the 
cost of $45.00 per unit to be paid by the City as soon as is reasonably possible after 
contract execution.  Fee for this service will be paid as work is completed on a monthly 
invoice submitted to the City by FVFS. 

 
Section 2: Equipment Installation 

1. FVFS shall install and maintain the head-end equipment in the CITY OF WOODSTOCK 
Police Headquarters located at 656 Lake Ave WOODSTOCK, Illinois 60098 in 
accordance with Exhibit “A”. 

2. FVFS shall connect to the receiving equipment at the CITY OF WOODSTOCK 
Police/Fire Dispatch Center. 

3. The monitoring systems shall have, at a minimum, the capacity to serve all of the alarm 
system subscribers whose alarms are currently wired directly into the CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK facilities for the purpose of monitoring fire alarms including, without 
limitation, smoke detector alarms, water-flow alarms, and other similar types of alarms. 

4. The fire alarm monitoring equipment systems installed pursuant to this agreement shall 
have the capacity and ability to be enhanced by virtue of improvements or changes in 
technology.  The CITY OF WOODSTOCK and FVFS shall negotiate separately for any 
future enhancements or upgrades to the system not covered under the terms of Exhibit 
“A”.  It is understood by both parties that Exhibit “A” details a turnkey solution for a 
fully functional fire alarm monitoring system for the CITY OF WOODSTOCK. 

5. The equipment installed and maintained by FVFS shall have the capacity to differentiate 
between full activation, trouble activation and secure activation of each alarm account. 



 4 
6. FVFS shall install and maintain the computer systems that operate in conjunction with 

the alarm monitoring system.  The computer systems shall include a chronological 
history of the status of each alarm account. 

7. The computer system shall permit operators to make inquiries and print the previous 
history, including, without limitation, the date, the time, the alarm number, and the type 
of activation that occurred for each alarm account. 

 
Section 3: Account Information for Alarm Connections 

1. The CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall notify FVFS of any new fire alarm system 
connection and FVFS shall coordinate the connection to the fire alarm monitoring system 
equipment accordingly. 

2. For the purpose of this Agreement, a Subscriber of Record is any alarm system account 
connected to the CITY OF WOODSTOCK for alarm monitoring equipment.  For each 
subscriber of record, the CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall provide FVFS with the 
following information: 
• Alarm number (supplied by FVFS) 
• The address for the facility that the alarm services 
• The name of the business or residence 
• The name and telephone numbers of the business agents who are available to respond 

to the location in the event of an alarm activation 
• The telephone circuit number if telephone circuits are utilized to connect the alarm to 

the monitoring equipment; and 
• If available, the fire alarm system specifics (alarm manufacturer, year etc) 

3. No alarm account shall be activated until approval is given by the CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK 

4. The CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall be responsible for obtaining official and key-holder 
information on all changes in occupancy or sales of property and shall notify FVFS 
within 30 days of becoming aware of a change in occupancy or sale of property for a 
subscriber of record that is connected to the CITY OF WOODSTOCK’s fire alarm 
monitoring. 

 
Section 4: Alarm Disconnections 

1. No alarm account shall be disconnected until approved by the CITY OF WOODSTOCK. 
2. FVFS shall process all CITY OF WOODSTOCK authorized alarm disconnections in a 

timely manner and forward notifications of the disconnected alarm to the CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK.  A disconnect fee will be invoiced at $98.00 per hour to the CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK for this service. 

 
Section 5: CITY OF WOODSTOCK’s Responsibilities 

1. The CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall provide trained personnel to monitor the status of 
fire alarm systems connected to the CITY OF WOODSTOCK’s fire alarm monitoring 
equipment, including the receiving of test signals on existing accounts including newly 
installed wireless connections. 

2. The CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall assume responsibility for reasonable costs invoiced 
by FVFS associated with telephone circuits and/or equipment issues caused by the 
telephone-company and /or subscribers that are beyond the control of FVFS.  The CITY 
OF WOODSTOCK will be responsible for initiating the call to FVFS for this chargeable 
service. 

 
Section 6: Equipment Maintenance 



 5 
1. FVFS shall perform all required or recommended routine maintenance on the installed 

equipment in a timely manner. 
2. FVFS shall employ a qualified service technician, to investigate all alarm accounts that 

remain in a disabled or out-of–service mode.  The CITY OF WOODSTOCK will be 
responsible for initiating the call to FVFS for this chargeable service.  Such investigations 
shall occur within twenty-four (24) hours of the report. 

 
Section 7: Insurance 

1. FVFS shall, at its sole cost and expense, secure and maintain insurance in the types and 
amounts shown on the Certificate of Insurance attached hereto as Exhibit A during the 
entire period this Agreement is in effect. 

2. Within thirty (30) days after execution of this Agreement, FVFS shall provide the CITY 
OF WOODSTOCK with certificates if insurance naming the CITY OF WOODSTOCK 
as an additional insured party against claims, liability, or losses arising out of the 
wrongful or negligent acts or omissions of FVFS, its agents, or employees. The certificate 
shall provide that the policies shall not be changed or cancelled during the life of the 
Agreement until thirty (30) days after written notice of such change has been delivered to 
the CITY OF WOODSTOCK. 

 
Section 8: Indemnification 

1. In the event any person, not a party to this agreement, including the CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK’s insurance company, shall make any claim or file any lawsuit for bodily 
harm or property damage against FVFS arising out of the City of Woodstock’s 
negligence under this Agreement or the services provided under this Agreement, 
including but not limited to claims related to bodily harm or property damage caused by 
the installation, maintenance, operation or non-operation of the alarm system but barring 
claims of acts of God, wars, riots, civil unrest and or utility interruptions, the CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless FVFS from any and all 
such claims and lawsuits, including the payment of all damages, expenses, costs and 
attorneys’ fees. Any successful claims alleging negligence or intentional or willful 
misconduct on the part of FVFS, its agents or employees are not covered by this 
indemnification. 

2. In the event any person, not a party to this agreement, including FVFS’s insurance 
company, shall make any claim or file any lawsuit for bodily harm or property damage 
against the CITY OF WOODSTOCK arising out of FVFS’s negligence under this 
Agreement and the  services provided under this Agreement, including but not limited to 
claims related  to bodily harm or property damage caused by the installation, 
maintenance, operation or non-operation of the alarm system but barring claims of acts of 
God, wars, riots, civil unrest and or utility interruptions, FVFS agrees to indemnify, 
defend and hold harmless the CITY OF WOODSTOCK from any and all such claims and 
lawsuits including payment of all damages, expenses, costs and attorneys’  fees. Any 
successful claims alleging negligence or intentional or willful misconduct on the part of 
the CITY OF WOODSTOCK, its agents or employees are not subject to this 
indemnification. 

3. Nothing in this Agreement shall be constructed as prohibiting the CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK, its directors, officers, agents, or employees from defending, through the 
selection and use of their own agents, attorneys and experts, any claims, actions or suits 
brought against them arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

 
Section 9: Termination by the parties 



 6 
1. The CITY OF WOODSTOCK may terminate this agreement upon FVFS’s failure to 

perform according to the terms hereof. 
2. In a case of non-performance, the CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall provide FVFS with 

written notice of reasons for terminating this agreement in which case, FVFS shall have 
sixty (60) days within to cure non-performance. 

3. After three instances of non-performance, for which the CITY OF WOODSTOCK has 
issued written notices to FVFS, FVFS shall be considered to have defaulted on the terms 
of this agreement, and the CITY OF WOODSTOCK may terminate this agreement with 
thirty (30) days written notice to the parties outlined in Section 11 of this agreement.  

 
Section 10: Non Assignment  

1. This Agreement shall not be assigned by either party without the written consent of the 
other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
Section 11: Required Notices 

1. Any notice required under the terms of this Agreement shall be deemed sufficiently given 
if delivered personally to the other party or if sent by U.S. Mail, certified, return receipt, 
properly addressed, and postage prepaid to the parties listed below: 
 
If to the CITY OF WOODSTOCK:                                        If to FVFS: 
CITY of WOODSTOCK                                                        Fox Valley Fire and Safety 
Attn: City Manager                                                                 Attn: Al Whale  
121 W Calhoun St                                                                   2730 Pinnacle Dr 
Woodstock, Illinois 60098                                                      Elgin, Illinois 60124 

 
Section 12: Payments to FVFS 

1. FVFS shall calculate the payment for equipment, maintenance, and services and invoice 
the CITY OF WOODSTOCK pursuant to Exhibit “A”. 

2. Calculation of the maintenance charges for the base equipment, automation system, and 
wireless radios shall be based on the number of subscribers connected to the system on 
the first day of each month.  The CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall pay these charges on a 
monthly basis, with the first payment due thirty (30) days after approval of this contract 
and on or before every 5th of the month thereafter during the term of this Agreement.  
Calculation of the maintenance charges for the base equipment, automation, and wireless 
radios installed during the month, after the regular charges are calculated shall be pro-
rated, based on a per-diem basis.  A detailed statement listing the number of subscribers 
connected to the CITY OF WOODSTOCK system shall accompany the monthly invoice. 

3. Other applicable service charges shall be invoiced to the CITY OF WOODSTOCK in 
accordance with the billing cycle established by FVFS and the CITY OF WOODSTOCK.  
The CITY OF WOODSTOCK shall pay all undisputed invoices within 30 days of 
receipt. 

 
Section 13: Entire Agreement  

This agreement shall be binding to the parties, their respective successors   and/or assigns 
thereof; no amendment(s) shall be made to this agreement unless enacted in writing and 
approved by both parties. 
 

 
 
 
 



 7 
Section 14: Governing Law 

This agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Illinois both as to 
interpretation and performance.  Venue for any action arising out of the terms or 
conditions of this agreement shall be proper only in the Circuit Court of McHenry 
County. 

  
 
In witness whereof, the parties set their hands and seals as of the date first written above. 
 
CITY OF WOODSTOCK   Fox Valley Fire and Safety 
121 W Calhoun St               2730 Pinnacle Drive 
Woodstock, IL  60098              Elgin, IL  60124 
 
_____________________________  _____________________________ 
Signature     Signature 
 
 
_____________________________  _____________________________ 
Print Name     Print Name 
 
 
_________________      _________  _________________      _________  
Title       Date   Title       Date  
 
 
_____________________________  _____________________________ 
Attest                                                               Attest 
 
 
_____________________________             ______________________________ 
Notary                                                            Notary 
 
 
     























































































 
                                                                                                                                            Exhibit “B” 

 

  
ONE COMPANY DOES IT ALL 

Fire Alarm • 24-Hour Monitoring • Fire and Safety Pro ducts • Security • Engineered Fire Suppression • Sprinkler Service 

2730 Pinnacle Drive • Elgin, IL  60124 • 847-695-5990 • Fax 847-695-3699 • www.foxvalleyfire.com 
 
July 3, 2014 
 
City of Woodstock & Woodstock Fire Rescue 
Attn: Chip Amati 
656 Lake Ave., Woodstock, IL 60098 
Email: camati@woodstockil.gov 
 
RE: Keltron LS7000 Upgrade to Windows 7 
 
Dear Chip, 
 
The Woodstock wireless radio network is currently using Windows XP to process signals from the radios in 
the field, which is no longer supported by Microsoft.  Fox Valley Fire & Safety is proposing to replace the 
LS7000 server computer and update to Windows 7.  This can be accomplished with UL Listed equipment.
I have provided pricing for this option below.      

UL Server 
UL 864 Recognized PC - Intel i5, 2.5 Ghz 

Qty Item Number Item Description 
1 LS7K/ULS5-7/K  WIN 7 PRO EMBEDDED, 650 WATT PS,  i5 CPU 
  RAID 1, 1 TB SCSI HARD DRIVES, 4 GB RAM,  
  VGA/DVI, 2 Gigabit LAN PORTS, 8 SERIAL PORTS 
  12 RS232 PORTS MAX, Dual internal speakers,USB 
  USB TouchPad keyboard, Rack Mount sliding kybd shelf 
  server software installation, hardware certification 
  7" H, 19" W rack mount, 17" D, 3" front protrusion 
1 LS7000SS  SERVER & SERVICE TERMINAL SOFTWARE 
1 LS7000MSW-UL  COPY OF SOFTWARE FOR REPLACEMENT SERVER 
1 10D319-UL 19" LCD, FLAT PANEL VIDEO DISPLAY MONITOR 
1 10P106/USB  LOGGING/EVENT PRINTER, CENTRONICS CABLE 
1 NET924AC  AC POWER, 4 ZONE EOL, ETHERNET MUX 
1 NETBX R14  RED, LOCKING, WALL MOUNT ENCLOSURE 
1 40B007  12 AMPERE HOUR, 12 VOLT BATTERY 
1 LS-NETSW  LSNET ETHERNET MUX INTERFACE SOFTWARE 
  Total Equipment & Software                                                     $16,200.00 

12 
Labor & 
Programming $118.00 per hour 

  Total Labor & Programming                                                        $1,416.00 
   
  Total Cost UL Server                                                                  $17,616.00 

 
I look forward to partnering with you on this project and appreciate your careful consideration.  If you have 
any questions, or if I may be of further assistance, please feel free to contact me at 847-875-0651 or email 
tommatousek@foxvalleyfire.com. 
 
Respectfully, 

 
Tom Matousek 
Director, Wireless Radio Monitoring 



                                                                                                                                       Exhibit “C” 
 

 
ONE COMPANY DOES IT ALL 

Fire Alarm • 24-Hour Monitoring • Fire and Safety P roducts • Security • Engineered Fire Suppression • Sprinkler Service 

2730 Pinnacle Drive • Elgin, IL  60124-7943 • 847-695-5990 • Fax 847-695-3699 • www.foxvalleyfire.com 
 
July 3, 2014 
 
Woodstock Radio Alarm Network 
121 W Calhoun Street 
Woodstock, IL 60098 
 
Project: Radio Inspection, Battery Replacement & Tamper Switch Reprogramming 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
Below I have included a quote for Fox Valley Fire and Safety to perform an inspection on every 
radio installed on the Woodstock Wireless Network.  Fox Valley Fire & Safety will arrange a 
schedule to have a technician visit each subscriber radio on the Woodstock radio network to 
inspect the radio, replace the batteries, reprogram the tamper switch and verify the transmission 
of the monitoring signal to the dispatch center.  Fox Valley Fire & Safety will schedule these 
inspections in a manner to reduce travel time.  Assistance with access to buildings we are not 
able to contact may be need from the Woodstock Fire Department. 
 
Your investment for this service, per location.............................................$ 45.00 
 
Clarification: 
 
1. The discounted prices quoted can only be applied for this specific inspection and 

maintenance program.   
2. Emergency calls, when required, will be provided at the hourly rate of $112.00 per hour 

during normal hours with a 4-hour minimum, or at premium time and holiday rates, if 
required. 

 
I look forward to partnering with you on this project and appreciate your careful consideration. 
If you have any questions or if I may be of further assistance, please feel free to contact me at  
847-875-0651 or via e-mail tommatousek@foxvalleyfire.com. 
 
Respectfully, 

 
Tom Matousek 
Fire Protection Specialist 



…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..  

 

Ad mini s tra t io n    ♦    Pa r ks    ♦    S tree t  Ma inte na nce    ♦    Eng ineer ing  

Sew er  & Wa ter  Co n vey a nce    ♦    Wa ter  Trea t me nt    ♦    Wa stew a ter  Trea t men t  

       City of    

               
Depart ment  of  Publ ic  Wo rks  

3 2 6  Wash in gton  S t r ee t  

Wo od s tock ,  I l l i n o i s  6 0 0 9 8  
   8 1 5 /33 8 -6 11 8  ♦  Fax  8 1 5 /3 3 4 -2 2 6 3  

p ru sck o@ wo od s tock i l . g o v  

www. wo od s t ock i l . go v  

To: Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 
 

From: Paul R. Ruscko, Public Works Director 
 

Re: National League of Cities Service Line Warranty Program 

 Approval to Terminate Agreement with Utility Service Partners Private Label 
 

Date: July 8, 2014 
 

On October 18, 2011 the City Council approved a Marketing Agreement with Utility Service 

Partners Private Label, Inc. d/b/a Service Line Warranties of America (“SLWA”).  This 

agreement was entered into in order to provide a new service to water and sanitary sewer 

customers that can be used to assist with the maintenance and repair costs of sewer and water 

services. 
 

The warranty program definitely has merit, but as with any insurance product, it is not for 

everyone.  Also, since the time the agreement was signed in 2011, other companies have begun 

offering similar water and sanitary sewer service line insurance products.  Another notable 

concern is that the Marketing Agreement grants SLWA a non-exclusive license to use the City’s 

name and logos on letterhead and marketing materials.  Residents definitely perceive this as a 

clear endorsement by the City on a particular product and company; this is contradictory to our 

policy of not recommending a particular product or company.  We consistently receive calls 

from residents asking for referrals for contractors to provide a particular service.  Our standard 

response is, “sorry we cannot make recommendations on particular contractors.”  We suggest 

that they complete their due diligence by talking to multiple contractors, obtaining multiple 

quotes, checking references, etc.  We firmly believe that we should be taking the same approach 

with water and sanitary sewer service line insurance products. 
 

The term of this marketing agreement is for one year from the date of the execution of the 

acknowledgement and the agreement then renews on an annual basis unless one of the parties 

gives the other advance written notice of at least 90 days that it does not intend to renew this 

marketing agreement.  The date of the execution of the acknowledgement is October 18, 2011, so 

the agreement automatically renews on October 18, 2014 unless written notice of at least 90 days 

for intent not to renew this agreement is provided which would be no later than July 20, 2014. 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the termination of the Marketing 

Agreement with Utility Service Partners Private Label, Inc. d/b/a Service Line Warranties 

of America (“SLWA”). 
 

It will definitely still be important for the City to continue to educate and remind property 

owners that they are responsible for the full cost of the repair and maintenance of their water 

service and sanitary sewer service lines from the building to the City’s mains.  This includes 

informing them about warranty programs, but not recommending one program over another. 

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
July 15, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 27g



 

…………………… ………… …………………… ………… …………………… ………… …………………… ……..  

 

Adminis tra t ion   ♦    Parks    ♦    Stree t  Mainte nance    ♦    Eng ineer ing  

Sewer  & Water  Conveyanc e    ♦    Water  Treatment    ♦    Wastewater  Treatment  

       City of    

               
 
Department of  Public  Works  
326  Washingt on  St reet  
Woods t ock ,  I l l inoi s  60098  

 

   815 /338 -6118  ♦ Fax 815 /334 -2263 

awi l son@woods t ock i l .gov  

www.woods t ock i l .gov  

 

To:  Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

 

From:  Alan Wilson, City Engineer 

 

Re:  Award of Bid for 2014 Street Maintenance and Resurfacing Contract 

 

Date:  July 9, 2014 

 

The approved FY14/15 Budget includes more than $1,000,000 for pavement maintenance, 

management and resurfacing.  Of this amount, $848,000 has been allocated for this year’s street 

maintenance and resurfacing program.  The total revenue available is derived from the following 

sources that are combined into a single construction contract to take advantage of “economies of 

scale” which typically results in lower unit prices. 

 

Motor Fuel Tax for resurfacing       $273,000 

TIF District (street & parking lot maintenance)     $200,000 

General Fund CIP for resurfacing       $375,000 

Budgeted Total         $848,000 

Engineering Expenses                   ($ 77,296) 

Total available for construction       $770,704 

 

Earlier this spring, the City Administration reviewed requests from residents for street 

maintenance and evaluated other street locations in order to prepare a preliminary list of streets 

to be considered for this annual program.  Consulting engineers, Hampton, Lenzini & Renwick 

assisted with program development by preparing preliminary estimates of cost for the locations 

that were identified.  The list of streets was then prioritized based on cost and condition.  Final 

bid documents were prepared and submitted to the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) 

for review and approval.  IDOT approval of the City’s program and bid documents was given on 

June 2, 2014. 

 

On June 20, 2014, the following bids were received for the City’s 2014 street maintenance and 

resurfacing program: 

 

BIDDER    TOTAL AS READ    TOTAL AS CORRECTED 

Geske & Sons, Inc.        $808,978.99    $808,978.99 

Schroeder Asphalt, Inc.       $856,608.60    $856,608.60 

Arrow Road Construction Co.      $882,706.15    $883,006.15 

Peter Baker & Son Co.       $890,487.35    $890,487.35 

 

 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
July 15, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 27h



 

…………………… ………… …………………… ………… …………………… ………… …………………… ……..  

 

Adminis tra t ion   ♦    Parks    ♦    Stree t  Mainte nance    ♦    Eng ineer ing  

Sewer  & Water  Conveyanc e    ♦    Water  Treatment    ♦    Wastewater  Treatment  

 

The low bid amount is $38,274.99 more than the amount allocated for resurfacing.  The 

engineer’s estimate for this work was $749,643.25.  The engineers estimate was based on an 

anticipated $2-3 per ton increase in asphalt prices from last year, while the bids came in $6-7 per 

ton higher than last year.  This is a unit price contract, so the final value of the contract depends 

on the actual quantities incurred during construction. 

 

Street maintenance and resurfacing is one of the most highly visible and highly demanded 

programs, so the City must weigh proceeding with the program as is or scaling it back.  Due to 

the high priority and importance of providing quality roadways, scaling back the size of the 

program is not a feasible option.  Staff will monitor revenues and expenditures along with 

adjusting the scope of other improvements/projects as needed, in order to fully fund this street 

maintenance and resurfacing program. 

 

The following is a list of streets that are scheduled to be resurfaced as part of the 2014 Street 

Maintenance and Resurfacing Program. 

 

STREET        FROM   TO 
 

Greenwood Avenue    Wicker Street   Clay Street 

Calhoun Street     Dean Street   Jefferson Street 

South Street     Blakely Street   Madison Street 

Tara Drive     Tara Court   South Street 

Golden Avenue    Amber Court   Tara Drive 

Winslow Ave/Amber Court Intersection 

Hibbard Street     Burbank Avenue  Kimball Avenue 

Forest Avenue     Austin Avenue  Dean Street 

Country Club Road    Post Office   Zimmerman Road 

Timothy Lane     Flagg Lane   Linda Court 

Industrial Heights Drive Cul-De-Sac 

  

Therefore, it is recommended that the contract for the 2014 street maintenance and 

resurfacing program be awarded to the low bidder, Geske and Sons, Inc. for the total bid 

price of $808,978.99.  
 

c: Roger Vidales 

 All bidders 

 HLR 

 

rstelford
Approved



 

 
       City of    

               
Department of  Community & Economic Development                     phone 815.338.4305  
121 W. Calhoun Street                                               fax  815.334.2267 
Woodstock, I l l ino is 60098                                                commdevdept@woodstocki l . gov 

      www.woodstocki l .gov  
                                        

MEMORANDUM 
 

Date  July 8, 2014 

 

To:  Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

 

From:  Nancy Baker, City Planner 

 

 

RE: PROPOSALS FOR THE PURCHASE, RESTORATION AND REUSE OF THE 

OLD MC HENRY COUNTY COURTHOUSE AND SHERIFF’S HOUSE 

 

Responses to the City’s Request for Proposals for the Purchase, Restoration, and Reuse of the 

Old McHenry County Courthouse and Sheriff’s House were due May 1, 2014.  Two responses 

were submitted before the deadline.   

THE PROPOSALS 

Williamson County Investment Corporation of Austin, Texas proposes a mixed-use development 

with restaurant or other commercial use on the ground floor of the courthouse, mixed income 

residential on the first floor of the Courthouse and Sheriff’s House, and an art academy on the 

second floor of the courthouse and sheriff’s house.  The courtroom would be restored and would 

be available for community use.  The use of the basement of the Sheriff’s House is not 

addressed.  The proposal estimates the project will cost $10,800,000.  The proposed purchase 

price is $1.00 and $1 million from the City’s TIF fund is requested.  In a follow-up letter, the 

developer expresses flexibility with regard to the inclusion of low-income housing and a 

willingness to retain the La Petite Creperie restaurant. 

Kathy Cappas and John Busse propose to purchase the Sheriff’s House, but not the Courthouse.  

The first floor of the Sheriff’s House would be remodeled to allow expansion of the existing 

restaurant.  Second floor coolers would be relocated to the basement which would also be 

remodeled with relocated jail cells to create a unique atmosphere for a future tourism use.  The 

second floor would be “re-purposed” for possibly professional or apartment use. The proposal 

estimates the project will cost $470,000. 

 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
July 15, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 27i



RFP REVIEW  

Copies of the proposals were distributed to the RFP Review Committee which met on May 14
th

 

to review and discuss both proposals.  Committee members felt that additional information was 

needed to fully evaluate both proposals.  Their questions were forwarded to the proposers and the 

follow-up responses are attached to this report.  Minutes from that meeting are also attached.   

The RFP Committee did not recommend one proposal over the other.  They agreed that neither 

proposal presents a complete vision for the buildings or property, and they identified strengths 

and weaknesses of each proposal.  

The RFP listed the following review criteria: 

o Quality of information; 

o Experience in developing projects (historic landmark or similar); 

o Evaluation of past projects and performance; 

o Compatibility of proposal with City goals for the property; 

o Overall demonstration that developer is ready, willing and able to implement the 

project; 

o Demonstrated ability to secure project funding including current relationships 

with major lenders and past funding experience with adaptive reuse projects; 

o Experience with financial-incentive programs and resources available for 

sustainable or historic reuse projects; 

o Experience in providing effective marketing, leasing, and property management; 

o The proposed purchase price; 

o The expected impact of the project to further enhance the downtown’s vitality; 

o Expected long-term financial return to the community, which includes but is not 

limited to the following factors: 

 Tax-generating ability (sales, property); 

 Direct return on municipal investments; and 

 The ability of the proposed use or mix of uses in the project to reinforce 

each other and existing viable uses in the downtown area. 

o Overall benefit to the community; and 

o Improvements such as pedestrian access on the west side, handicapped access to 

the building, and the overall exterior appearance of the site. 

 

 



The following table summarizes comments and concerns expressed in the meeting in the context 

of the review criteria. 

 
RFP REVIEW CRITERIA 

 

  Comments/Concerns re: WCIC 
Proposal 

Comments re: Cappas/Busse 
Proposal 

Quality of Information The proposal contains 
inconsistencies with regard to wall 
configurations and LEED credits 
which are addressed in the follow-up 
response.   

Information is thorough for the 
Sheriff’s House, but the proposal 
does not include the Courthouse. 

Experience in developing 
projects (historic landmark or 
similar) 

Has experience with historic 
buildings with significant challenges.  
 
 
 
 

No historic rehab/restoration 
experience.   
 
The project team is local and knows 
and understands the community. 

Evaluation of past projects  and 
performance 

Most project experience is in Texas.   
 
 
 

La Petite has been in operation for 
ten years, however, committee 
members are aware that the 
business was recently for sale.  The 
follow-up response states that Ms. 
Cappas will remain with the 
business for at least two years if 
the proposal goes forward and Mr. 
Busse intends to maintain a fine 
dining restaurant even if Ms. 
Cappas leaves. 

Compatibility with City goals for 
 the property.  Goals in RFP are: 
 

 To maintain and preserve 
the structures for present 
and future generations. 

 
 
 
 

 To operate, develop, 
enhance, and preserve the 
buildings in such a way that 
the public can continue to 
visit—as customers, 
patrons, clients, etc. 
 

 To establish future uses 
that will maintain the 
integrity of the exterior and 
the significant interior 
spaces. 
 

 

 
 
 
The proposal restores the exterior of 
the building, rehabilitates the 
interior, and includes investigation of 
conditions which may have been 
overlooked in the Gary W Anderson 
baseline conditions report. 
 
It appears that most of the 
Courthouse including the common 
area on first floor of the residential 
use as well as the entire second floor 
of the Sheriff’s House will be 
accessible to the public. 
 
Based on preliminary plans, the 
integrity of the interior is partially 
maintained.  It appears that the 
central hallway would be altered and 
interior doorways, vaults, etc. may 
not be retained.  A new corridor is 
proposed to be constructed along 

 
 
 
Plans include restoration of most 
exterior elements on the Sheriff’s 
House and rehabilitation of the 
interior. 
  
 
 
The basement and first floor will be 
accessible to customers and/or 
visitors.   Second floor status is 
undetermined. 
 
 
 
The proposed application of stone 
on the north side of the building is 
not appropriate.  Some interior 
alterations (i.e. the removal of the 
wood stairway in the Sheriff’s 
House) negatively impact the 
integrity of the interior.  The 



 
 
 
 

 

 To operate, develop, 
enhance, and preserve the 
buildings with uses that are 
tax generating. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 To rehabilitate the 
property as a catalyst for 
other activities in the 
downtown. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 To beautify and 
rehabilitate the west side 
of the building and site, 
and to establish 
aesthetically pleasing 
pedestrian access to the 
Throop Street side and if 
feasible to allow a pass-
thru to the public square. 
 
 

 To sell the property to an 
owner that can 
demonstrate the 
experience, expertise, and 
financial ability to fulfill 
their proposed reuse and 
preservation as soon as 
reasonably possible, and to 
maintain the properties 
well into the future. 

 

the west side of the courtroom.  The 
follow-up response indicates a 
willingness to revise plans to address 
these concerns. 
 
The Arts Academy use is undefined 
and may or may not be tax 
generating.  Overall, the property 
would be returned to the property 
tax rolls and the ground floor of the 
courthouse would generate sales tax. 
The follow-up response indicates a 
desire to maintain the La Petite 
Creperie which would also generate 
sales tax. 
 
The proposal to convert a 
destination restaurant (the Creperie) 
into mixed-income housing is not 
beneficial to the downtown.  The 
follow-up response indicates a 
preference that the restaurant 
remains.  The RFP Review Committee 
felt a residential component could be 
part of the revitalization if residents 
have a high enough disposable 
income to support the businesses in 
the downtown.   
 
The proposal indicates the west side 
of the property will be enhanced 
with an outdoor patio but does not 
include specific details.  The 
pedestrian pass-thru design 
illustrated in the proposal would 
require demolition of a historic part 
of the building.  The follow-up 
response notes that is was intended 
to illustrate a possible option. 
 
The Low Income Housing Tax Credit 
(LIHTC) would delay the start of the 
project.  The follow-up response 
states that the project can go 
forward without the LIHTC. 

follow-up response indicates a 
willingness to discuss these 
concerns. 
 
 
Overall, the Sheriff’s House would 
be returned to the property tax 
rolls and the first floor would 
generate increased sales tax.  The 
tourism use in the basement could 
include retail sales. 
 
 
 
 
 
The La Petite Creperie restaurant 
already attracts visitors to the 
downtown.  Expansion of the 
restaurant would support greater 
year round dining, thus bringing 
more customers downtown 
throughout the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The proposal includes 
improvements on the west side of 
the Sheriff’s House.  It does not 
enhance pedestrian access, but it 
also does not preclude it. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The plans for exterior restoration 
and restaurant expansion can go 
forward quickly; however, the lack 
of specific plans for the upper level 
and basement may complicate 
code compliance.  If upper level 
uses require stairway modification 
for example, the restaurant will 
likely be impacted. 

Demonstration that developer is  
ready, willing and able to 
implement the project 
 

The RFP Review Committee was 
concerned that the LIHTC approval 
process could cause the property to 
be on hold for a considerable 

The proposal shows a strong desire 
and commitment to move forward 
quickly. 



 
 
 
 

amount of time during which the City 
might turn away other potential 
investors.  The follow-up response 
expresses a desire to move forward 
with or without the LIHTC. 

Demonstrated ability to secure 
project funding including current 
relationships with major lenders 
and past funding experience with 
adaptive reuse projects 
 
 
 
 

The proposal does not provide much 
information about past financial 
experience.  The follow-up responses 
confirm no experience with the 
Illinois tax credit process. 
 
Actual documentation of financial 
ability was not included. Funding 
sources are listed in project budget. 
 

The proposal offers to pre-fund the 
project and confidential financial 
information was provided to 
confirm the availability of financial 
resources. 

Experience with financial incentive  
programs and resources available 
for sustainable or historic reuse 
projects 
 
 
 
 
 

The proposal does not specifically 
reference tax credit experience 
however the proposal and the 
follow-up response show an 
understanding of the process. 
 

The follow-up response states that 
the proposer is not interested in 
pursuing the federal historic 
preservation tax credit, yet the 
proposal seeks a safety net in the 
form of a buy-back clause. 

Experience in providing effective  
marketing, leasing, and property 
management 
 
 
 
 
 

The project team has experience 
with multiple buildings. 

No demonstrated experience 
noted. 

Proposed purchase price Purchase price for the entire 
property is $1.00 with a request for a 
$1 million contribution of TIF funds 
from the City of Woodstock.  The 
follow-up response indicates this $1 
million is in addition to money 
already spent and obligated for the 
roof project. 
 

Purchase price for Sheriff’s House is 
$10,000 with no additional funds 
requested. 

Expected impact of the project to 
further enhance the downtown’s  
vitality 
 
 
 
 
 

The loss of the La Petite Creperie 
would negatively impact downtown 
vitality.  The follow-up response 
states a preference to keep the 
restaurant.   
 
The residential component does not 
bring a lot of vitality but is not a 
negative if tenants have sufficient 
income to support downtown 
businesses. 
 
The art academy concept is vague.  It 
has the potential to be a destination.  

The restaurant is already a draw; 
the use of the basement for 
tourism purposes enhances that 
draw.   
 
 



Expected long term financial return 
to the community which includes 
but is not limited to the following 
factors: 

 Tax-generating ability 

 Direct return on municipal 
investments 

 Ability of the proposed use 
or mix of uses in the 
project to reinforce each 
other and existing viable 
uses in the downtown 

 
 
 
 
The proposal would return both 
buildings to the property tax rolls 
and would be expected to generate 
new property tax.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
The proposal would return the 
Sheriff’s House to the property tax 
rolls and would be expected to 
generate new property tax.   
 

Overall benefit to the community 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Courthouse and Sheriff’s House 
restoration would be completed. 
 
Local construction jobs would be 
created; local sales tax would be 
generated through construction 
activities. 
 
Additional property taxes and sales 
tax would be generated. 

The Sheriff’s House restoration 
would be completed. 
 
Local construction jobs would be 
created; local sales tax would be 
generated through construction 
activities. 
 
Additional property taxes and sales 
tax would be generated. 

Improvements such as pedestrian 
access on the west side, 
handicapped access to the building 
and the overall exterior appearance 
of the site 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Plans do not show handicapped 
accessibility to Sheriff’s House.  The 
follow-up response indicates that a 
second elevator is included in the 
project budget.   
 
The proposed pedestrian access 
from the west would require 
demolition of a historic addition.  
The follow-up response expresses 
flexibility on this issue. 

A proposed ramp along the north 
side of the building would be 
difficult to access from the square 
side of the building and would 
eliminate the public sidewalk on 
the south side of Johnson Street.    
 
The elevator concept for the 
Sheriff’s House is creative but will 
only serve the Sheriff’s House.  The 
ramp should be eliminated and the 
elevator should be installed 
immediately.  The follow-up 
response indicates a willingness to 
install the elevator immediately but 
the proposer is concerned about 
timing due to code compliance 
requirements. 
 
Pedestrian access enhancements 
on the west side of the property 
are not proposed but they also are 
not precluded. 

 
ADDITIONAL RFP COMMITTEE CONCERNS  
 

OTHER COMMENTS The LEED initiative is good, but not a 
major focus of the RFP. 
 
The proposal does not convey a 
complete vision for the property. 
 
The proposal and the follow-up 

The proposal asks for the 
establishment of valet parking on 
Cass Street, adjacent to the 
Sheriff’s House.  The RFP Review 
Committee expressed concern 
about the impact valet parking 
would have on the re-development 



response address work 
recommended in the GWA Baseline 
Conditions Report.  This work is 
contained in the project budget. 
 
The mix of uses is desirable.  It is 
unlikely that the building would be 
fully occupied if all spaces are 
commercial.  At 100% occupancy, the 
mix uses could be beneficial (but not 
if low-income housing is included in 
the mix).   
 
 
 

of the Elks Club building across the 
street.   
 
The RFP Committee felt that the 
proposal’s claim that  Ms. Cappas 
already owns $135,000 of capital 
assets for expenditures prior to the 
City’s acquisition of the property is 
potentially a red flag. 
 
The proposal and the follow-up 
response address work 
recommended in the GWA Baseline 
Conditions Report.  This work is 
contained in the project budget. 

 

The RFP Committee suggested that in considering the overall benefit of either proposal to the 

community, the question is asked “how does this vision go into making Woodstock a distinctive 

destination?” 

ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS 

The administration notes the following additional concerns which are not fully covered in the 

findings of the RFP Review Committee. 

 Low Income Housing Tax Credit 

It is noted that the Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) requires that the low-

income units be maintained for at least 15 years.  (Note: the Illinois Housing 

Development Authority could require a 30-year commitment).  If ownership of the 

property were to change hands, a subsequent owner would also have to maintain the low-

income units, or pay a recapture fee for the tax credits.  If the City Council wishes to 

consider low-income units as part of the redevelopment mix, advice and information 

should be sought from an expert in this field regarding issues such as likelihood that the 

proposed LIHTC would be granted, timing of that decision, development requirements 

and restrictions that may impact the project, and tax credit recapture fees. 

 Separate Ownership of the Courthouse and Sheriff’s House 

Though the Sheriff’s House is not specifically described in the Old McHenry County 

Courthouse National Register landmark designation, the Sheriff’s House is technically 

considered part of the landmark designation because it is connected to the Courthouse via 

the addition at the northwest corner of the Courthouse.   The two buildings have been 

intimately tied together by use for over 125 years and physically connected since the 

early part of the 20
th

 Century and are icons of McHenry County and Woodstock’s role as 

the county seat.    



The Courthouse and Sheriff’s House could be owned separately and still be eligible for 

the federal historic preservation tax credit.   

Though in the short run, it may seem expedient to separate the buildings, keeping both 

under the same ownership has several preservation benefits.  Consideration must be given 

to preventing the integrity of one structure from being compromised by lack of 

maintenance on the other.  The City experienced this first hand with the Opera House 

when the west wall and foundation of the Opera House were compromised by the poorly 

maintained buildings to the west, prior to the acquisition of the property that is now the 

Stage Left Café.   

Utilities are already separated; however roof drainage and storm water collection are a 

common issue for both structures.  Fencing restoration, vegetation maintenance, bird 

remediation, and shared patio accessibility and other exterior facilities are examples of 

other common issues.  

 

NEXT STEPS 

City Council members will need to determine if either proposal fits their vision for the property 

and for the City of Woodstock.    The RFP included the following vision statement:  The City of 

Woodstock envisions the Old McHenry County Courthouse and Sheriff’s House as a destination 

and attractive anchor for downtown Woodstock, combining a unique mix of uses appealing to 

residents and visitors alike, with the buildings fully rehabilitated and significant original 

features restored to last another 150 years.  This vision was intentionally broad so as not to 

preclude any particular use or activity.  City Council members may wish to further discuss their 

ideal visions for the property. 

If the Council would like the City Administration to further pursue one or both proposals, the 

project team(s) should be invited to present their proposal and respond to questions.  The City 

Council may also wish to seek additional input from the RFP Review Committee regarding 

specific aspects of one or both proposals.   

The Council is under no obligation to accept either proposal.  It is not uncommon to re-open an 

RFP process or continue down an alternative path.  The City utilized a similar process for the 

sale and reuse of the old Post Office.  The proposals were not accepted and the City maintained 

the building until eventually, Home State Bank approached the City on its own to inquire about 

acquisition.  Landmarks Illinois has also offered to be a resource if the City decides to reopen the 

RFP process.   

City Council direction is requested. 

rstelford
Approved



Williamson County
INVESTMENTSCORPORATION

8004 Two Coves Drive
Austin,Texas78730
Tel 512.476.6900
Fax 512.345.8100
dalarid@austin.rr.com

July 7, 2014

Maureen Larson
Woodstock City Councilwoman and
RFP Review Committee Chair
City of Woodstock
Department of Community & Economic Development
121 W. Calhoun Street
Woodstock, Illinois 60098

Re: RFP for Woodstock’s Old Courthouse

Dear Maureen,

We truly appreciated the obvious depth and quality of review that was undertaken of our proposal
for the Woodstock Old Courthouse.

Thank you for providing the opportunity to answer questions that have arisen, and clarify. Our
responses are furnished in the attached PDF document.

Your project has engendered a good deal of excitement for us. We feel it is ideally suited for
applying our experience and passion to beautiful and rewarding result, which will serve your citizens
many years into the future.

Working with you and your community, to maximize the Woodstock Court House unique qualities
into a pre-eminent example of historic property, creatively restored and reconfigured to new,
efficient and abundant use, is a captivating opportunity.

We would love to partner with you.

Please feel free to call or email for any additional information. I look forward to exploring further
soon.

Sincerely,

David J. Alarid
President



QUESTIONS REGARDING
WILLIAMSON COUNTY INVESTMENTS CORPORATION’S

PROPOSAL FOR WOODSTOCK’S OLD COURTHOUSE

1. What are the benefits of LEED certification to the project? Is the ability to obtain LEED
certification a condition for success? (The City of Woodstock wholeheartedly supports
sustainable building design and construction, but we also recognize the additional challenges to
obtaining that certification in a historic building, especially when historic tax credits are sought.) Is
LEED certification necessary to obtain the LIHTC? We note that the LEED points information in the
proposal did not add up to the points at the bottom of the columns.)

LEED certification is a nationally recognized standard for measuring building sustainability.
Utilizing the guidelines in construction design and implementation accomplishes a reduction in
possible negative environmental impacts, for improved occupant health and well-being.

Certification also allows the project to qualify for a growing number of state and local government
incentives.  Having certification attracts a positive reception for the project in the community and
generally promotes civic pride and good will for the development.

Being LEED certified draws immediate positive recognition.  It is an ideal attention drawing
distinction, highlighting both a project’s appealing history and its responsible approach to re-
purposing.  This boosts press interest and provides an ideal narrative frame for stimulating
appropriate interest and coverage of the project’s unique features and history.

Ability to obtain LEED certification is NOT a condition for success of the project.  Rather, it is a goal
producing significant benefits.  Granted, there are additional challenges when obtaining certification
in historic buildings.  Taking that choice requires careful evaluation. Some aspects to weigh
against added initial costs are that an older building is already insulation friendly with thick walls,
well distributed thermostats and easy opening windows. Cost increases to attain LEED is
significantly less than in other types of structures, while still providing the opportunity for long-run,
earth friendly energy savings and attracting even world-wide recognition to the Woodstock area
and project. Still LEED certification is not necessary to obtain LIHTC.

(Perhaps one column in the presentation analysis was inadvertently not counted when adding. That
can happen fairly easily with the multi-faceted formulas, though on our review, all seems to add up
correctly.)

2. What out of state project experience does the project team have? Can you hit the ground
running in Illinois?

While Williamson County Investments, a Texas Corporation, has emphasized Texas operations, our
CEO and core team have also developed projects in the states of Oregon and New Mexico.  Having
specific interest in unique aspects of the Woodstock property, we will be enthused to make
necessary adjustments to execute this project in Illinois with our CEO and leading staff.

Yes we are in a position to hit he ground running in Illinois.

1. We would file a general remodeling permit the day after closing and immediately begin
assessing the full scope of restoration to be required by removing drop ceilings, paneling, sheet
rock as well as finding and repairing leaks in walls and ceilings.



2. Immediately meet with all partied of responsibility along with designated Centers of Influence in
the City of Woodstock, to prepare a tightly-scheduled detailed plan to create a distinctive
destination at the Old Courthouse utilizing its unique features to highest application.  To
support the emphasis we will be placing on historical significance and resonance with
Woodstock’s past, culture, environment and setting, we will be including an Archivist/Historian
to help ensure the development fully gleans and represents all available artifacts, etc.

3. Apply for tax credit financing

4. Obtain the necessary permits for abatement, demo, and rehab.

5. Begin exterior repairs immediately for a fast start during weather time suitable for exterior
restoration.

The City would see immediate progress and ultimately a full restoration to the level of the Opera
House.

Our restoration vision is one of quality construction with precise restoration, great attention to
detail emphasizing the uniqueness and nuanced historical significance of Woodstock, along with a
carefully crafted tenant mix designated to bolster objectives and success.

3. What experience does the project team, and Williamson County Investments in particular,
have with projects of similar size and construction?

Woodstock's Old Courthouse project appears similar in construction complexity to each of the public
projects we have successfully completed. Both the Gary Job Corps and Texas State University in
San Marcos were significantly larger but different in design character from the Old Courthouse.

The private Sixth Street Development properties in Austin were historical restorations located in the
100 year flood plain requiring appropriate and effective design tactics, as well as some permit
variance approvals acquired through the Austin City Council.

4. The proposal asks for $1 million from T.I.F. What does this $1 million represent? Is that
the $1 million the city is currently spending on cupola and roof improvements and other
projects Or is the proposal based on an additional $1 million over and above that? It is
noted that if the City contributes dollars directly to the project, the entire project will have to
comply with the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act.

The City had envisioned contributing a total of $2 million dollars toward this project, having already
committed approximately $1 million on cupola and roof improvements and other projects.

Our proposal request was to receive the balance of the remaining million the City has not yet spent,
which represents 10% of the estimated budget to properly restore the Old Courthouse.

Regardless of any City contribution, we would comply with the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, as well as
the provisions of the Davis-Bacon Act for construction work executed on federal facilities.

5. Has the project team had any contact with IHDA regarding LIHTC or HOME? Is it realistic
that the IDHA will even allocate tax credits totaling $2.4 million for three low income
units in this project?

We have had some contact with IHDA, even though LIHTC and HOME are Federal Programs with
specifically allocated time lines.

While there are a number of variable factors that come into play, and to which can be appealed,
with proper and timely presentation there is a possibility IHDA would allocate tax credits.



Generally, larger projects have the greatest probability of success in gaining approval, but that
would not inhibit a robust strategy of presentation and request.

In the event LIHTC were not obtained, the difference would be provided through developer
provided funds.

6. Is the project viable without the LIHTC? Is low income housing negotiable? Could the
project succeed with market rate units instead?

Yes, the project is viable without LIHTC, and market rate units instead.

Absolutely, low income housing is negotiable. We included it as a possible financial-leverage
providing option. Also realizing that government entities often prefer incorporation of a low
income housing component in redevelopments.

Frankly market-rate units are generally preferred in properties having the history and quality of
the Woodstock Old Courthouse. We would not be at all discouraged if LIHTC were removed from
the concept. What may be gained with the leverage is also counter-balanced through additional
restrictions and extended time lines.

7. The IHDA approval process takes considerable time. At what point will the development
team know that the pieces have all fallen into place? Can the LIHTC allocation be applied
for and approved if the City retains actual ownership until all approvals are in place?
Could you clarify the timeline? Put another way, page 35 of the proposal says “one year to
apply and receive state allocation/six months to close.” Does this mean 18 months from the date
negotiations are completed until Williamson County takes title to the property, during which time
the City of Woodstock continues to maintain the properties? The schedule on page 36 shows the
City transferring title in 2014 with construction beginning by mid-2015.

As you correctly point out, the LIHTC approval process is lengthy. For that reason, likely the best
strategy is to cooperatively pursue alternative (with and without LIHTC) approaches from the
outset, making necessary adjustments as we proceed.

Once the City transfers title to the property, the City would no longer be responsible for
maintenance or any other expense, unless there was a need for us to agree otherwise. There
would be no need to delay closing for LIHTC or any other foreseeable reason. Once ownership is
transferred, we will immediately begin the paperwork and the physical work.

Our proposal presented worst case scenario time lines. In practice, we would immediately begin
the process and coordinate interior winter projects during the winter -- exterior construction in
summer. If LIHTC were removed from the plan, construction could begin in 2014, because we are
past the 2014 application deadline for LIHTC. The time line would then accelerate significantly, as
the HTC process is reasonably quick compared to LIHTC.

Some preliminary applications would occur first, to establish our tax credit requests, plans and
permits.

Our goal would be to begin some work immediately after closing, planning for the major rehab at
the appropriate juncture, be it with only HTC or with LIHTC integrated as well.



8. The proposal eliminates the LaPetite Restaurant in the Sheriff’s House. This is a
destination restaurant, drawing visitors from out of town. Could the residential
component of the project be reconfigured to maintain this restaurant?

Our proposal actually had no preference or intention of eliminating LaPetite Restaurant in
the Sheriff’s House. The lease provided us regarding LaPetite Restaurant, showed it to be
expired. We concluded erroneously the tenant was not planning to renew.

Without question, we would prefer LaPetite Restaurant to remain, Established with a
following, anchored to the area and history, their staying would clearly enhance
commercial use on the ground floor. We would fully intend to generate a long term lease
agreement with LaPetite immediately after closing, custom building to suit to their needs,
in addition to the historic restoration.

LaPetite Restaurant exemplifies what we feel is an essential ingredient to success.
Already rooted in the community, it IS a destination restaurant, with a proven community
following, attracting new and repeat visitors into the area. It perfectly demonstrates the
dynamic we wish to generate, attract and support in Woodstock's Old Courthouse.

Vigorous pre-leasing with a strategic tenant mix and building to suit are other key pieces.
In that spirit, we will gladly reconfigure any components proposed, to enhance the
property toward Woodstock's goal of a top-quality, high value restoration attraction.



9. The art academy and use of courtroom space concepts are vague. Do you plan to model
this after a similar project elsewhere?

Any vagueness in the art academy and courtroom space concepts are largely a function of the
preliminary nature of this stage of the proposal.

Although there are similar projects, in truth, projects creatively conceived and correctly executed
are ultimately unique in character -- precisely because they elegantly focus on the specific history
and character of the place, the property, the City and its residents.

This emphasis on the project's historical significance, resonance with Woodstock’s past, culture,
environment and setting, will be fully embellished under the leadership of our team
Archivist/Historian in the planning, design and execution stages of the project.

Because uniqueness is so important, we intend to do all possible to help ensure we fully glean and
accurately portray available artifacts, historical pieces and themes-of-place integrated into the
design.

Input, anecdotes and narratives will be sought from the City and residents to enliven and
dramatize the Courthouse and its colorful history, while integrating maximum space and design
efficiency.

10. Will a local management company be used to monitor and maintain the property?

Yes, a local management company can best monitor and maintain the property, operating under our
direct oversight. All aspects of our operations focus on understanding, preserving and maintaining
local character and personality. Likewise, material and labor would be generated locally and
contribute toward the tax base.

11. The proposal does not address the front pavered patio. Will this area be available for
outside dining for the ground floor restaurant?

Absolutely, the front patio and the addition of the rear patio would be available and designated
for outside dining for the ground floor restaurant. This will provide an attractive enhancement
for the downtown destination and purpose.

We did not address this item specifically, although it is included in our proposed site plan.

12. The apartment design appears to eliminate several defining architectural features of the
building and appears to eliminate several load bearing walls. Our project architect has
identified very few walls that can be removed. These are shaded in pink on the attached
drawings. Can the project be successful if constrained by these load bearing walls?

Yes, the project can be successful “if constrained by these load bearing walls."

While there were mentions made of load bearing walls, actually neither the RFP nor any other
study we were provided, specifically defined or designated these walls.

The conceptual plans in our proposal were preliminary concepts from which to fully develop a final
plan.

Be assured we will not under any circumstance eliminate any load bearing wall or defining
architectural features.

The project can be and will be contained within the load bearing walls.



13. The Gary W. Anderson Baseline Conditions Report describes necessary improvements for
future re-use. It also makes recommendations about restoring original finishes and
exposing original materials to make more interesting spaces, particularly on the ground
floor of the courthouse and in the jail of the sheriff’s house. Can you address your
intentions more specifically on as many of these as possible, and confirm that they are
factored into the cost estimates? (Note that several projects in the Gary W. Anderson report
have or will have been completed prior by the end of the year.)

 Elevator access to the Sheriff’s House
Factored into cost estimates, an elevator will be added in appropriate space within the Sheriff’s
house.

 Removal of paneling
Factored into cost estimates, work will be done as per the Gary W. Anderson report.

 Paint stripping of brick
Factored into cost estimates, work will be done as per the Gary W. Anderson report.

 Removal of acoustical tiles in the restaurant space in the courthouse
Factored into cost estimates, this would likely be one of the very first things to be resolved

 Exposure of brick walls in the Sheriff’s House jail
Factored into cost estimates and necessary for proper restoration

 Re-plastering ceilings in jail
Factored into cost estimates and necessary for proper restoration

 Installation of new downspouts
Factored into cost estimates and necessary for proper restoration

 Restoration of original pediments
Factored into cost estimates and necessary for proper restoration

 Decorative trim on courthouse
Factored into cost estimates and necessary for proper restoration

 Restoration of metal cornice on Sheriff’s House
Factored into cost estimates and necessary for proper restoration

 Restoration of entrances to basement and front of Sheriff’s House
Factored into cost estimates and necessary for proper restoration

 Repainting of both structures
Factored into cost estimates and necessary for proper restoration

All work mentioned in the Gary W. Anderson report will be repaired, in addition to items the
report was unable to address properly without further investigation. We will go through the
property and restore all details bringing the buildings back to life -- nothing less than full Opera
House quality.



14. The proposal presents general design concepts and it is not possible to determine if cost
estimates address building code concerns such as:

 An elevator is shown in the exit stairwell on the west side of the Courthouse. Does the project
budget include a second means of direct egress from the courthouse and a second means of
direct egress from the sheriff’s house, as required by code?
Yes all cost estimates are factored in based on experience with historic property and all of typical
hidden surprises normally associated. All code requirements including but not limited to ADA,
Electrical, Plumbing, HVAC, Fire and Safety would be addressed, reviewed and approved prior to
permits being issued by the City.

 Is a fire suppression system included in the budget throughout both buildings?
Yes.  All code requirements will be addressed prior to permits being issued by the City.

 Is the proposed elevator intended to serve both buildings? (Floors are at different heights and
passageways between the two buildings include stairs.)
There will be an elevator in each building as required. Proposed drawings are strictly a
suggested starting point, all matters will be individually looked at and resolved prior to the
City issuing permits. These all will be under strict scrutiny and approval by Local, State and
Federal agencies, especially when Federal Tax Credits are requested. Attention will be given
to all details with NO shortcuts.

15. It is noted that drawings included in the proposal show large expanses that are
unsupported due to removal of structural support below. There are inconsistencies
between the pass-thru design portrayed on pages 25 and 27. (The City did not intend to ask
for the removal of the full height addition at the north end of the Old Courthouse. This was
constructed in 1904 and should be retained.) The center hallway in the courthouse is also not
consistent from the first floor to the second floor. Please clarify.

There appear to be inconsistencies because the proposal presents some visual concepts or options
based on what appeared to be original photos, two separate buildings which appear to later connect
and finally the unsightly room addition in the front. The City will review and approve all concepts
and drawings in advance. The drawings present some options, a starting point for your
consideration and to stimulate dialogue prior to final drawings and permits being executed.

16. The other proposal received for this property is limited only to the Sheriff’s House and
Jail. The proposal retains and enhances the existing restaurant space. Would you be
interested in acquiring and redeveloping the courthouse as a stand-alone project if the
Sheriff’s House was sold to another party?

Our proposal intent is to retain and enhance the existing restaurant space as well as the Old
Courthouse, there is no need to separate them. We believe they enhance each other and should
remain together. We believe that with City input, we can enhance the entire project, maintain
character and fully develop The Old McHenry County Courthouse and Sheriff’s House into a
destination space. The history of The Old McHenry County Courthouse and Sheriff’s House was as
one unit and would best be served if maintained as one unit.

As noted throughout our proposal, our approach is to create a cohesive, integrated, highly functional
and appealing destination attraction with great integrity of place. Our team prides ourselves on
great creativity, motivation and dedication to develop a property into its highest best while
respecting its history and character.



Page 1 of 3 
 

City of Woodstock – RFP dated January 15, 2014  
Response to Question & Answer Request 
June 2014 
 
 
Hello Review Committee!   Thank you for consideration of our proposal.   We share with you the desire 
to see the historic Sheriffs House honored and beautified and we understand your careful consideration 
of any proposal including ours.   The following are answers to your specific questions: 
  

1. Have you contacted the Illinois Historic Preservation Agency…? 

No.   Consultation with our tax advisor (CJBS, LLC., Deerfield IL) suggested this was not necessary 
for the time being.   From a funding perspective, we are not seeking or in need of capital. 
    

2. What is the long term commitment to the restaurant operation? 

Kathy Cappas will remain at least two years if substantial improvements and capital investments 
are made with the aim to increase her profitability.  Two years is Kathy’s commitment to see a 
result.  
 
La Petite revenue has slowed and steps are needed.     John Busse advocates that this project 
will revitalize this location and that Kathy’s business will subsequently flourish.   Kathy is less 
certain but commits to two years.   Should Kathy leave for any reason, John remains committed 
to a fine-dining restaurant being a best use of this building. 
 
Lastly related to this, Kathy holds debt surrounding improvements that she has made into the 
building.  This is a sensitive issue but one that is also closely related to Kathy’s commitment.    
 

3. What is the long term commitment to the building? 

John Busse believes he can finance, plan and execute a lasting and substantial restoration and 
renovation that honors this building and helps Kathy.  This is John’s goal.   John will bond or 
escrow funds to satisfy the City that agreed work will be completed and that subsequent upkeep 
will occur.    It is agreed the City will have first-right on any offer to purchase this building.    The 
paramount concern is to honor the building.   If the City now or later proposes better 
ownership; John Busse will not unreasonably withhold this progress.    
 

4. The handicap ramp… Could the elevator be constructed in year one…? 

Yes, the elevator could be installed in year one.   This is not so much a cost consideration, as an 
elevator also provokes substantial fire code, building code, and possibly HPC considerations.     
Beyond cost, it is the time it adds and the Government compliance. 
    

5. The front patio stays? 

While Kathy stays, yes, the patio stays.   Should Kathy leave, purchase from Kathy will be 
pursued. 
  
 
 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 

6. The Gary W. Anderson report…. 

a. Will brick walls be exposed in the jail area?   

No.  Not in the existing jail area.  This area is currently plastered.   Proposed is that the 
existing wall plaster on the main and upper levels would either be repaired and 
restored, or, conserved as-is for the future by the install of stud (and insulated) walls in-
front of, thus covering and conserving, the existing plaster.    In either case, proposed is 
that original plaster not be removed. 
  

b. Re-plastering of the ceilings in the jail area? 

Limited repair (re-plastering) of selected areas appears unavoidable and will be done.    
 
As for the plaster ceilings in the entirety; proposed is that the existing ceiling plaster on 
the main and upper levels would either be 1) fully repaired and restored or 2) conserved 
as-is for the future by the install of a suspended ceiling that would cover and conserve 
the existing ceiling plaster.  In either case, the original plaster would not be removed. 

    
c. Installation of new downspouts? 

Yes.   Proposed is that period appropriate metal downspouts will be installed. 
 
d. Rehabilitation of entrances to the basement on the front? 

Yes.   Proposed is that the front basement entry steps, doors, and its glass vestibule will 
be dismantled and rebuilt.    Awnings are worthy of discussion for this area. 
  

e. Repainting of all exterior trim details? 

Yes.   Proposed is a period appropriate and HPC negotiated paint scheme applied to all 
surfaces following proper surface preparation.  
 

7. Will the exposed brick and stone in the basement be retained as GWA recommends? 

Yes.   The basement stone (below) and brick (above) walls will remain.  Proposed is to sandblast 
the wall’s lower stone portion to restore its beauty.  The upper brick portion can remain as-is in 
the basement rear area (although the County Health Department may require a stud wall near 
the restaurant coolers).   In the basement front area, the brick portion is more problematic.  
Many bricks are missing or completely deteriorated.    Professionals from several trades have 
looked at this situation.  Currently, the best advice is to find matching old bricks and re-brick the 
walls in the basement front where necessary. 
  

8. The upstairs restaurant walk-in coolers are causing mold issues? 

Proposed is the prompt relocation of these coolers to the basement level.   At that time, a 
qualified professional will be brought-in to correctly position, install, and vent the condensing 
equipment.  The current mold issue occurs on the ceiling below the coolers because that surface 
temperature is different forming condensate.  This issue will cease once the coolers are located 
on the basement floor where the earth will eliminate this temperature break problem. 

  



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
9. Is parking a deal breaker? 

A side entry with a valet stand is our proposed solution to improve tight parking.   If the City has 
other alternatives, we would listen.    Parking is a major obstacle to improving business for 
Kathy.   Overall, yes, parking improvement is required.   The valet was our best solution.  
   

10. The proposal allots time to “seek subsidies”? 

Private funding is available and subsidies are not anticipated or required.   This time was allotted 
in our proposal so that available credits could be investigated.    

 
In closing, we wish to clarify that if this proposal moves forward, we expect and look forward to working 
closely with the City to forge agreements on nearly every aspect of proposed changes to this historic 
building.  Specifically, we desire to agree on items such as the front steps, the patio fence, the soffits, 
the rear loading dock, the passageways, the staircases, the flooring, the ceilings, etc.    In this work, we 
hope to become partners.  
 
        

Sincerely,  

 
Kathy Cappas & John Busse 



 

 

MINUTES 

CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

Old Courthouse RFP Review Committee 

May 14, 2014 

 

The special meeting of the Old Courthouse RFP Review Committee of the City of 

Woodstock was called to order at 9:00AM on Wednesday, May 14, 2014, by Chairperson 

Maureen Larson in the Council Chambers at Woodstock City Hall, 121 West Calhoun, 

Woodstock, Illinois.   A roll call was taken by Chief Deputy Clerk Cindy Smiley. 

 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:   Arlene Lynes, Jack Porter, Allen Stebbins, RB 

Thompson, and Maureen Larson. 

 

COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT: None  

 

STAFF PRESENT:  Cort Carlson, Director of Community and Economic Development; 

Nancy Baker, City Planner; Donovan Day, Assistant to the Director of Community and 

Economic Development; and Chief Deputy Clerk Cindy Smiley. 

 

Chairperson Larson passed out a more specific agenda to guide the discussion.  She noted 

that while the Committee might come to a consensus concerning the submitted proposals, 

that is not necessarily the sole purpose of this meeting.  The purpose of today’s meeting is 

more to get the Committee members’ input and perspective and to see how each views the 

proposals.  This meeting is more about the discussion and opinions than having everyone in 

total agreement. 

 

M. Larson stated she would like to go through the criteria and see the Committee members’ 

reaction and the Minutes will serve as a comment list when the meeting is completed.  She 

noted that C. Carlson will make a list of questions for the applicants as they arise enabling 

staff to contact the applicants to get answers.  Chairwoman Larson also passed out a 

spreadsheet of the criteria for use in the review and discussion.  She noted that she and 

Councilman Thompson will share their thoughts with the City Council and that the rest of the 

Committee is certainly free to attend the Council’s discussion, which probably will be held 

the 2nd meeting in July.   

 

In response to a question from RB Thompson, M. Larson stated that while there will not be a 

vote up or down on the two proposals, if there is a consensus, it will be shared with the City 

Council.  If there is not, each member’s feelings and comments will be shared with the 

Council.   

 

DISCUSSION OF PROPOSALS 

 

Williamson Proposal 

 

Quality of Information 

J. Porter questioned some of the financial components of the proposal wondering if the 

amount they indicated as income from the art space and the conference space was realistic.  

M. Larson agreed.  Mr. Porter noted that these revenues have been decreasing over the years 

for the facility while investors wish to see increases. 

 



 

 

Concerning the Quality of Information provided in this proposal, it was the feeling of the 

Commission that there were some gaps in financial information.  M. Larson noted that some 

of these questions can be asked and answered.  She also indicated that she wanted to make 

sure the figures were realistic and not guesses. 

 

Experiencing in Developing Projects 

M. Larson stated that it is interesting that this company is from Texas rather than nearby.  

She noted that she has been unable to find any project that they have completed outside of 

Texas and questioned their experience.  J. Porter noted that while the proposal is well 

presented concerning their background, it would be imperative to check references on past 

projects.  He also noted that a lot of firms who wish to grow seek projects outside of their 

area and is not concerned that they wish to move outside Texas. 

 

RB Thompson noted that the wording in the proposal left some wiggle room as to whether 

there would be adequate on-site management and wanted to make sure that it would not be 

managed remotely. 

 

In response to a question from the Committee, N. Baker stated that this firm is not on the 

City’s original list and may have found out about the project through the National Trust 

website. 

 

A. Stebbins stated that he was in agreement with J. Porter and that they have experience 

working on historic properties. 

 

A. Lynes stated that the fact that they were coming from Texas to Illinois was the only red 

flag she saw but that J. Porter’s explanation makes sense. 

 

Past Projects and Performance 

M. Larson noted that it seems from their presentation that they have only done smaller 

projects in the past.  A. Stebbins agreed that it looks like this will be their biggest project to 

date. 

 

A. Stebbins stated he does not have a problem with an out-of-state developer and that, in fact, 

he expected to see proposals from out of state.  Noting that Illinois is one of the few states 

that does not have a State Historic Tax Credit, it does not surprise him that we do not see 

Illinois developers applying as they are going after projects out of state that will qualify for a 

Tax Credit. 

 

M. Larson feels that based upon the information presented in the proposal, it is going to take 

some digging to flesh out the information but that they seem to have done historic work. 

 

Compatibility of proposal with City Goals 

M. Larson asked where the Committee members felt this proposal falls looking at it through 

the lens of the goals outlined in the original RFP. 

 

A. Lynes stated she was comfortable with the proposal but feels the bottom line is what are 

the City’s expectations financially.  She feels the question is “does the City want to turn the 

Old Courthouse over to someone and get it on the tax rolls or does the City hope to recoup 

some of the dollars that have been put into it”.  M. Larson stated that she feels that is 

something the full Council must discuss and consider when the issue is before them. 



 

 

 

RB Thompson stated that it is his wish to keep two restaurants in the facility.  He stated that 

he feels that should be taken into consideration in that if the Williamson County proposal is 

chosen that would mean a loss of the Creperie, which concerns him. 

 

A. Lynes stated that the City should look for the best use - an anchor that will draw people to 

the Square.  She did agree that the Square needs more restaurants with easy access.  She feels 

that the Creperie and the Public House have access issues due to their locations.  She stated 

she feels that this proposal is somewhat vague regarding the proposed commercial uses.   

 

Both J. Porter and A. Stebbins agreed that the commercial component is vague with Mr. 

Stebbins stating that he feels that the commercial component does not seem well-conceived 

with it being added merely to comply with the RFP.  He further stated, however, that he felt 

the City’s goals as stated in the RFP were vague and that “mixed use” was not sufficiently 

defined.   

 

All Commission members expressed concerns about the commercial component, particularly 

the restaurant. 

 

J. Porter stated that the City should not dictate a direction to the developer, but rather allow 

the developer to create his own vision because he is investing his capital.  Then City can 

agree or disagree with this vision.  Mr. Porter did feel that this proposal is creative because in 

order to make the whole project work, the developer needs funding from the federal 

government.  He stated the City should not dictate expectations as long as they are within the 

approved zoning usage. 

 

A. Stebbins stated that he does not feel that the City should dictate to the developer but that 

the RFP should have been clearer as to what the expectations are.  He questioned the low and 

moderate rental component asking if this is the highest and best use of the property.  The City 

should not dictate what the space should be but should articulate what the City’s needs are. 

 

M. Larson stated she understands Mr. Stebbins’s point of view but that the goal of the RFP 

was to make sure that the City was not excluding anything, to be open and broad about what 

could make the project work.  Then all facets would be taken into consideration and there 

would be a conversation about whether they fit with the City’s vision. 

 

J. Porter indicated that is biggest problem with the proposal is Page 37, which calls for the 

City to contribute half of what it has earmarked for the Old Courthouse project.  N. Baker 

indicated that staff is unclear about this also because the City has already put a significant 

amount of those earmarked funds into the building.  It is unclear whether the proposal means 

these funds or whether the developer expects the City to actually give them ½ of the 

earmarked funds as part of the “deal.”  J. Porter stated this is the biggest question and feels 

that the Committee and the City cannot go anywhere else until this is clarified. 

 

A. Lynes stated she is concerned that so much of their funding comes from tax credits and 

grants.  She is concerned that the project could get into late 2015 and these funds not come 

through with work then being stopped.  She expressed concerns that the City might then have 

turned away other potential investors in favor of such a proposal.  She does not want to see 

the project half-finished or to have it come back to the City.   

 



 

 

Discussion followed of how the low income tax credit works.  In response to a question from 

M. Larson, J. Porter stated that he does not feel the developer can say with any sense of 

certainty that these funds would be available or that he would receive them in 2015. 

 

In response from a comment from N. Baker that the City has seen tax credits used for such 

housing in the past, J. Porter indicated that those were projects that included many housing 

units rather than the two indicated in this proposal. 

 

A. Stebbins indicated that his assumption based on the proposal is that they have experience 

with this from their projects in Texas and that they have the relationships that assist them to 

get the funds for their projects.  He stated that this needs to be verified and questions asked 

about this component of the proposal. 

 

RB Thompson stated that he would like to see a hybrid of the two proposals. J. Porter stated 

that the reality is that we have two proposals, one for both buildings and one for only one of 

the buildings.  He further stated that the question is will this developer walk away if the City 

wishes to separate the buildings. 

 

A. Stebbins asked whether there could be any legal ramifications from separating the 

Sheriff’s House and the Courthouse, noting that this developer has fulfilled the request in the 

RFP. He further stated that he agrees that he likes parts of both proposals and that potentially 

dividing the buildings could result in a good development.  N. Baker responded that the RFP 

states that the City has the right to accept or reject all proposals. 

 

J. Porter stated that he feels from a design standpoint opening up the walkway opens the 

property up to being two different properties. 

 

A. Lynes asked if removing that walkway would affect any historic preservation designation.  

In response A. Stebbins indicated that because it is a National Historic Landmark strict 

guidelines could be applied which may impact the federal tax credits.    He further stated that 

this was also a concern for him, noting that this is part of the 1905 addition and the HPC has 

identified 1905 as the period of significance.  He noted that it is possible the HPC will not 

approve the change to that addition.   

 

A. Stebbins noted that a change in the proposal’s floor plans would change the square feet 

and wondered what that would do to the incentive figures provided.  He further noted that the 

modern addition should come down.  He detailed for the Commission what should stay and 

what should go, noting that this changes the square feet.  He did note that there could be a 

pathway, just not as wide as indicated. 

 

A. Lynes noted inconsistencies in the proposal when comparing page 25, which shows a 

connection between the two buildings, and page 27, which shows them completely 

disconnected.  She asked C. Carlson to ask the developer about this. 

 

Ability to Secure Funding/Relationship with Lenders 

In response to a question from M. Larson, J. Porter indicated he did not see any red flags and 

nothing is indicated based upon the past history provided but noted that this should be 

verified. 

 

 



 

 

Proposed Purchase Price 

J. Porter noted that the issue is the $2M not the $1 and again stated this must be clarified. 

 

Impact to Enhance Downtown Vitality 

M. Larson noted that this is a huge issue.  She asked the Committee members how they felt 

about the focus on residential assuming that a restaurant was located on the ground level. 

 

A. Lynes stated that she has no problems with it, noting that when she visits historic cities 

she sees residences above historic retail frequently.  The question, however, is whether this 

type of housing is what is desired or more upscale residential that would provide residents 

with high disposable incomes to patronize the businesses.   She questioned whether someone 

paying premium rent for a high-end unit would want to live in a building that also has low-

income units.  She also expressed the concern that a restaurant is very risky and may not 

appeal to the developer, while the City needs another destination restaurant.  She expressed 

this opinion that for her this proposal does not provide the anchor and the draw to the Square 

she was looking for. 

 

A. Stebbins agreed.  He does not feel that this is a 100% draw to the Square but noted that it 

would put the entire property into private ownership and return it to the property tax rolls.  In 

addition, he would assume that local tradespeople would be put to work on the project which 

is a plus and that some materials will be purchased locally.  Mr. Stebbins stated that he was 

disappointed that the proposal did not clearly address the commercial space as they did the 

residential usage.  He also feels that this proposal would remove an already existing vibrant 

downtown restaurant which is a draw to the Square and wondered if it could move into the 

ground floor of the Old Courthouse.  He feels that this proposal should be looked at as to its 

impact on the Square. 

 

RB Thompson noted that it is his opinion that vitality would come from a restaurant, not 

from residential.  He also feels that the proposal is vague as to the other commercial and 

artistic uses. 

 

RB Thompson and M. Larson also agreed that the usage for the old courtroom as detailed in 

the proposal is vague. 

 

J. Porter noted that it is not unusual to have commercial and residential units sharing such a 

development in order to maximize space and minimize vacancies.  He noted that the top 

space is passive with residential located on the first floor and the ground for to be used for 

commercial space, possibly a restaurant.  He noted that to have the entire building dedicated 

to commercial would not be good and probably would not work. 

 

M. Larson stated she is looking at it more as what would draw people to the Square and feels 

the third floor could get lost in the shuffle of this proposal.  She also questioned having the 

residential component sandwiched between the restaurant and the commercial spaces. 

 

A. Stebbins noted that there are already quite a bit of rental units above commercial space on 

the Square and questioned the vacancy rates of the residential units.  He questioned whether 

there was need for more rental housing on the Square. 

 

Noting that it would become a private space for the residents, A. Stebbins also expressed 

concern about losing the public patio space and  how that loos would affect the vitality of the 



 

 

Square.   He noted that this is one of the most charming features of the Square with people 

enjoying outdoor dining prior to going to the Opera House. 

 

Long Term Financial Return to Community/Overall Benefit to Community 

J. Porter noted that the long term financial return will be based on the success of the project 

but that the property will once again generate property taxes.  M. Larson stated that she can 

see this proposal as being successful it if would reach 100% of what is proposed but that the 

City must be realistic.  J. Porter stated that it is his opinion that the best proposal from a 

financial scenario would be to split the project in two. 

 

Improvements, e.g. pedestrian & handicap access 

M. Larson noted that if the projects were disconnected two elevators would be required or 

there would be no elevator in the Sheriff’s house. 

 

RB Thompson asked how users in the Sheriff’s House would use the elevator proposed to be 

located in the Old Courthouse even if a developer has both buildings.  A. Lynes agreed that 

this is an inconsistence and questioned accessibility.  N. Baker replied that only a certain 

percentage of the residential units would have to be accessible and that the entire  project 

would not have to provide elevator access and handicap accessibility.  She noted that there 

would have to be two access points for fire code. 

 

M. Larson stated that the elevator access and code issues should be clarified.  In response to a 

question from A. Stebbins, N. Baker stated that there may be some leeway regarding ADA 

compliance since this is a historic structure.  She noted, however, that the apartments would 

be a new usage and would employ tax credits would will probably trigger the need for ADA 

standards that they would not have had to comply with otherwise.  In response to further 

questioning from A. Stebbins concerning ADA code, N. Baker stated that the developer 

would have to meet national and state requirements.  She stated the City could impose 

additional requirements if desired.  N. Baker further stated that stair removal would be a fire 

safety issue and that the second exit cannot be removed from the backside of the Old 

Courthouse. 

 

A. Stebbins noted that the proposal does not address how they would follow local design 

guidelines for the Downtown Historic Area.  He wishes to make sure that the developer 

understands that they would be required to follow these guidelines and obtain a Certificate of 

Appropriateness which would be based on the guidelines. 

 

Discussion followed of some of the specifics of the proposal, including windows.  It was the 

feeling of the Committee that these items were presented in too general of a way.  A. 

Stebbins agreed that there was a lack of specificity but assumed that this would be worked 

out through the Historic Preservation Commission.  He noted that Council did ask the HPC to 

go through the Old Courthouse to identify certain features that are significant.  He stated that 

they did not go through the Sheriff’s house but are aware of significant features.  He does not 

feel that the Williamson proposal addresses any of these historically-significant features and 

what will happen to them.  He would like the developer to be asked about these features, 

specifically moldings, original wainscoting, transom windows, unusual barrel vaulting, jail 

cells, safes, and any items that may need to be replicated. 

 



 

 

N. Baker called the Committee’s attention to pages 22 and 23, stating that on page 23 certain 

walls have been reconfigured and noting that it is not structurally possible to reconfigure 

these walls. 

 

It was the consensus of the Committee that there are certain viability issues with this proposal 

and that more details and specifics must be obtained. 

 

Busse Proposal – Sheriff’s House 

In response to a request for the members’ general reaction, J. Porter stated that this proposal 

was not as complete as the Williamson Proposal.  He noted that the proposal does not 

adequately deal with the experience of the developer.  He further noted that this proposal 

looked at having a single user for only one of the buildings in question.  He noted that while 

this is a very basic proposal, the type of use proposed is great and would be a great draw for 

the Downtown. 

 

RB Thompson expressed concerned about the use of the jail in general for this project and 

feels that this particular proposal’s ideas for its use is very creative.  He opined that perhaps 

the Chamber could move into the building which would provide a natural draw for tourists.  

He also stated that he feels the idea of moving the stairwell is very creative but noted that a 

spiral staircase may be problematic.  He stated that he would like to see the building more 

accommodating for year-round use making it a bigger draw.  Mr. Thompson expressed 

concern about the proposed access ramp because Cass St. is so narrow. 

 

M. Larson stated that she felt the proposal presented some very creative ideas and that she 

liked the idea that someone local would be doing the project. 

 

Noting that there is only one investor in this project, M. Larson noted that this could be both 

a positive and a negative.  On the positive side, the developer does not depend upon tax 

credits.  On the other hand, it is a huge financial commitment for one investor.  She did say 

that she greatly appreciates a local business trying to strengthen its business and the 

downtown.   

 

A. Stebbins stated that overall he felt this was a very interesting and creative approach for the 

building presented by someone who has intimate knowledge of the property.  He also noted 

that it preserves a local business and gives it an opportunity to expand.  He expressed the 

following concerns:  If this proposal is chosen, he would hope the City would work very 

closely with the developer as they do not have experience working on a historic property with 

their primary building experience seeming to come from building a house.  Mr. Stebbins also 

noted that this developer lacked any knowledge of any types of credits or grants that might be 

available to them, noting that these could be used to their advantage.    While Mr. Stebbins 

stated he did not feel these were insurmountable, he feels the City and this developer would 

have to work very closely to make this proposal work. 

 

A. Lynes states she feels that this is a very creative proposal with great vision and would 

serve as an anchor for the downtown.  She further noted that the proposal shows an intimate 

knowledge of the community and likes that the developers are local because they understand 

the community.  She expressed concerns about traffic congestion on Cass Street and what 

this could mean for the Elks building should it be remodeled.  She also stated that she feels 

that an overall investment of $.5million is unrealistic and that the experience of building a 

home is very different than restoring a historic, commercial property.  She noted these were 



 

 

red flags for her.  In addition, Ms. Lynes stated she found the description of what the business 

owner owns and how it would be divided to be very confusing and expressed the opinion that 

she feels that much of what the business owner feels she owns actually belongs to the 

landlord. 

 

Ms. Lynes stated that her biggest red flag is found on page 45 where the developer states his 

wish that the City to agree to repurchase the property at the cost of documented 

improvements in the future if necessary. 

 

M. Larson stated it is her feeling that this proposal is presented by a hard-working, 

enthusiastic person, but she finds the financial part of the proposal difficult. 

 

A. Stebbins stated that this brings up a point that perhaps should be considered with any and 

all proposals – should the property no longer become viable what sort of recourse should or 

would the City have.  An example is the Woodstock Station project. 

 

A. Lynes stated that the City must look at the overall risk and how can it be limited. 

 

J. Porter indicated that it could be structured so that the City has right of first refusal.   

 

A. Lynes again expressed concerns about ownership of the fixtures, etc.  She stated that this 

would go back to the lease but that typically these belong to the landlord. 

 

In response to a question from M. Larson as to whether the numbers make sense, J. Porter 

noted that any investment is a risk.  He believes that the developer has the ability to take that 

risk. 

 

In response to a question from M. Larson as to whether the members see any additional red 

flags, J. Porter stated he feels there are many more questions that must be answered before a 

determination can be made.   

 

A. Stebbins noted that he likes the proposal but his optimism is on the low side.  He reiterated 

that, if accepted, the City would have to work closely with this developer concerning the 

procedures that must be followed.  In addition, he would expect the City to sit down with 

them to discuss tax credits, etc.  N. Baker indicated that they were already notified of the tax 

credits and given the necessary information and that they had sufficient time to pursue these 

but did not. 

 

A. Stebbins also noted that he did not see much in the proposal concerning the Design 

Guidelines which leads him to believe that they do not understand the Guidelines. 

 

Discussion followed of the restoration specifics of this proposal and how they would affect 

ADA compliance, tax credits, etc.  In response to a question from RB Thompson, A. Stebbins 

noted that there is no photographic evidence that the skirt wall ever existed which would be 

problematic.  It is his feeling that the developer found this in other period Sheriffs’ Houses. 

He noted that construction of this wall would preclude any tax credits, which could be used 

to provide for an elevator.     A. Stebbins also questioned the use of the ramp which would 

eliminate public right of way.  He also questioned whether this would be ADA compliant.  

Mr. Stebbins also expressed concern over their understanding of window and door 



 

 

restoration.  He again noted that these things are not insurmountable but that the City would 

have to work very closely with the developer. 

 

A. Stebbins also expressed concern over the removal of the wooden stair case.  He mentioned 

that perhaps a reconfiguration of the kitchen stairs would make more sense historically and 

that interior changes may jeopardize tax credits, which is why they have chosen not to use 

them. 

 

Discussion followed of tax credits and grants with it being noted that use of these financial 

tools would require a review of the projects adherence to certain standards and would 

preclude them from making certain changes to the building. 

 

M. Larson noted that what this proposal brings to the Square is a draw.  She stated that this is 

one of the restaurants that people will travel to and would be a draw to the Square.  It also 

recognizes Woodstock’s history.   

 

RB Thompson stated he feels it enhances Woodstock’s historic because people will actually 

see the jail and this proposal expands the interior. 

 

A. Lynes feels the proposal is naïve but also feels that it is a better proposal for the City of 

Woodstock and for Downtown vitality.  She stated that it contains more red flags and holes 

and more questions, but feels that it is better for the vitality of the Square. 

 

J. Porter stated that the issue remains that this proposal only deals with one building.  He too 

feels that it provides the best use and the best draw, but only uses one of the buildings.  He 

asked if the other interested party might work with this developer and the City of make it 

work for both buildings. 

 

M. Larson asked for the members’ views on the financial return to the community of this 

proposal.  She stated that it is her opinion that the two proposals are difficult to compare on 

this level. 

 

A. Stebbins stated that while this proposal is for only one of the buildings, it is putting that 

building back on the tax rolls.  He further noted that the project likely would use local 

workers generating jobs and source materials locally which are positives.  He stated that, of 

course, the City would have to separate the buildings and also wondered if the other 

developer would consider purchasing just the Old Courthouse. 

 

Discussion then centered around the 1904 and 1912 additions that connect the buildings with 

A. Stebbins providing historic information.  C. Carlson noted that the 1912 addition could 

come down to open up the area.  A. Stebbins noted that it should be determined whether this 

area can be used for the elevator.   

 

M. Larson asked that Staff provide Council with a floor plan showing what can be removed 

and what cannot so that it is obvious what must remain.  A. Stebbins reminded the 

Committee that the State Historic Preservation Office will have say in this matter if tax 

credits are used, with M. Larson noting there still will be certain requirements even if tax 

credits are not used. 

 



 

 

A. Lynes asked for more information on the proposed seating plan and whether the proposal 

would keep the patio open as this is a big draw for the restaurant.  She mentioned the earlier 

discussion in which it was opined that the public looks at this as public space, and indicated 

she would like to know their intent to keep it open to the public. 

 

 

SUMMARY 

 

M. Larson noted that one proposal is strong in a couple of areas  while the other is strong in 

other areas. 

 

She stated that the Williamson Proposal contains strong financial information and 

background information on the firm’s experience and ability work on historic buildings.  It 

gives a strong idea of the group’s proposed financing. 

 

The other proposal, M. Larson noted, is from a local applicant with strong knowledge of the 

community.  This proposal maintains a restaurant that is an asset to the community and works 

with the City to strengthen the building both for the community and for their own business. 

 

J. Porter stated that one proposal is from a “known,” with a strong use.  The other, he noted, 

is from an “unknown” which provides some interesting possibilities.  He stated that the 

biggest question is would this developer consider splitting the buildings and could this 

proposal work with just the Old Courthouse.  It is his opinion that this is an important 

question to ask. 

 

A. Lynes stated that in her opinion when looking at the proposals it comes down to numbers.  

In the Williamson Proposal, there are three apartments that are crucial to making the plan 

work.  She wonders whether the Sheriff’s House is crucial to making the Williamson 

Proposal work.  She also mentioned the importance of having two restaurants as part of this 

project with discussion following of this topic. 

 

J. Porter stated that there is always a concern that the Creperie may be unable to fill an 

expanded space and then not be able to achieve their return. 

 

A. Lynes and A. Stebbins both stressed the importance of checking references, particularly 

regarding experience and the ability to fund the project.   

 

A. Stebbins noted there is a lot of risk associated with both proposals and stated the question 

comes down to how much risk the City is willing to take on this project.  He also noted that 

the proposals should be looked at in relation to the City’s designation as a Distinctive 

Destination.  He stated that the question should be asked, “How does this proposal contribute 

to making the City a Distinctive Destination?” 

 

M. Larson noted that it is possible that more proposals will come in and that Staff will notify 

the members should this occur.  She further noted that, when complete, the minutes will be 

forwarded to each member for review.  She expressed her appreciation to each member for 

their input and expertise. 

 



 

 

M. Larson stated that Staff will contact the applicants to request answers to the questions that 

came up today.  She further stated that it is anticipated that this item will go to the City 

Council for their review and discussion at the 2nd meeting in July. 

 

A brief discussion followed of the process from this point forward and the value of having 

each applicant make a formal proposal before the City Council.  A. Stebbins felt that the 

applicants should be allowed to make presentations if they wish.  A. Lynes did not feel it was 

necessary to make presentations before both bodies, however.   

 

A. Stebbins requested to be notified when this will come before the City Council. 

 

ADJOURN 

 

Motion by J. Porter, second by A. Stebbins, to adjourn this Special Meeting of the Old 

Courthouse RFP Review Committee.  Ayes:  Lynes, Porter, Stebbins, Thompson, and 

Chairperson Larson.  Nays:  None.  Absentees:  None.  Abstentions:  none.  Motion Carried.  

Meeting adjourned 11:38AM. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Cindy Smiley 

Chief Deputy Clerk 


	July 15, 2014 City Council Agenda
	A. Floor Discussion
	1. Charter Presentation
	2. Swearing In Ceremony

	B. Minutes of Previous Meetings: June 17, 2014
	C. Warrants
	Warrant #3621 
	Warrant #3622
	Warrant #3623

	D. Minutes and Reports:
	Dept. of Community & Economic Development Report - May 2014
	Police Department Report - May 2014

	E. Manager's Report No.27
	1. Old Courthouse Change Order
	Doc.1

	2. Zoning Variation - 303 Pleasant
	Doc.2

	3. Local Debt Recovery Program
	Doc.3

	4. Agreement - Water Billing
	Doc.4

	5. Water and Sewer Modifications
	Doc.5

	6. Agreement- Wireless Alarms
	Doc.6

	7. Service Line Warranties Agreement
	8. 2014 Street Maintenance and Resurfacing

	DISCUSSION ITEMS:
	9. Old Courthouse RFP Review




